Dry milling characteristics and polyphenolic contents of adapted colored corn varieties and

polyphenol extraction by combining deep eutectic solvents and ultrasound

A Thesis presented to

the Faculty of the Graduate School at the

University of Missouri-Columbia

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the

Degree Master of Science

by

Ravinder Kumar

Dr. Pavel Somavat, Thesis Supervisor

July 2023

© Copyright by Ravinder Kumar 2023

All Rights Reserved

The undersigned, appointed by the Dean of the Graduate School, have examined the thesis entitled

Dry milling characteristics and polyphenolic contents of adapted colored corn varieties

and polyphenol extraction by combining deep eutectic solvents and ultrasound

presented by Ravinder Kumar,

a candidate for the degree of Master of Science,

and hereby certify that, in their opinion, it is worthy of acceptance.

Dr. Pavel Somavat, Food Science; Chemical and Biomedical Engineering

Dr. Caixia Wan, Chemical and Biomedical Engineering

Dr. Sherry Flint-Garcia, USDA-ARS; Plant Science & Technology

Dr. Azlin Mustapha, Food Science

Dedication

I dedicate this thesis, which represents the culmination of my efforts during my master's degree, to the divine presence of God, who has served as a guiding light throughout my entire life.

Acknowledgments

During my post-graduation journey, I am immensely grateful to numerous individuals who have played significant roles, including my teachers, friends, and family. As an undergrad hailing from a rural background, embarking on a new adventure in a foreign land with a distinct culture, the entire experience has been nothing short of amazing.

First and foremost, I would like to express my heartfelt appreciation to Dr. Pavel Somavat for granting me this invaluable opportunity and for sharing his scientific knowledge and experiences, which proved crucial in overcoming the challenges I encountered. His insistence on delving deeper into every problem and understanding the underlying theories expanded my realm of thinking. With his unwavering positivity, infinite patience, and constructive guidance, both academically and personally, I found the support I needed to succeed.

I am indebted to Dr. Ellen (Caixia) Wan, a member of my committee, for her unwavering support, mentorship, and valuable contributions to my research. Her insights and encouragement have played a pivotal role in shaping the trajectory of my research work. I also extend my gratitude to Dr. Sherry Flint-Garcia, whose valuable input and support throughout the research process have been invaluable. Her extensive knowledge and expertise in the subject matter have greatly aided my development, and her critical evaluation has significantly enhanced the quality of my work. Last but not least, I would like to thank Dr. Azlin Mustapha for her guidance and encouragement, which has inspired me to pursue my academic interests and produce high-quality research. She always responded to my queries and questions in a prompt and kind manner.

Furthermore, I want to express my gratitude to Dr. Andrew Clarke, Dr. Bongkosh Vardhanabhuti, Dr. Lakshmikantha Channaiah, and Dr. Mengshi Lin for their kind words and assistance whenever needed.

I am also deeply appreciative of my friends and family, whose unwavering support, love, and encouragement have been constant sources of motivation throughout my academic journey. My mother, father and grandparents who encourage me daily, my friends in India and Columbia (Missouri) who were available whenever I needed them. Their presence has been instrumental in my accomplishments, and I am truly grateful for their presence in my life.

| Acknowled | lgements | 5 | ii |
|--------------|----------------|--|-----------------|
| Table of co | ontents | | iii |
| List of abb | reviation | ns | v |
| List of figu | res | | vi |
| List of tabl | les | | vii |
| Abstract | | | viii |
| Chapter 1 | Introd | uction | 1 |
| I | Referer | nces | 11 |
| Chapter 2 | Evalua | tion of dry milling characteristics and polyphenolic contents | |
| - | of four | teen conventionally bred colored corn varieties for value- | |
| | added | coproducts recovery | 15 |
| 2.1 | Introdu | ecion | 15 |
| 2.2 | Materia | als and methods | 19 |
| 2.2 | 221 | Lab scale 100 g dry milling procedure | 21 |
| | 2.2.1 2 2 2 | Polyphenol extraction from corn kernels and milling conroducts | $\frac{21}{22}$ |
| | 2.2.2 | Measurement of total monomeric anthocyanin concentration | $\frac{22}{22}$ |
| | 2.2.3 2.2.4 | Measurement of total condensed tanning | $\frac{22}{23}$ |
| | 2.2.+ | Measurement of total polyphenol content | $\frac{23}{24}$ |
| | 2.2.5 | Compositional analysis | $\frac{2+}{24}$ |
| | 2.2.0 | UDI C analysis | 24 24 |
| | 2.2.1 | 2271 Anthomain profile | 24 25 |
| | | 2.2.7.1 Anthocyalini profile | 25 |
| | | 2.2.7.2 Phenonics profile | 20 |
| | 228 | 2.2.7.5 Flavonoid profile | 27 |
| | 2.2.8 | Antioxidant assays | 28 |
| | | 2.2.8.1 Sample preparation | 28 |
| | | 2.2.8.2 DPPH scavenging assay | 29 |
| | | 2.2.8.3 ABTS scavenging assay | 29 |
| | | 2.2.8.4 Cupric ion reducing antioxidant capacity | 20 |
| | | (CUPRAC) assay | 29 |
| | • • • | 2.2.8.5 Reducing power (RP) assay | 30 |
| | 2.2.9 | Pericarp and aleurone histology | 30 |
| | 2.2.10 | Statistical analysis | 31 |
| 2.3 | Results | and Discussion | 31 |
| | 2.3.1 | Compositional analysis of corn varieties | 31 |
| | 2.3.2 | Dry milling characteristics | 33 |
| | 2.3.3 | Polyphenolic contents of whole corn kernels | 37 |
| | 2.3.4 | Total monomeric anthocyanin contents of milling coproducts | 38 |
| | 2.3.5 | Total phenolic content (TPC) of milling coproducts | 41 |
| | 2.3.6 | Condensed tannins (CT) content of milling coproducts | 43 |
| | 2.3.7 | HPLC analysis | 45 |
| | | 2.3.7.1 Anthocyanins evaluation using HPLC analysis | 45 |
| | | 2.3.7.2 Phenolics evaluation using HPLC analysis | 46 |
| | | 2.3.7.3 Flavonoids evaluation using HPLC analysis | 48 |
| | 2.3.8 | Antioxidant properties | 50 |

Table of contents

| | 2.3.9 | Histological analysis | 53 |
|-----------|----------|---|-----|
| 2.4 | | Conclusions | 57 |
| | Referen | ces | 59 |
| Chapter 3 | Ultraso | und-assisted extraction of polyphenols from purple corn | |
| | pericar | p in deep eutectic solvents | 65 |
| 3.1 | Introduc | ction | 65 |
| 3.2 | Materia | ls and methods | 70 |
| | 3.2.1 | Materials | 70 |
| | 3.2.2 | Preparation of DES | 71 |
| | 3.2.3 | Infrared spectrum measurement | 72 |
| | 3.2.4 | Solvatochromic parameters measurement | 72 |
| | 3.2.5 | Measurement of various physical properties | 73 |
| | 3.2.6 | Polyphenol extraction | 73 |
| | 3.2.7 | Total monomeric anthocyanin content | 74 |
| | 3.2.8 | Total condensed tannins | 74 |
| | 3.2.9 | Total flavonoids content | 75 |
| | 3.2.10 | HPLC analysis for anthocyanins, phenolic acids, and flavonoid | 75 |
| | | profile | |
| | 3.2.11 | Antioxidant activity measurement | 76 |
| | | 3.2.11.1 DPPH scavenging capacity | 76 |
| | | 3.2.11.2 ABTS scavenging capacity | 77 |
| | | 3.2.11.3 Cupric ion-reducing antioxidant capacity | |
| | | (CUPRAC) assay | 77 |
| | 3.2.12 | Statistical analysis | 77 |
| 3.3 | | Results and discussions | 78 |
| | 3.3.1 | Characterization of DES | 78 |
| | 3.3.2 | Total monomeric anthocyanin content | 84 |
| | 3.3.3 | Total Condensed tannins content | 87 |
| | 3.3.4 | Total flavonoids content | 87 |
| | 3.3.5 | Identification of anthocyanins, phenolics, and flavonoids | 88 |
| | 3.3.6 | Antioxidant activity of extracts | 93 |
| 3.4 | Conclus | sions | 94 |
| | Referen | ces | 96 |
| Chapter 4 | Conclu | sions and future recommendations | 102 |

List of abbreviations

LG: Large grits MG: Medium grits SG: Small grits G: Germ P: Pericarp F: Fines EtOH: Ethanol DES: Deep eutectic solvent ChCl: Choline chloride EE: Epicatechin equivalent **ACN:** Anthocyanins C3G: Cyanidin-3-glucoside GAE: Gallic acid equivalent CT: Condensed tannins TFC: Total flavonoids content TPC: Total phenolics content CE: Catechin equivalent TE: Trolox equivalent

List of figures

| Fig 2.1 | Visual comparison of kernels of different colored corn varieties evaluated in this study | 20 |
|----------|---|----|
| Fig 2.2 | Anthocyanins profile of selected corn varieties identified through HPLC analyses | 26 |
| Fig 2.3 | Flavonoids profile of selected corn varieties identified through HPLC analyses | 27 |
| Fig 2.4 | Phenolics profile of selected corn varieties identified through HPLC analyses | 28 |
| Fig 2.5 | Illustration of four regions (B1, S1, S2, and E) where the pericarp and aleurone thicknesses of kernels from six selected colored corn varieties were evaluated | 31 |
| Fig 2.6 | Identification and quantification of different anthocyanins present in colored corn varieties using HPLC | 46 |
| Fig 2.7 | Identification and quantification of different phenols present in colored corn varieties using HPLC | 47 |
| Fig 2.8 | Identification and quantification of different flavonoids present in colored corn varieties using HPLC | 48 |
| Fig 2.9 | Chromatographs with standard peaks and individual anthocyanins, flavonoids, and phenolics detected in maiz morado (MM) | 50 |
| Fig 2.10 | Comparisons of pericarp (A) and aleurone (B) thicknesses at four select locations S1 (side 1), S2 (side 2), B1 (back) and E (embryo) of kernels from six colored corn varieties | 55 |
| Fig 2.11 | Comparison of pericarp thickness in the five varieties with the highest pericarp anthocyanin concentration and a clear pericarp control (O128) | 56 |
| Fig 3.1 | Graph depicting transmittance for DES in FTIR | 80 |
| Fig 3.2 | Graph for viscosity of different DES at temperature ramp | 82 |

List of tables

| Table 2.1 | Compositional characteristics of different colored corn varieties (%, db) | 33 |
|-----------|--|----|
| Table 2.2 | Dry milling characteristics of processed corn varieties (yield %, db) | 36 |
| Table 2.3 | Quantification of anthocyanins, total phenols, and condensed tannins in whole kernels of colored corn varieties | 38 |
| Table 2.4 | Quantification of anthocyanins in dry milling coproducts from different colored corn varieties (g cyanidin 3-glucoside equivalent/kg coproduct) | 40 |
| Table 2.5 | Quantification of total polyphenols in dry milling coproducts from different colored corn varieties (g gallic acid equivalent/kg coproduct) | 42 |
| Table 2.6 | Quantification of condensed tannins in dry milling coproducts from different colored corn varieties (g epicatechin equivalent/kg coproduct) | 44 |
| Table 2.7 | Antioxidant activities of pericarp extract from selected corn varieties | 53 |
| Table 3.1 | Chemical composition and molar ratios of different DES combinations evaluated in this study | 72 |
| Table 3.2 | Physicochemical properties of various DES combinations | 83 |
| Table 3.3 | Total anthocyanin content (TA), Total condensed tannins (CT), Total flavonoids content (TFC), and corresponding antioxidants activities (DPPH, ABTS, and CUPRAC assays) of purple corn pericarp extracts recovered using different DES. | 86 |
| Table 3.4 | Anthocyanins quantification of pericarp extracts from various DES through HPLC analysis | 90 |
| Table 3.5 | Phenolics quantification of pericarp extracts from various DES combinations through HPLC analysis | 91 |
| Table 3.6 | Flavonoids quantification of pericarp extracts from various DES through HPLC analysis | 92 |

Dry milling characteristics and polyphenolic contents of adapted colored corn varieties and polyphenol extraction by combining deep eutectic solvents and ultrasound

Ravinder Kumar

Dr. Pavel Somavat, Thesis Supervisor

Abstract

Although conventional yellow dent corn (Zea mays L.) has been extensively grown and utilized in the US for food, feed, and numerous industrial applications, the degree of associated value-addition is rather modest. Colored corn varieties have recently drawn increased attention due to their relatively higher concentrations of diverse phytochemicals, such as anthocyanins, proanthocyanins, and flavonoids, which may be utilized for a variety of agro-industrial applications. Corn pericarp is a low value cellulosic coproduct of the processing industry. However, in case of colored corn varieties, most of the polyphenolic compounds such as anthocyanins, flavonoids, flavanols, tannins and phenolic acids are concentrated in corn pericarp which can be separated and selectively processed for their economic recovery. The corn endosperm, containing most of the kernel starch and proteins and of prime interest to the processing industry remains unaffected and can be utilized further. Due to the diverse applications of recovered value-added phytochemicals, colored corn varieties can supplement the lower economic value of yellow dent corn. However, polyphenol-rich colored corn varieties need to be adapted to the midwestern US climatic conditions for their economic exploitation.

In this study, dry milling characteristics and polyphenolic contents (anthocyanins, total phenols, and condensed tannins) of fourteen conventionally bred and midwestern US grown colored varieties developed by the USDA-ARS colored corn breeding program at the

viii

University of Missouri and their milling coproducts were ascertained and compared with a commercial purple corn. With mean large grits yield of 22.98% (db), colored varieties had a dominant softer endosperm composition and were found to be more suitable for wet milling and dry grind industry, processing most of the corn grown in the US. The mean starch content of colored varieties was lower than conventional yellow dent corn (~9.91%, db), and the mean protein content was higher (~1.70%, db). Although commercial purple corn contained the highest amounts, four experimental varieties were identified with high concentrations of polyphenols. Through HPLC analyses, a diverse mix of various anthocyanin forms, phenolic acids, and flavonoids were identified. The antioxidant potential of polyphenolic extracts from five selected varieties were evaluated using four different assays, and significant antioxidant activities were observed. Histological analysis was conducted on polyphenol-rich varieties, and most of the pigments were found to be concentrated in pericarp. The pericarp thickness was greatest for the variety containing the maximum polyphenolic compounds. Adapted colored corn varieties grown in the midwestern US can be valorized to recover value-added polyphenolic compounds in line with the circular bioeconomic paradigm.

Polyphenolic compounds can be extracted from plant matrices using a wide array of solvents. However, conventional extraction methods involve the use of organic solvents, which are of concern due to their adverse environmental impacts and generation of waste streams. Therefore, there is a growing demand for green solvents that are renewable, non-toxic, biodegradable, and economically viable. In second study, a combination of deep eutectic solvents (DESs) and ultrasound-assisted extraction were investigated for extracting anthocyanins, condensed tannins, and flavonoids from purple corn pericarp. Initially,

ix

nineteen DESs with different constitutes were prepared and characterized. It was observed that the DESs formed strong intermolecular bonds, their viscosities ranging from 0.0209 to 0.7463 Pa.s at a constant temperature of 50 °C and shear rate of 10 s⁻¹. During NIR analysis, dominant stretching of O-H and C-H bonds was observed. The highest and lowest polarities ranged between 50.63 (DES 4) and 46.80 kcal.mol⁻¹ (DES 5), respectively, and all the solvent mixes were acidic in nature. In a comparatively shorter extraction time (10 min), significant amounts of anthocyanins (27.41 mg cyanidin-3-glucoside C3G equivalent/g pericarp), condensed tannins (249.33 mg epicatechin EE equivalent/g pericarp), and total flavonoids (36.87 mg catechin CE equivalent/g pericarp) were recovered. Ultrasoundassisted extraction in DESs was found to enhance the extraction efficiency compared to the conventional methods utilizing ethanol and water. This improved extraction efficiency could be attributed to a greater solvent penetration into the plant cell matrix. The highest CUPRAC antioxidant capacity of 392.27 mg Trolox equivalent (TE)/g of pericarp, DPPH free radical scavenging activity of 82.70 mg TE/g of pericarp, and ABTS activity of 34.87 mg TE/g of pericarp, respectively, were observed. C3G, delphinidin, cyanidin chloride, and peonidin as high as 20.56, 9.62, 11.91, and 2.90 mg/g of pericarp, respectively, were detected during anthocyanin profiling of the extracts. Phenolic acids profiling identified caffeic acid, ferulic acid, gallic acid, hesperidin, and chlorogenic acid, the highest values being 3.29, 1.72, 0.63, 15.18, and 5.23 mg/g pericarp, respectively. Finally, epicatechin, naringin and kaempferol concentrations of 102.73, 19.93, and 1.55 mg/g pericarp, respectively, were eluted during flavonoids profiling by HPLC. This work demonstrated a highly efficient and green extraction of bioactive compounds from colored corn pericarp by combing DESs and ultrasound.

Chapter 1

Introduction

Corn is the most important cereal crop grown in the US. According to the USDA NASS (2023), more than 92 million acres of farmland will be planted with corn. Corn processing is a major contributor to the economy due to its utilization in a number of industries, yielding hundreds of diverse products including ethanol for gasoline blending, distillers dried grains with solubles (DDGS) for animal feed, starch for food and industrial applications, grits and flour for human consumption, and corn germ oil. In 2022, 79.2 million acres of cultivable land was dedicated to corn with an estimated harvest of 173.3 bushels per acre. The US Department of Energy (2022) estimated that 15.07 billion bushels of corn was produced in 2022 and almost 5.33 billion bushels or 35.4% of the total was utilized by corn dry grind industry for producing fuel ethanol. According to the Renewable Fuels Association (2021), the US alone produced 55% of the world's fuel ethanol (15.01 billion gallons) in 2021 followed by Brazil accounting for another 27% (7.32 billion gallons) while the European Union contributed about 5% to the total (1.35 billion gallons).

Almost all the corn-based ethanol in the US is produced by the corn dry grind (~95%) and corn wet milling industry. The corn dry grind industry requires relatively lower investment compared to the more sophisticated wet milling industry and is optimized for ethanol production. In addition to ethanol, the dry grind industry generates relatively lower value byproducts such as DDGS, corn germ oil and CO₂. On the contrary, the corn wet milling process involves complex chemical fractionation of corn kernels into relatively pure starch, protein, germ and fiber fractions (Somavat, 2017). Depending upon the market situation, purified coproducts can be used to produce hundreds of industrially valuable products. When

the ethanol prices are higher, purified starch from the wet milling industry can be fermented to produce ethanol. Due to the abovementioned mentioned reasons, although the corn dry grind process is preferred for ethanol production, the byproducts other than ethanol have relatively lower economic values. Despite several research endeavors to generate valueadded byproducts from corn dry grind industry, none have resulted in economically viable products. Therefore, there is a longstanding need for value-addition when it comes to the corn processing industry.

The federal government incentivized the US farmers to grow more corn by enacting The Energy Independence and Security Act of 2007 wherein blending of 10% ethanol in gasoline was mandated by law. This not only reduced the overall gasoline demand but also replaced methyl *tert*-butyl ether (MTBE), a controversial fuel oxygenate (United States. Energy Policy Act, 2005). As a result, the net consumption of ethanol in the US increased from 1.65 billion gallons in 2000 to 14.59 billion gallons in the year 2019. However, at the peak of COVID-19 pandemic in 2020, the ethanol demand came down to 12.68 billion gallons which had subsequently rebounded back to 13.99 billion gallons in 2021 as the pandemic ebbed (U.S. Energy Information Administration, 2022). However, the corn ethanol industry has faced an increased scrutiny in recent times on account of its detrimental environmental effects and due to increased adoption of hybrid electric vehicles (HEVs) and electric vehicles (EVs). Currently, the passenger vehicles account for 27% of the global gasoline consumption which is estimated to decrease with ever increasing number of EVs and HEVs. Manufacturers are working on building heavy trucks and semis with the capability to run on electric batteries and some of them have already started replacing gasoline fueled semis. Accelerating growth in the EVs and HEVs segment can be understood from the following report by the

Alternative Fuel Data Center (U.S Department of Energy, 2023) which identified an increase of E85 fuel stations in the US from 154 in the year 2001 to 4,426 stations in 2022, whereas, the number of electric charging stations increased from 486 in the year 1998 to a total of 53,492 in the year 2022. Similarly, the number of HEVs sold in 2000 was 9,350 which increased to 400,746 HEVs sold in 2019. Hence, with an increased adoption of electric vehicles, the overall demand for ethanol will progressively reduce, resulting in unforeseen challenges for the corn farmers as well as the processing industry.

Pigmented corns, also known as colored corns, are mutations that have purple, red, blue, or black pigments present in pericarp or aleurone layers. These colors are mainly due to the presence of secondary metabolites such as anthocyanins, tannins, phenolic acids and/or flavonoids. Colored corn varieties have been traditionally grown in the Andean region of South America and used for food and beverage applications, and coloration of traditional textiles. Scientific investigators have reported that these colors developed due to the accumulation of polyphenols in certain genotypes of corn at particular geographic locations, with additional effects of environmental factors such as temperature, altitude, and abiotic stress, along with minute effects of other factors such as germination conditions and cultivation practices (Colombo et al., 2021).

High concentrations of phytochemicals such as anthocyanins, phenolics, flavonoids and tannins have been reported in colored corn varieties. Many research groups have identified cyanidin-3-glucoside, cyanidin-3,5-diglucoside, pelargonidin-3-glucoside, cyanidin-3,6-malonylglucoside, peonidin-3-glucoside, delphinidin-3-glucoside, cyanidin-3-rutinoside, pelargonodin-3-glucoside, malvidin, quercetin, naringin, kaempferol, chlorogenic acid, caffeic acid, ferulic acid, p-coumaric acid, o-coumaric acid, hesperidin, and their derivatives

in various colored corn cultivars (Hu et al., 2020; Paulsmever et al., 2017; Žilić et al., 2012; Lao & Giusti, 2016). In addition, vanillic acid, syringic acid, various carotenoids (α , β , γ carotene, lutein) (Naqvi et al., 2009; Taleon et al., 2017), phytosterols such as stigmasterol, campesterol, sitosterol, and sitostanol (Giordano et al., 2016; Moreau et al., 2009), phospholipids such as phosphatidylinositol, phosphatidylcholine, and phosphatidylglycerol (Harrabi et al., 2010), and policosanols (dotriacontanol C32, triacontanol C30, and tetracosanol C24) (Harrabi et al., 2009) have been detected in colored corn varieties in varying amounts. Phenolics include compounds having an aromatic ring with one or more hydroxyl substituents and are present naturally in plants. There are more than 8000 phenolic compounds whose structures have been described in literature. Phenolics are considered as secondary plant metabolites and play an important role in the survival of plants. However, they do not directly help the plants in photosynthesis or with their respiratory mechanisms. These are classified in three major groups, namely, flavonoids, terpenoids, and nitrogen or sulfur containing alkaloids. Further classification of flavonoids is based on their structure which is made up of two aromatic rings (termed A and B rings) which in turn are attached by a bridge of three carbons forming a heterocyclic ring (termed as C rings). Based on different configurations, flavonoids are classified as flavanols (kaempferol, myricetin, quercetin, isorhamnetin, rutin), flavones (luteonin, apigenin), flavanones (eriodictyol, hesperidin, naringenin), flavanols (catechin, epicatechin, epigallocatechin, epigallocatechingallate, epigallocatechin gallate, gallocatechin, theaflavin, theaflavin gallate), isoflavones, flavanonols, and anthocyanidins (cyanidin, delphinidin, malvidin, pelargonidin, peonidin, petunidin) (Vuolo et al., 2019). Among these phytochemicals, anthocyanins are drawing an increased attention of the scientific community due to their purported health benefits, and are mainly responsible for the purple, red, blue, and black coloration of plant matter. Colored corn varieties are rich sources of anthocyanins with purple corn reportedly containing many folds higher anthocyanins compared to the blue and red corn varieties (Li et al., 2017). Because of their significant antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, anticarcinogenic and antimicrobial properties, colored corn phytochemicals are increasingly seen as value-added ingredients and finding interesting applications such as natural food colorants, cosmeceuticals, and pharmaceuticals (González-Manzano et al., 2008a; Pedreschi & Cisneros-Zevallos, 2007; Somavat et al., 2016; Sosulski et al., 1982). Antimicrobial capacity of colored corn phytochemical extracts on Salmonella enteritidis, Staphylococcus aureus, and Candida albicans was evaluated by Zhao et al. (2009), whereas Ranilla et al. (2017) studied their inhibitory effects on Lactobacillus helveticus, Bifidobacterium longum and *Helicobacter pylori*. The authors of the first study reported positive inhibitory effects on S. enteritidis, S. aureus, and C. albicans but no such effects were reported in the second study. Corn silk extract was evaluated against Aspergillus niger and Aspergillus brasiliensis in another study and was found to be effective in inhibiting growth of these microorganisms along with demonstrating nitric oxide inhibition and amylase inhibition activity (Abirami et al., 2021). These studies demonstrated the potential of corn phenolics for inhibiting unwanted microbial growth.

Colored corn extracts have been extensively tested for their antioxidant properties using various assays whether it be a free radical scavenging assay, or evaluation of their metal chelating activities. Žilić et al. (2012) evaluated colored corns and reported DPPH and ABTS radical scavenging activities in their kernels. Black sweet corn's oxygen radical scavenging capacity (ORAC) and cellular antioxidant bioactivity (CAA) was tracked along the

development of kernels from day 0 to day 35 and the activity was reported to be increasing along the kernel growth (Hu et al., 2020). Boateng et al. (2023) compared DPPH, ABTS and cupric ion reducing antioxidant capacity (CUPRAC) of purple corn pericarp extract and reported significantly higher antioxidant activities in extracts recovered using ultrasonic and microwave-assisted extractions. Corn silks also demonstrated IC₅₀ values in DPPH radical scavenging assays and the effects were found to be comparable to many well-known herbs such as Ginkgo biloba, Thymus serpyllum, Melissa officinalis and Salvia officinalis. Corn cob extracts showed significant DPPH radical scavenging activity when tested against similar concentrations of α -tocopherol and even higher ability to reduce Fe³⁺ to Fe²⁺ when tested against ascorbic acid as positive control (Zilic et al., 2016). Ranilla et al., (2019) evaluated Peruvian colored corns and identified their functional properties in obesity prevention and hyperglycemia. Ferron et al. (2020) evaluated a purple corn variety called moradyn and reported it to be a suitable food for people with the risk of type 2 diabetes. Purple corn has been used for treating urinary infections, cystitis, weight loss and anti-obesity effects of purple corn silk have been reported in a recent study (Chaiittianan et al., 2017). In addition, colored corn polyphenols have been reported to have neuroprotective and antiproliferative effects, and express significant cardioprotective activity (Colombo et al., 2021). Therefore, colored corn polyphenols can be utilized in several agro-industrial applications. Many fruits, vegetables, flowers, and cereals contain varying amounts of anthocyanin pigments. However, berries are known have their highest concentrations. Bilberry has been reported to contain cyanidin-3-glucoside, delphinidin-3-glucoside, peonidin-3-glucoside, petunidin-3-glucoside, malvidin-3-glucoside and other anthocyanin derivatives totaling 36.8 mg anthocyanins/g of material, blackberry contained cyanidin derivatives equivalent to 10.1

mg anthocyanins/g of extract. Blackcurrant sample had 21.2 mg anthocyanins/g of material containing cyanidin, delphinidin, petunidin and peonidin compounds whereas blueberry anthocyanins profile was made of cyanidin, delphinidin, peonidin, petunidin, malvidin and peonidin compounds totaling 10.3 mg anthocyanins/g of extract. Strawberries contained 50.7 mg of anthocyanins/g of material with cyanidin-3-glucoside and pelargonidin-3-glucoside being the most dominant forms (Tsuda, 2012). Some of the other sources include eggplant skin, elderberries, and red cabbages with approximate anthocyanin contents of 750.0 mg, 13.7 mg and 2.0 mg anthocyanins/g of material, respectively (Nurtiana, 2019; Somavat, 2017). In recent times, colored corn varieties have elicited increased attention due to their higher concentrations of anthocyanins (Ramos-Escudero et al., 2012; Yang et al., 2009), flavanol-anthocyanins (González-Manzano et al., 2008b), phenolic acids (Pedreschi & Cisneros-Zevallos, 2007), and flavanols (Sosulski et al., 1982). Purple corn, also called maiz morado, has been reported to contain ~5.0 g anthocyanins/kg of corn (Li et al., 2017, Yang et al., 2009). After micro image analysis of purple corn kernels, Li et al. (2017) identified that most of the anthocyanin pigments present in corn kernels were concentrated in corn pericarp, a low value cellulosic byproduct of the corn processing industry. Polyphenol-rich purple corn pericarp was recovered at the front end of the process and 26.8 mg anthocyanins/g of pericarp were quantified after multiple extractions (Li et al., 2017). In a recent study, Boateng et al. (2023) used ultrasonic-assisted extraction and quantified 34.9 mg anthocyanins/g of purple corn pericarp. Therefore, on account of their higher polyphenolic contents and due to the concentration of these compounds in pericarp, colored corn varieties present an exciting economic opportunity. Locally adapted colored corn varieties can be processed to recover polyphenol-rich pericarp at the front end and unaffected endosperm,

containing most of the kernel starch and proteins, can be utilized further by the corn processing industry. Value-added polyphenolic compounds with diverse agro-industrial applications can be selectively extracted from pericarp, yielding significant process economic advantages.

Another important area of related research involves identification of most efficient methods for the extraction of polyphenolic compounds from plant matrices. Traditionally, aqueous, or organic solvents have been extensively used in the industry for extracting polyphenolic compounds. Water is considered to be a nonrenewable source and replenishing water sources once depleted, is not possible except for natural changes. In addition, organic solvents such as ethanol, acetone, hexane, chloroform, and ethyl acetate are widely used in the industry. These solvents offer a wide range of polarities which comes handy in extracting a diverse variety of water soluble and non-soluble compounds. However, the large-scale use of organic solvents is a source of great concern. Organic chemicals pollute the environment when they are discarded after utilization and huge amounts of usable water is also wasted in extraction processes (Dai et al., 2013).

Therefore, there is a great interest in exploring environmentally friendly alternative extraction methods such as the use of ionic solvents, subcritical fluid extraction, and more recently in the application of solvent combinations known as deep eutectic solvents (DES) (Sahin, 2019). DES formulation is based on the concept of hydrogen bond formation between a hydrogen bond donor and a hydrogen bond acceptor molecule, together forming a eutectic mix with a lower melting point than the individual constituents. These solvents are generally made using different molar concentrations of salts and are liquid at room temperature. An interesting fact is that their formulation does not involve any defined method or constituents.

These solvents can be prepared using any kind of salts at varying ratios and can be used as per their suitability with the targeted matrices (El Achkar et al., 2021). DES were first studied by Abbott et al., (2001) and the authors reported preparing a eutectic mix using choline chloride and zinc chloride. Subsequently, several other researchers started studying DES and classified them into hydrophobic DES, hydrophilic DES, natural DES and others. DES are considered biodegradable, and possess characteristics of ideal solvents such as non-volatile, non-flammable, recyclable and reusable (Palos-Hernández et al., 2022). These solvents have been extensively used to extract phytochemicals from plant matrices and reported to be reusable after successful separation of compounds. Researchers have reported the use of DES to extract polyphenols from grapes skin, blueberries, jaboticaba pomace, mulberry, wine lees (Palos-Hernández et al., 2022), pigeon pea, green tea, sophora flower, marsh horsetail, tea leaves, and red sage (Ruesgas-Ramón et al., 2017). However, as per the best of our knowledge, none of the researchers have reported the use of DES for the extraction of polyphenols from purple corn pericarp.

Based on above discussion, this study was divided into two main objectives. The first objective involved evaluation of dry milling characteristics and polyphenolic contents (anthocyanins, total phenols, and condensed tannins) of fourteen conventionally bred and midwestern US grown colored varieties developed by the USDA-ARS colored corn breeding program at the University of Missouri and their milling coproducts. A commercially available purple corn variety was used as a control. The overarching aim was to identify whether some of the locally grown experimental varieties contained significant amounts of polyphenolic compounds and whether they could be successfully grown and commercially exploited for value-added phytochemical recovery in the midwestern US. In the second

objective, 16 different deep eutectic solvent combinations were formulated, characterized, and used in conjunction with ultrasound-assisted extraction technique for the recovery of anthocyanins, tannins, and flavonoids from purple corn pericarp. The main aim was to explore whether a combination of DES and ultrasound can be efficiently used to extract polyphenolic compounds from colored corn pericarp, at the same time, minimizing the detrimental environmental effects of the underlying extraction process.

References:

Abbott, A. P., Capper, G., Davies, D. L., Munro, H. L., Rasheed, R. K., & Tambyrajah, V. (2001). Preparation of novel, moisture-stable, lewis-acidic ionic liquids containing quaternary ammonium salts with functional side chains. *Chemical Communications*, *1*(19), 2010–2011. https://doi.org/10.1039/b106357j

Abirami, S., Priyalakshmi, M., Soundariya, A., Samrot, A. V., Saigeetha, S., Emilin, R. R., Dhiva, S., & Inbathamizh, L. (2021). Antimicrobial activity, antiproliferative activity, amylase inhibitory activity and phytochemical analysis of ethanol extract of corn (Zea mays L.) silk. *Current Research in Green and Sustainable Chemistry*, *4*, 100089.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CRGSC.2021.100089

Boateng, I. D., Kumar, R., Daubert, C. R., Flint-Garcia, S., Mustapha, A., Kuehnel, L., Agliata, J., Li, Q., Wan, C., & Somavat, P. (2023). Sonoprocessing improves phenolics profile, antioxidant capacity, structure, and product qualities of purple corn pericarp extract. *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, *95*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ultsonch.2023.106418</u>

Chaiittianan, R., Sutthanut, K., & Rattanathongkom, A. (2017). Purple corn silk: A potential anti-obesity agent with inhibition on adipogenesis and induction on lipolysis and apoptosis in adipocytes. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 201, 9–16.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JEP.2017.02.044

Colombo, R., Ferron, L., & Papetti, A. (2021). Colored Corn: An Up-Date on Metabolites Extraction, Health Implication, and Potential Use. *Molecules*, 26(1), 199. https://doi.org/10.3390/MOLECULES26010199

Dai, Y., Witkamp, G. J., Verpoorte, R., & Choi, Y. H. (2013). Natural deep eutectic solvents as a new extraction media for phenolic metabolites in carthamus tinctorius L. *Analytical Chemistry*, *85*(13), 6272–6278. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac400432p

El Achkar, T., Greige-Gerges, H., & Fourmentin, S. (2021). Basics and properties of deep eutectic solvents: a review. In *Environmental Chemistry Letters*, 19(4), 3397–3408. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10311-021-01225-8

Ferron, L., Colombo, R., Mannucci, B., & Papetti, A. (2020). A New Italian Purple Corn Variety (Moradyn) Byproduct Extract: Antiglycative and Hypoglycemic In Vitro Activities and Preliminary Bioaccessibility Studies. *Molecules*, 25(8), 1958. https://doi.org/10.3390/MOLECULES25081058

https://doi.org/10.3390/MOLECULES25081958

Gálvez Ranilla, L., Christopher, A., Sarkar, D., Shetty, K., Chirinos, R., & Campos, D. (2017). Phenolic Composition and Evaluation of the Antimicrobial Activity of Free and Bound Phenolic Fractions from a Peruvian Purple Corn (Zea mays L.) Accession. *Journal of Food Science*, 82(12), 2968–2976. https://doi.org/10.1111/1750-3841.13973

Giordano, D., Vanara, F., Reyneri, A., & Blandino, M. (2016). Effect of dry-heat treatments on the nutritional value of maize germ. *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*, *51*(11), 2468–2473. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijfs.13228

González-Manzano, S., Pérez-Alonso, J. J., Salinas-Moreno, Y., Mateus, N., Silva, A. M. S., de Freitas, V., & Santos-Buelga, C. (2008a). Flavanol–anthocyanin pigments in corn: NMR characterisation and presence in different purple corn varieties. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, *21*(7), 521–526. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JFCA.2008.05.009

González-Manzano, S., Pérez-Alonso, J. J., Salinas-Moreno, Y., Mateus, N., Silva, A. M. S., de Freitas, V., & Santos-Buelga, C. (2008b). Flavanol–anthocyanin pigments in corn: NMR

characterisation and presence in different purple corn varieties. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 21(7), 521–526. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JFCA.2008.05.009

Harrabi, S., Boukhchina, S., Kallel, H., & Mayer, P. M. (2010). Glycerophospholipid and triacylglycerol distribution in corn kernels (Zea mays L.). *Journal of Cereal Science*, *51*(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCS.2009.04.013

Harrabi, S., Boukhchina, S., Mayer, P. M., & Kallel, H. (2009). Policosanol distribution and accumulation in developing corn kernels. *Food Chemistry*, *115*(3), 918–923. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2008.12.098

Hu, X., Liu, J., Li, W., Wen, T., Li, T., Guo, X. B., & Liu, R. H. (2020). Anthocyanin accumulation, biosynthesis and antioxidant capacity of black sweet corn (Zea mays L.) during kernel development over two growing seasons. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 95, 103065. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcs.2020.103065

Lao, F., & Giusti, M. M. (2016). Quantification of Purple Corn (Zea mays L.) Anthocyanins Using Spectrophotometric and HPLC Approaches: Method Comparison and Correlation. *Food Analytical Methods*, 9(5), 1367–1380. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12161-015-0318-0

Li, Q., Somavat, P., Singh, V., Chatham, L., & Gonzalez de Mejia, E. (2017). A comparative study of anthocyanin distribution in purple and blue corn coproducts from three conventional fractionation processes. *Food Chemistry*, 231, 332–339.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2017.03.146

Moreau, R. A., Lampi, A. M., & Hicks, K. B. (2009). Fatty Acid, Phytosterol, and Polyamine Conjugate Profiles of Edible Oils Extracted from Corn Germ, Corn Fiber, and Corn Kernels. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society*, 86(12), 1209.

https://doi.org/10.1007/S11746-009-1456-6

Naqvi, S., Zhu, C., Farre, G., Ramessar, K., Bassie, L., Breitenbach, J., Conesa, D. P., Ros, G., Sandmann, G., Capell, T., & Christou, P. (2009). Transgenic multivitamin corn through biofortification of endosperm with three vitamins representing three distinct metabolic pathways. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *106*(19), 7762–7767. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.0901412106

Nurtiana, W. (2019). Anthocyanin as natural colorant: A review. *Food Science Tech Journal*, *1*(*1*), *1*-7.

Palos-Hernández, A., Gutiérrez Fernández, M. Y., Escuadra Burrieza, J., Pérez-Iglesias, J. L., & González-Paramás, A. M. (2022). Obtaining green extracts rich in phenolic compounds from underexploited food by-products using natural deep eutectic solvents. Opportunities and challenges. *Sustainable Chemistry and Pharmacy*, 29.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scp.2022.100773

Paulsmeyer, M., Chatham, L., Becker, T., West, M., West, L., & Juvik, J. (2017). Survey of Anthocyanin Composition and Concentration in Diverse Maize Germplasms. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 65(21), 4341–4350.

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.7b00771

Pedreschi, R., & Cisneros-Zevallos, L. (2007). Phenolic profiles of Andean purple corn (Zea mays L.). *Food Chemistry*, *100*(3), 956–963.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2005.11.004

Ramos-Escudero, F., Muñoz, A. M., Alvarado-Ortíz, C., Alvarado, Á., & Yáñez, J. A.

(2012). Purple Corn (Zea mays L.) Phenolic Compounds Profile and Its Assessment as an

Agent Against Oxidative Stress in Isolated Mouse Organs. Journal of Medicinal Food, 15(2),

206-215. https://doi.org/10.1089/JMF.2010.0342

Ranilla, L. G., Huamán-Alvino, C., Flores-Báez, O., Aquino-Méndez, E. M., Chirinos, R., Campos, D., Sevilla, R., Fuentealba, C., Pedreschi, R., Sarkar, D., & Shetty, K. (2019).

Evaluation of phenolic antioxidant-linked in vitro bioactivity of Peruvian corn (Zea mays L.) diversity targeting for potential management of hyperglycemia and obesity. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, *56*(6), 2909–2924. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13197-019-03748-z

Renewable fuels association (2021), *Annual ethanol production*. Retrieved on June 26, 2023, from https://ethanolrfa.org/markets-and-statistics/annual-ethanol-production.

Ruesgas-Ramón, M., Figueroa-Espinoza, M. C., & Durand, E. (2017). Application of Deep Eutectic Solvents (DES) for Phenolic Compounds Extraction: Overview, Challenges, and Opportunities. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 65(18), 3591–3601. https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.JAFC.7B01054

Şahin, S. (2019). Tailor-designed deep eutectic liquids as a sustainable extraction media: An alternative to ionic liquids. *Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis*, *174*, 324-329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpba.2019.05.059

Somavat, P. (2017). Evaluation and modification of processing techniques for recovery of anthocyanins from colored corn. https://hdl.handle.net/2142/97334

Somavat, P., Li, Q., de Mejia, E. G., Liu, W., & Singh, V. (2016). Coproduct yield comparisons of purple, blue and yellow dent corn for various milling processes. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 87, 266–272. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2016.04.062

Sosulski, F., Krygier, K., & Hogge, L. (1982). Composition of Phenolic Acids in Cereal and Potato Flours. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *30*(2), 337-340.

Taleon, V., Mugode, L., Cabrera-Soto, L., & Palacios-Rojas, N. (2017). Carotenoid retention in biofortified maize using different post-harvest storage and packaging methods. *Food Chemistry*, 232, 60–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2017.03.158

Tsuda, T. (2012). Dietary anthocyanin-rich plants: Biochemical basis and recent progress in health benefits studies. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*, *56*(1), 159–170. https://doi.org/10.1002/MNFR.201100526

United States department of Agriculture, (2023). *Corn and Soybean production*, National Agricultural Statistical Service. Retrieved June 26, 2023, from

https://www.nass.usda.gov/Newsroom/2023/01-12-2023

United States department of energy, (2022). *Energy efficiency and renewable energy*, Alternative fuels data center. Retrieved June 20, 2023, from https:// www. afdc.energy.gov United States. Energy Policy Act of (2005), 109–58. Retrieved June 25, 2023, from https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/PLAW-109publ58/pdf/PLAW-109publ58.pdf

Vuolo, M. M., Lima, V. S., & Maróstica Junior, M. R. (2019). Phenolic Compounds. In *Bioactive Compounds: Health Benefits and Potential Applications* (pp. 33–50). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-814774-0.00002-5

Yang, Z., Chen, Z., Yuan, S., Zhai, W., Piao, X., & Piao, X. (2009). Extraction and identification of anthocyanin from purple corn (Zea mays L.). *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*, *44*(12), 2485–2492. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2621.2009.02045.x

Zhao, X., Zhang, C., Guigas, C., Ma, Y., Corrales, M., Tauscher, B., & Hu, X. (2009). Composition, antimicrobial activity, and antiproliferative capacity of anthocyanin extracts of purple corn (Zea mays L.) from China. *European Food Research and Technology*, 228(5), 759–765. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00217-008-0987-7 Žilić, S., Serpen, A., Akillioğlu, G., Gökmen, V., & Vančetović, J. (2012). Phenolic compounds, carotenoids, anthocyanins, and antioxidant capacity of colored maize (Zea mays L.) kernels. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *60*(5), 1224–1231. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf204367z

Žilić, S., Janković, M., Basić, Z., Vančetović, J., & Maksimović, V. (2016). Antioxidant activity, phenolic profile, chlorophyll and mineral matter content of corn silk (Zea mays L): Comparison with medicinal herbs. *Journal of Cereal Science*, *69*, 363-370. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcs.2016.05.003

Chapter 2

Evaluation of dry milling characteristics and polyphenolic contents of fourteen conventionally bred colored corn varieties for value-added coproducts recovery

2.1 Introduction

Yellow dent corn (Zea mays L.) is a major cereal crop in the United States (US) and a vital contributor to the economy due to its utilization in several food/feed, biofuel, and biotechnology industries. In 2021, US corn farmers harvested 15.1 billion bushels of corn from 93 million acres of farmland with an average yield of 175.4 bushels per acre (USDA NASS, 2022). Out of the total, 5.1 billion bushels or approximately 30% of the harvested corn was converted to ethanol using the corn dry grind process contributing \$52.1 billion to the national Gross Domestic Product (Renewable Fuels Association, 2022). Ethanol, the prime product of dry grind process is utilized mainly for gasoline blending while other coproducts include dried distillers' grains with solubles (DDGS), corn germ oil and carbon dioxide. However, all these coproducts have a relatively lower economic value. Therefore, the overall process profitability depends solely on ethanol prices. They in turn depend on gasoline prices which have undergone dramatic swings in recent years. Significant research efforts have been directed towards identifying newer, value-added coproducts from the corn dry grind industry including bioactive protein hydrolysates from condensed corn distillers solubles (Sharma et al., 2021, 2020), protein and glycerol (Liu and Barrows, 2013), biodegradable plastics (Bothast and Schlicher, 2005), corn fiber oil (Moreau et al., 1996), furfural (Xiang and Runge, 2014), and biodegradable cat litter (Vaughn et al., 2011). However, none of these coproducts have achieved any commercial breakthroughs.

Over the years, federal policies have encouraged the US farmers to grow corn as they became eligible for government payments supporting or protecting their incomes. The driving force behind the enactment of The Energy Independence and Security Act of 2007 was energy security. Corn ethanol not only displaced 10% of the total gasoline demand, but it also acted as an environmentally friendly substitute to methyl *tert*-butyl ether (MTBE), a controversial fuel oxygenate. However, mainly due to the advances in fracking, the US field production of crude oil has increased from 1.85 billion barrels in 2007 to almost 4.48 billion barrels in 2019, making it the largest oil producing country in the world (Energy Information Administration, 2022). Although not bereft of controversy, several researchers have reported that many of the environmental justifications which initially prompted the Renewable Fuels Standard (RFS) to mandate the use of corn ethanol in the US are detrimental to the environment (Hill, 2022; Lark et al., 2022; Wardle, 2018). Of particular concern has been the *food-to-fuel cycle*, wherein extensive energy, and resources in the form of fuel to drive heavy agricultural machinery, which impacts soil characteristics and causes erosion, the use of nitrogenous fertilizers which pollute water, and the application of pesticides and weedicides that adversely affect the soil health, are used to grow corn to be eventually converted into fuel.

In addition, the industry is facing other emerging challenges. During the peak of the COVID-19 pandemic, the overall demand for ethanol in the year 2020/21 was significantly reduced, adversely affecting the corn prices and biofuel production profitability (Farm Bureau, 2020). The annual ethanol production in the US in 2020 was at a seven year low and almost 2 billion gallons less than the previous year (Renewable Fuels Association, 2022). Although gasoline demand and prices have recovered ever since, the industry is facing emerging challenges

mainly due to technological innovations associated with electric vehicles and battery technology. The passenger vehicle segment accounted for ~27% of the total gasoline consumption in 2016. Due to government incentives for all electric and plug-in hybrid vehicles, more and more electric vehicles will replace conventional cars/trucks in coming years and as a result, the global oil demand in the passenger vehicles segment will continue to decrease (Kah, 2018). It has been reported that already more than one million barrels of oil per day is displaced by electric vehicles of all types (BloombergNEF, 2022). Therefore, there is a longstanding need for diversification and value-addition when it comes to the US corn farming and its utilization by the processing industry.

The primary focus of US corn breeders and farmers has been on high yielding and higher starch containing yellow dent varieties and as a result the excellent commercial potential associated with colored corn varieties has been overlooked. Even though the starch content of colored corn varieties can be 8.6 to 6.7% less than the conventional yellow dent corn cultivars (Somavat et al., 2016), these varieties contain very high concentrations of diverse bioactive phytochemicals with potential industrial applications. Various researchers have reported that colored corn varieties are rich sources of anthocyanins (Ramos-Escudero et al., 2012; Yang et al., 2009), flavanol-anthocyanins (González-Manzano et al., 2008), phenolic acids (Pedreschi and Cisneros-Zevallos, 2007) and flavanols (Sosulski et al., 1982). Greater consumption of phytochemicals present in colored fruits and vegetables is often associated with potential health benefits in humans. The generally accepted *modus operandi* with respect to their intervention in human therapeutic targets is based on their free radical scavenging and antioxidant capabilities. In addition, polyphenolic compounds have been reported to be of help in preventing cardiovascular disease (Andriambeloson et al., 1998;

Folts, 1998), demonstrate anti-carcinogenic and tumor inhibiting properties (Hou, 2003; Meiers et al., 2001) and assist in fighting obesity, diabetes, and inflammation (Liu, 2004; Rossi et al., 2003; Tsuda et al., 2003).

In our earlier study, we found that purple corn contained ~5.0 g anthocyanins/kg of corn, and most of the anthocyanins and polyphenols were observed in corn pericarp, a low-value processing coproduct (Li et al., 2017). The corn milling process was adapted to recover the polyphenol-rich pericarp at the front end of the process, facilitating the economic recovery of these value-added compounds (Somavat, 2017). We studied the pest-deterrent properties of polyphenol-rich purple corn pericarp extract on tobacco hornworm (*Manduca sexta* L.) caterpillars. The insect food mixed with pericarp extract was found to have negatively affected the egg hatching rate and larval mass gain, and prolonged their developmental time (Tayal et al., 2020a). Furthermore, these adverse effects were found to be transgenerational, demonstrating the potential of polyphenol-rich purple corn pericarp as a natural pest deterrent in the organic crop sector (Tayal et al., 2020b). However, for their commercial exploitation, these colored varieties need to be adapted to local growing conditions. To this end, we are using conventional breeding practices for adapting some of the colored corn varieties to the midwestern growing conditions and evaluating them.

The aim of this study was to evaluate and identify the experimental colored corn varieties with higher polyphenolic contents and desired milling characteristics for subsequent conventional breeding cycles and their adaptation to the local growing conditions. As discussed at length, the conventional corn ethanol industry has failed to come up with any economically viable value-added coproducts and colored corn varieties have the potential to supplement the lower economic value associated with the conventional yellow dent corn. The

dry milling characteristics of fourteen conventionally bred and midwestern US colored corn varieties were evaluated and compared with a commercially available purple corn variety using a 100 g lab scale dry milling protocol. The phytochemical contents (total monomeric anthocyanins, total polyphenols, and condensed tannins) of whole corn kernels and six dry milling coproducts (pericarp, germ, large grits, medium grits, small grits, and fines) were quantified with an aim of ascertaining the polyphenol rich varieties, and for identifying specific coproducts with relatively higher concentrations of these compounds. In addition, HPLC analyses were performed to identify and quantify the individual anthocyanins, phenolics and flavonoids present in five selected corn varieties. The antioxidant properties of polyphenolic extracts from pericarp of five select corn varieties were evaluated using four different antioxidant assays. Finally, histological analysis was utilized to better understand the location of pigments and polyphenolic compounds in corn kernels from different colored varieties. The overarching aim was to identify the most promising experimental colored corn cultivars for subsequent conventional breeding and adaptation cycles.

2.2 Materials and methods

Conventionally bred experimental varieties were grown in 2020 and 2021 at Genetics Farm near Columbia, MO (Latitude 38.9517° N and Longitude 92.3341° W). The 14 experimental varieties included Apache purple (AP), Apache red (AR), Bloody butcher (BB), Hopi/Cherry pericarp (CR), Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Cordoba (HC), Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado from 2020 (HM20), Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado from 2021 (HM21), Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz negro (HN), Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Oaxaca 128 (HO), Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Sehsapsing (HS), Jimmy red (JR), Oaxaca 128 (O128), Purple butcher purple (PBP), and Purple butcher red (PBR). Grain samples were evaluated for their composition, dry milling characteristics and polyphenolic contents. A commercially available variety of purple corn called maiz morado (MM) bought from Woodland Foods (Waukegan, IL) was used as a control.

Broken corn and foreign material (BCFM) were removed by using a 12/64" sieve (4.8 mm) and cleaned kernels were stored at 4 °C until further analysis. Visual comparison of evaluated varieties is presented in Fig. 2.1. A Dickey-john GAC® 2500-UGMA (Dickeyjohn Corporation, Auburn, IL) grain moisture tester was used to measure the moisture of corn kernels which ranged from 6.17% to 12.36%. Unless otherwise stated, all the chemicals and standards used for the spectrophotometric, HPLC and antioxidant analyses were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). The deionized water (DO) used for the experiments was from Milli-Q H₂O purification system (Millipore[®], MA, USA) while the other reagents and solvents used were of analytical grade.



Fig. 2.1. Visual comparison of kernels of different colored corn varieties evaluated in this study

Note: AP: Apache purple, AR: Apache red, BB: Bloody butcher, CR: Hopi/Cherry pericarp, HC: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Cordoba, HM20: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado 2020, HM21: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado 2021, HN: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz negro, HO: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Oaxaca 128, HS: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Sehsapsing, JR: Jimmy red, MM: Maiz morado, O128: Oaxaca 128, PBP: Purple butcher purple, PBR: Purple butcher red

2.2.1 Lab scale 100 g dry milling procedure

A 100 g lab scale dry milling protocol was used for determining the milling characteristics of corn (Somavat et al., 2017). After determining the initial kernel moisture content, requisite amount of water required to raise the sample moisture content to 14% was added, and the kernels mixed with water were allowed to sit overnight in sealed plastic bags. After the samples had gained the required moisture overnight, they were further tempered to a processing moisture content of 23.5% in a custom-made tempering set-up containing 4 L plastic containers rotating horizontally at 0.5 rpm for 20 min. The tempered kernels were degermed using a custom-made small-scale drum degerminator. The degermed corn fractions were conditioned in an air oven at 49 °C for 1 h. After conditioning, a sub-sample for moisture measurement was taken and rest of material was passed through a 5-mesh sieve (4 mm opening) using a lab scale sieve sifter (Model: Table Top, Great Western Manufacturing, Leavenworth, KS) for 1 minute. Tails (+5 fraction, collected on top of the sieve) and throughs (-5 faction, that passed through the sieve) were separated and weighed. The tail fraction was poured in an aluminum pan for separating germ manually from the mixture of endosperm and pericarp fractions. The throughs (-5 fraction) were again passed through a 10mesh sieve (1.68 mm opening) for 1 minute using the sieve shaker. The +10 fraction or the tails were collected for aspiration and the throughs (-10 fraction) were further sifted using a 25-mesh screen (0.707 mm opening) for 1 minute. The tail fraction (+25) from this separation were termed small grits and weighed. After weighing, a moisture sub sample was taken and the same was done for the -25 fraction (throughs) called fines. The +5 fraction, after germ separation was passed with a slow and even flow through an aspirator (Model: 6DT4-1, Kice Metal Products, Wichita, KS) at 5 mm H₂O negative pressure. The pericarp

fraction in the upper vent was collected in a separate boat and the large grits were collected in a catch pan. The +10 fractions were also passed through the aspirator under same conditions and the collected pericarp fractions were added to the already separated pericarp. The endosperm fractions collected in the catch pan were labeled medium grits. Moisture subsamples were taken from large grits, medium grits, and pericarp after weighing them. The moisture sub-samples of all six coproducts were kept in an air oven at 135 °C for 2 h and then weighed to calculate the moisture content (Approved Method 44-19, American Association of Cereal Chemists International, 2010).

2.2.2 Polyphenol extraction from corn kernels and milling coproducts

Whole corn kernels and corn dry milling coproducts (large grits, medium grits, small grits, germ, pericarp, and fines) were ground using a coffee grinder (Hamilton Beach, VA) for 30 seconds and passed through a 35-mesh sieve (0.5 mm opening). Glass beakers (50 mL) were labelled, and 0.5 grams of ground samples that passed through 34-mesh sieve were suspended in 20 mL (40:1 liquid-to-solid ratio) of 2% aqueous formic acid for the first extraction and stirred at room temperature for 2 h. The suspension was filtered using a Whatman[®] #4 filter paper and the filtrate was used to measure total monomeric anthocyanins, condensed tannins, and total phenols. A second sequential extraction was done on residues of the first filtration collected from the top of the filter paper by suspending it in a 20 mL solution of 2% formic acid and 25% ethanol for the complete extraction of polyphenols.

2.2.3 Measurement of total monomeric anthocyanin concentration

A pH differential was used to measure the total monomeric anthocyanins (Lee et al., 2005). Briefly, 500 μ L of two buffer solutions (pH 1.0, 0.25 M KCl buffer and pH 4.5, 0.40 M sodium acetate buffer) were used to dilute 500 μ L of polyphenolic extract and 200 μ L of the diluted solution was picked thrice for each extract from first and second sequential extraction and transferred to 96-well plate. The absorbance was read at 520 and 700 nm using a Multiskan SkyHigh Microplate Spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, USA). The total monomeric anthocyanins concentration was calculated as g of cyanidin-3-glucoside (C3G) equivalents per kg coproduct using the formula given below:

Total monomeric anthocyanins = A * MW * D * 1000 / (E * PL * 0.45)

where: $A = [(A520 - A700) \text{ at pH } 1.0 - (A520 - A700) \text{ at pH } 4.5]; MW = 449.2 g/mol for C3G; D = dilution factor; PL = constant path length 1 cm; <math>\mathcal{E} = 26,900$ L/mol.cm, which is the molar extinction coefficient for C3G, 1000 as a conversion factor from grams to milligrams and 0.45 as the conversion factor from the established method to the plate reader method. Results were then expressed as g of cyanidin-3-glucoside (C3G) equivalents per kilogram of coproduct.

2.2.4 Measurement of total condensed tannins

Total condensed tannins were measured using an improved butanol-HCl assay (Shay et al., 2017). One mL of reagent 1 (51.5% acetone, 43% butanol, 5% 12N HCl & 0.5% H₂O) was added to 29 μ L of reagent 2 (2% NH₄Fe(SO₄)₂ in 2N HCl) and 78 μ L of epicatechin extract. This solution was vortexed for 5 seconds. One part of the solution was kept in dark at room temperature for 2 h and the other part was placed in a water bath at 70 °C for 2.5 h. Next, 200 μ L of samples were transferred to 96-well plates and absorbance was read at 550 nm using a Multiskan SkyHigh Microplate Spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, USA). Using a standard curve, the difference between the absorbance values of unheated and heated samples was used to express proanthocyanins content in g epicatechin equivalent (EE)/kg of coproduct using a standard curve.
2.2.5 Measurement of total polyphenol content

Folin-Ciocalteu's method adapted to a microassay described by Boateng & Yang (2021) was used to measure the total phenolic content (TPC). Briefly, 80 μ L of gallic acid standard or extracts were mixed with 400 μ L of Folin-Ciocalteu's reagent (10% v/v) in the dark. After 5 min, 320 μ L of Na₂CO₃ (75 mg/mL) was added and made to react for 30 min in the dark. Afterwards, the 200 μ L of solution was transferred to a 96-well plate in triplicates, and absorbance was read at 765 nm using a Multiskan SkyHigh Microplate Spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, USA). Total polyphenol content was expressed as g gallic acid equivalent (GAE)/kg of coproduct.

2.2.6 Compositional analysis

The crude protein content of corn kernels was analyzed using combustion analysis (LECO) Official Method 990.03 (Association of Official Analytical Chemists, 2005), crude fiber analysis was carried out using Official method 978.10 (Association of Official Analytical Chemists, 2005), crude fat content was measured following Official Method 920.39, (Association of Official Analytical Chemists, 2005), and starch content evaluation was performed using Sigma starch assay kit, Product code STA-20.

2.2.7 HPLC analysis

The HPLC analysis for anthocyanins, polyphenols, and flavonoids quantification was carried out using an Agilent 1200 series instrument coupled with a DAD and a C18 column (5 μ m, 250 mm × 4.6 mm, Avantor[®], USA). Ground whole kernels were passed through a US 35-mesh sieve (0.5 mm opening) and extracted using methanol acidified with 0.1% HCl with a solid to liquid ratio of 1:20. The extract mixture was centrifuged at 12,000 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C and filtered using a 0.22 μ m syringe filter for further analyses.

2.2.7.1 Anthocyanin profile

The polyphenolic extracts from corn varieties and standards were eluted using conditions described by Oh et al. (2008) with slight modifications. Mobile phase A (5% formic acid in water) and B (5% formic acid in acetonitrile) were run at a gradient of 5% B (5 min); 100% B (35 min); 100% B (40 min); 5% B (45 min) with a flow rate of 1 mL/min and column temperature of 35 °C. Different anthocyanins were baseline separated at a wavelength of 520 nm (Fig. 2.2) and the results were expressed in g/kg of whole kernel based on the standard curve for six compounds that were run as standards: cyanidin 3-glucoside chloride, delphinidin chloride, cyanidin chloride, peonidin chloride, malvidin chloride, pelargonidin chloride and with retention times of 3.40, 14.14, 16.10, 17.04, 17.39, and 17.71 min, respectively.



Fig. 2.2. Anthocyanins profile of selected corn varieties identified through HPLC analyses Note: (1) cyanidin-3-glucoside, (2) delphinidin, (3) cyanidin chloride, (4) peonidin, (5) malvidin, and (6) pelargonidin chloride HM20: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado 2020, HM21: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz

morado 2021, PBP: Purple butcher purple

2.2.7.2 Phenolics profile

The standards and extracts were eluted using conditions described by Kandil et al. (2012). Briefly, the mobile phases A (0.1% acetic acid in water) and B (0.1% acetic acid in methanol) were used as follows: 5% B (0 min); 20% B (15 min); 40% B (35 min); 65% B (42 min); 80% B (50 min); 5% B (52 min); and 5% B (60 min) with a flow rate of 1.0 mL/min and injection volume of 10 μ L at a column temperature of 25 °C. Wavelengths of 254, 280 and 360 nm were used and the compounds in various corn extracts were baseline separated as shown in Fig. 2.3. Results were expressed in g of compound per kg of whole corn kernel and were calculated based on the standard curve.



Fig. 2.3. Flavonoids profile of selected corn varieties identified through HPLC analyses Note: (1) epicatechin, (2) morin, (3) naringin, (4) quercetin, and (5) kaempferol HM20: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado 2020, HM21: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado 2021, PBP: Purple butcher purple

2.2.7.3 Flavonoid profile

The analysis for flavonoids quantification was performed using method described by Das and Singh (2016). Sample injection volume of 20 μ L with a flow rate of 1 mL/min was used, while the column was at a temperature of 25 °C. Water with a pH of 2.8 adjusted using acetic acid was mobile phase A while the mobile phase B consisted of 100% acetonitrile. The gradient for elution was as follows: 10% B (5 min); 23% B (31 min); and 35% B (43 min). Finally, the column was washed (100% B, 4 min) and equilibrated (100% A, 3 min). As shown in Fig. 2.4, different flavonoids and kernel content were baseline separated at multiple

detection wavelengths of 261, 280, 320 and 360 nm. The final content was calculated based on standard curve and presented as g/kg of whole corn kernel.



Fig. 2.4. Phenolics profile of selected corn varieties identified through HPLC analyses Note: (1) gallic acid, (2) chlorogenic acid, (3) caffeic acid, (4) ferulic acid, and (5) hesperidin HM20: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado 2020, HM21: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado 2021, PBP: Purple butcher purple

2.2.8 Antioxidant assays

2.2.8.1 Sample preparation

The pericarp of four conventionally bred polyphenol-rich corn varieties and purple corn

(control) was ground and passed through a 35-mesh sieve. The ground pericarp samples were

extracted in a solution of water and ethanol (40:60), using a solid-to-liquid ratio of 1:20 in a

beaker with continuous magnetic stirring for 2 h. Afterwards, the extract was centrifuged at

10,000 rpm for 10 minutes at 4 °C and vacuum filtered using a Whatman[®] #4 filter paper.

Residual ethanol was evaporated using a rotavapor (Model R-300, Buchi Corporation, New Castle, DE). The extracts were used for measuring antioxidant capacity.

2.2.8.2 DPPH scavenging assay

The solution for DPPH (1,2-diphenylpicrylhydrazyl) assay was made by mixing DPPH (5 mg) with methanol (100 mL) and the protocol reported by Boateng and Yang (2021) was used. The mixture was incubated in dark for 2 h till the absorbance values in range of 0.702 to 0.715 at 520 nm were obtained. The extract or Trolox samples (100 μ L) were mixed with 400 μ L of DPPH solution, incubated for 30 min in the dark, and absorbance values were recorded at 520 nm. The capability to scavenge DPPH was expressed as μ mol Trolox equivalent (TE)/g of pericarp.

2.2.8.3 ABTS scavenging assay

A previously reported method was used for ABTS scavenging assay (Boateng and Yang, 2021). The stock solution for the assay was prepared by mixing 2,2-azino-bis-(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid) or ABTS (7 mM, 10 mL) and K₂S₂O₈ (140 mmol, 166 μ L) and the mix was left in the dark overnight. For formulating the ABTS working solution, the stock solution (1.2 mL) was mixed with DI water (60 mL). The absorbance of the solution was adjusted to 0.700 ± 0.004 at 734 nm. After adding 360 μ L of the ABTS working solution to Trolox or extract (40 μ L), the mixture was left in the dark for 10 min before measuring the absorbance at 734 nm. Trolox was used as a standard and results were expressed as μ mol TE/g of pericarp.

2.2.8.4 Cupric ion reducing antioxidant capacity (CUPRAC) assay

Samples of Trolox or extract (20 μ L) were added to 800 μ L of working solution containing neocuproine (7.5 mM), H₂O, CuCl₂ (10 mM), and NH₄Ac (1 M) in a ratio of 1:1:1:1 and

incubated at 25 °C for 60 min. Afterwards, the absorbance values were measured at 450 nm (Boateng and Yang 2021). The results were reported as μ mol TE/g of pericarp.

2.2.8.5 Reducing power (RP) assay

Following Boateng and Yang (2021), 500 μ L sample of potassium ferricyanide (1 g/100 mL) was combined with Trolox or extract (500 μ L) and following a further addition of 500 μ L of phosphate buffer (0.2 M, pH 6.6), the samples were incubated for 20 min at 50 °C. After an addition of 500 μ L of trichloroacetic acid (10 g/100 mL), the mixture was centrifuged for 10 min (10,000 rpm, 4 °C). One mL of the mixture was added to 500 μ L of ferric chloride (100 mg/100 mL) and 1 mL of H₂O, and absorbance was measured at 700 nm, and results were presented as μ mol TE/g of pericarp.

2.2.9 Pericarp and aleurone histology

The thickness of cell layers in the pericarp and aleurone layers were analyzed for five mature kernels of six varieties soaked in water for 48 hours and embedded in Tissue Freezing Medium (Leica Biosystems). A cryostat (Leica CM1860) was used to produce 20 µm thick sections from the crown of the kernel. Sections were mounted on glass slides and examined under a Axiovert 200M microscope (Carl Zeiss Light Microscopy) with a 10x objective. The width of the pericarp and aleurone layers was recorded using the Scale bar and Measurements tools in the AxioVision Release 4.8 (Carl Zeiss MicroImaging GmbH) coupled with the microscope and AxioCamMR3 (Carl Zeiss) camera. Data were collected for four regions of the kernel: the two sides (S1 and S2) and the back (B1) of the seed opposite the embryo, as well as at the junction of the endosperm and the embryo (E). Further details about the four regions analyzed for pericarp and aleurone thicknesses are provided in Fig. 2.5. This research was conducted in Dr. Sherry Flint-Garcia's lab.



Fig. 2.5. Illustration of four regions (B1, S1, S2, and E) where the pericarp and aleurone thicknesses of kernels from six selected colored corn varieties were evaluated

2.2.10 Statistical analysis

All the analyses were conducted in triplicates and results are presented as mean \pm standard

deviation. One way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Tukey's range test was conducted to

compare the means at p < 0.05 using Minitab version 18 (Minitab Inc, State College,

Pennsylvania, USA).

2.3 Results and Discussion

2.3.1 Compositional analysis of corn varieties

The compositional characteristics of corn varieties evaluated are summarized in Table 2.1.

Due to their utilization in biofuels, food/feed, and biotechnology industries, starch content is

considered as the most important attribute of a corn variety and most of the breeding efforts aim for increasing the corn starch content (Eckert et al., 2018; Somavat et al., 2016). It was observed that the starch contents of colored corn varieties were statistically different. The compositional variations in corn cultivars have been attributed to various factors including genetic differences, agronomic practices, and environmental conditions among others (Yaqoob et al., 2019). Out of the varieties analyzed, Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz negro (HN) had the highest starch content of $75.55 \pm 2.13\%$ (db) which was similar to that present in conventional yellow dent corn (Somavat et al., 2016) and higher compared to the control (MM; $61.63 \pm 1.50\%$ (db)), in agreement with the data reported in an earlier study (Somavat et al., 2017). On the other hand, the varieties HC & HM21 had the lowest amount of starch, the values being $59.54 \pm 0.22\%$ and $59.55 \pm 1.04\%$ (db), respectively. The mean starch content of evaluated colored corn varieties was 65.28% (db) which was lower than the mean starch content of conventional yellow dent corn ~75.19% (db) (Somavat et al., 2017). The crude protein of the colored varieties ranged between $12.16 \pm 0.02\%$ (db) for CR to $8.33 \pm$ 0.03% (db) for HM20 with a mean value of 10.46% (db) which was higher compared to the mean protein content of five conventional yellow corn varieties (8.76%, db) reported in an earlier study (Somavat et al., 2017). The protein contents of varieties AP and AR was not different. The highest crude fat content was observed in varieties AP and HS, the values being $5.1 \pm 0.17\%$ and $5.14 \pm 0.05\%$ (db), respectively. On the other hand, varieties O 128, CR, PBR, HO and HM20 had the lowest crude fat content containing $2.7 \pm 0.08\%$, $2.95 \pm$ 0.1%, $2.65 \pm 0.19\%$, $2.72 \pm 0.03\%$, and $2.87 \pm 0.07\%$ (db), respectively. The mean fat content of colored corn varieties 3.80% (db) was comparable to the mean values reported for conventional yellow dent corn (3.73%, db). Finally, the varieties BB and CR had the highest

crude fiber content at $2.16 \pm 0.01\%$ and $2.1 \pm 0.11\%$ (db), respectively, while the variety AP had the lowest content ($1.51 \pm 0.04\%$, db). In general, the colored corn varieties were observed to have a lesser starch content and a greater protein content compared to the conventional yellow dent corn varieties.

| Varieties | Crude protein | Crude fat | Crude fiber | Starch |
|-------------|----------------------|---------------------|----------------------|-----------------------|
| AP | $11.74\pm0.05ab$ | $5.10\pm0.17a$ | 1.51 ± 0.04 de | $66.92 \pm 0.56 bc$ |
| AR | $11.84 \pm 0.01 ab$ | 3.83 ± 0.08 cde | 1.55 ± 0.03 cde | $59.68 \pm 0.65 de$ |
| BB | $10.15\pm0.13 fg$ | $4.17 \pm 0.19 bc$ | $2.16\pm0.01a$ | $69.29\pm0.31b$ |
| CR | $12.16\pm0.02a$ | $2.95\pm0.10f$ | $2.10\pm0.11a$ | $65.55 \pm 0.37 bcde$ |
| HC | $10.88 \pm 0.22 cd$ | $4.65\pm0.25ab$ | $1.78\pm0.03bc$ | $59.54 \pm 0.22e$ |
| HM20 | $8.33\pm0.03j$ | $2.87\pm0.07f$ | 1.63 ± 0.06 bcde | $69.38\pm0.83b$ |
| HM21 | $11.41 \pm 0.23 bc$ | $3.19 \pm 0.04 ef$ | $1.83\pm0.04b$ | $59.55 \pm 1.04e$ |
| HN | $10.04\pm0.01 fg$ | $5.18\pm0.04a$ | 1.61 ± 0.05 bcde | $75.55 \pm 2.13a$ |
| НО | $9.80\pm0.17 gh$ | $2.72\pm0.03f$ | $1.75 \pm 0.06 bcd$ | $66.47 \pm 0.56 bc$ |
| HS | $9.34 \pm 0.02 hi$ | $5.14\pm0.05a$ | 1.70 ± 0.02 bcde | $71.02 \pm 2.29ab$ |
| JR | $10.22\pm0.13 efg$ | $4.04\pm0.29bcd$ | $1.74 \pm 0.01 bcd$ | $62.35\pm0.72cde$ |
| MM | 8.84 ±0.00ij | $3.39\pm0.01def$ | 1.66 ± 0.01 bcde | 61.63 ± 1.5 cde |
| O128 | $10.47\pm0.15def$ | $2.70\pm0.08f$ | 1.71 ± 0.03 bcde | $65.75 \pm 1.16bcd$ |
| PBP | $10.86 \pm 0.03 cde$ | $4.44 \pm 0.09 abc$ | 1.72 ± 0.02 bcde | $62.90 \pm 0.79 cde$ |
| PBR | $10.84\pm0.08cde$ | $2.65\pm0.19f$ | $1.48\pm0.04e$ | $65.15 \pm 0.56 bcde$ |

Table 2.1. Compositional characteristics of different colored corn varieties (%, db)

Mean \pm SD from two replicates. Means followed by the same letter in a column are not different (p < 0.05)

Note: AP: Apache purple, AR: Apache red, BB: Bloody butcher, CR: Hopi/Cherry pericerp, HC: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Cordoba, HM20: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado 2020, HM21: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado 2021, HN: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz negro, HO: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Oaxaca 128, HS: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Sehsapsing, JR: Jimmy red, MM: Maiz morado, O128: Oaxaca 128, PBP: Purple butcher purple, PBR: Purple butcher red

2.3.2 Dry milling characteristics

Corn dry milling process involves physical fractionation of corn kernels into starch and

protein containing endosperm fractions and aim for the maximum removal of pericarp and

germ fractions (Rausch et al., 2009). Depending upon the size of separated endosperm

fractions, a variety of products such as flaking grits, cones, meal and flour are generated.

Corn kernels were fractionated into six milling coproducts, namely, large grits, medium grits, small grits, germ, fines, and pericarp, and the respective coproduct yields (%, db) are summarized in Table 2.2. It has been widely reported that the yield of various dry milling coproducts depends on endosperm hardness. Corn kernel hardness in turn depends upon the relative proportion of vitreous to floury endosperm in a variety (Correa et al., 2002). Hard endosperm corn varieties tend to yield a greater fraction of large grits and are preferred for corn dry milling, whereas the varieties with a softer endosperm yield lesser large grits and higher proportion of smaller endosperm fractions (small grits, fines, etc.) (Somavat et al., 2016; Watson, 1987). In corn varieties with a dominant floury endosperm, the protein matrix surrounding the starch molecules is relatively weaker (Correa et al., 2002). Out of the varieties evaluated, O128 yielded the greatest fraction of large grits 34.52% (db), which was followed by the varieties CR, BB, and JR (28.05, 27.53 and 27.27% (db), respectively), implying most of these colored corn varieties had a dominant softer endosperm composition which agreed with an earlier reported study (Somavat et al., 2016). Medium grits yield was highest for PBR (47.06%, db) followed by the varieties AR, PBP, and AP (46.83, 45.45, and 45.86% (db), respectively). The germ content of the varieties ranged from a high of 12.79% (db) (HS) to a low of 7.59% (db) in PBR. Since it has been reported in several earlier studies that the polyphenolic compounds of interest in colored corn varieties are concentrated in corn pericarp, it the coproduct of prime interest in colored corn varieties (Li et al., 2019, 2017). The pericarp yield from variety HM21 (6.45%, db) was observed to be similar to the pericarp yield from control variety MM (6.51%, db) but was lower than the values reported in previous studies (Somavat et al., 2016). This could be attributed to varietal and seasonal differences associated with the processed kernels. The lowest fraction of pericarp was

recovered from HN (3.18%, db). The small grits yield was highest in HM21 (20.99%, db) which was less than control MM (23.61%, db) whereas the lowest yield was observed in CR (11.77%, db). Finally, the variety HM20 yielded 6.58% (db) fines which was greatest among all other varieties except the control MM (10.76%, db) and the value was lowest for AR with 3.03% (db). Overall, the colored corn varieties had a dominant floury endosperm composition and were found to be more suitable for wet milling and dry grind processing.

| Variety | Large grits | Medium grits | Small grits | Fines | Germ | Pericarp | Total |
|---------|-----------------------------|-----------------------|-------------------------|----------------------------|-----------------------|---------------------------|----------------------|
| AP | $21.85 \pm 0.95 \text{cde}$ | $45.86 \pm 0.72 abc$ | $16.01\pm0.58\text{de}$ | $3.69 \pm 0.12 efg$ | $8.41 \pm 0.38 ef$ | $3.98 \pm 0.32 \text{de}$ | $99.81 \pm 0.19 ab$ |
| AR | $22.02 \pm 1.28 \text{cde}$ | $46.83 \pm 1.55 ab$ | $14.60 \pm 1.27 efg$ | 3.03 ± 0.11 g | $8.67 \pm 1.07 def$ | $4.91 \pm 0.32 bc$ | $100.05\pm0.57ab$ |
| BB | $27.53 \pm 1.99 b$ | $37.02\pm2.78ef$ | $14.95 \pm 0.65 def$ | $5.85 \pm 0.12 bc$ | $9.72 \pm 0.65 cdef$ | $4.99 \pm 0.16 \text{bc}$ | $100.07\pm0.73ab$ |
| CR | $28.05\pm2.17b$ | $38.36 \pm 0.58 def$ | $11.77\pm0.11g$ | $4.27 \pm 0.29 ef$ | $12.23\pm0.18ab$ | $5.46 \pm 0.18 b$ | $100.13 \pm 1.85 ab$ |
| HC | $24.12 \pm 1.39 bcd$ | $41.90 \pm 1.32 bcde$ | $15.71\pm0.14 de$ | $4.11 \pm 0.14 efg$ | $10.99 \pm 0.37 abcd$ | $3.87 \pm 0.10 def$ | $100.71\pm0.25a$ |
| HM20 | $19.53 \pm 1.64 de$ | $40.03 \pm 2.34 def$ | $19.75\pm0.95bc$ | $6.58 \pm 0.22 b$ | $9.97 \pm 0.07 bcde$ | $4.11\pm0.13\text{de}$ | $99.96 \pm 0.34 ab$ |
| HM21 | $13.17\pm0.67f$ | $42.95 \pm 0.31 abcd$ | $20.99 \pm 0.78 ab$ | $5.59 \pm 0.10 bcd$ | $11.66 \pm 0.57 abc$ | $6.45\pm0.07a$ | $100.80\pm0.72a$ |
| HN | $23.74 \pm 0.24 bcd$ | $43.03 \pm 0.43 abcd$ | $15.61 \pm 0.49 de$ | $3.41 \pm 0.16 fg$ | 11.41 ± 0.59 abc | $3.18\pm0.02f$ | $100.39\pm0.40ab$ |
| НО | $24.34 \pm 0.37 bcd$ | $37.01 \pm 0.52 ef$ | $17.07 \pm 0.55 cde$ | $4.69 \pm 0.16 \text{cde}$ | 11.65 ± 0.83 abc | $4.53 \pm 0.14 cd$ | $99.29 \pm 0.52 ab$ |
| HS | $20.26 \pm 0.80 \text{de}$ | $39.9 \pm 0.59 def$ | $17.90 \pm 0.49 cd$ | $6.03\pm0.17b$ | $12.79\pm0.80a$ | $3.51\pm0.07ef$ | $100.39\pm0.50ab$ |
| JR | $27.27 \pm 1.18 bc$ | $41.46 \pm 1.13 cde$ | $11.97 \pm 0.28 fg$ | $4.38 \pm 0.23 ef$ | $9.86 \pm 0.30 cdef$ | $5.01\pm0.05bc$ | $99.95 \pm 0.04 ab$ |
| MM | $16.64 \pm 2.68 ef$ | $31.84 \pm 1.78 g$ | $23.61 \pm 1.89a$ | $10.76 \pm 1.01a$ | $8.18 \pm 1.00 ef$ | $6.51\pm0.47a$ | $97.54 \pm 1.79 b$ |
| 0128 | $34.52\pm2.45a$ | $36.32 \pm 1.52 fg$ | $12.08 \pm 1.09 fg$ | $3.73 \pm 0.33 efg$ | $8.97 \pm 0.61 def$ | $3.99 \pm 0.21 \text{de}$ | $99.62 \pm 0.11 ab$ |
| PBP | $19.79 \pm 0.64 de$ | $45.45\pm0.88abc$ | $16.14\pm0.44 de$ | $4.62\pm0.22\text{de}$ | $8.99 \pm 0.71 def$ | $4.88 \pm 0.20 bc$ | $99.86 \pm 0.46 ab$ |
| PBR | $21.93 \pm 0.77 \text{cde}$ | $47.06 \pm 1.35a$ | $14.86 \pm 0.60 ef$ | $3.99 \pm 0.02 efg$ | $7.59 \pm 0.59 f$ | $4.44 \pm 0.07 cd$ | $99.86 \pm 0.40 ab$ |

Table 2.2. Dry milling characteristics of processed corn varieties (yield %, db)

Mean ± SD from three replicates. Means followed by the same letter in a column are not different (p < 0.05) Note: AP: Apache purple, AR: Apache red, BB: Bloody butcher, CR: Hopi/Cherry pericarp, HC: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Cordoba, HM20: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado 2020, HM21: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado 2021, HN: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz negro, HO: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Oaxaca 128, HS: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Sehsapsing, JR: Jimmy red, MM: Maiz morado, O128: Oaxaca 128, PBP: Purple butcher purple, PBR: Purple butcher red

2.3.3 Polyphenolic contents of whole corn kernels

Since one of the main aims of this project was to identify locally grown colored corn varieties with the highest concentrations of polyphenols for subsequent breeding and adaptation cycles, the varieties were assessed for their polyphenolics. The total monomeric anthocyanin concentration of commercial purple corn variety maiz morado (MM) was observed to be the highest at 4.26 g C3G equivalent/kg corn (Table 2.3) which was followed by the varieties HM21, PBP, AP and HM20 (1.71, 1.59, 1.12 and 0.81 g C3G equivalent/kg corn, respectively). The total phenolic content of MM was observed to be 11.67 g GAE equivalent/kg corn, which was greater than HM21, PBP, and AP, the values being 6.09, 5.3, and 4.95 g GAE equivalent/kg corn, respectively. Similarly, MM variety had the highest condensed tannins content (44.68 g epicatechin equivalent/kg corn) compared to HM21, PBP, and HM20 (24.4, 16.86, and 13.71 g epicatechin equivalent/kg corn, respectively). The amount of polyphenolics quantified in the commercial variety MM agreed with several other studies with purple corn varieties (González-Manzano et al., 2008; Ramos-Escudero et al., 2012; Yang et al., 2009). The commercial control variety MM was found to be far more superior in terms of overall polyphenol content. However, at least four conventionally bred and Missouri-grown colored corn varieties, namely, HM20, HM21, PBP, and AP, were identified to be promising for further breeding efforts. Great variations in concentrations of polyphenolic compounds in evaluated varieties could be attributed to genetic, environmental, and agronomic differences.

| Variety | Anthocyanins | Total phenols | Condensed tannins |
|---------|--------------------|----------------------------|---------------------|
| AP | $1.12 \pm 0.01c$ | $4.95\pm0.03d$ | $6.38\pm0.54 efgh$ |
| AR | $0.02\pm0.01h$ | $3.24\pm0.04g$ | $2.08\pm0.38h$ |
| BB | $0.09\pm0.01h$ | $2.31\pm0.02i$ | $1.47\pm0.72h$ |
| CR | $0.59\pm0.01ef$ | $2.93\pm0.02h$ | 9.32 ± 3.11 de |
| HC | $0.44\pm0.00 fg$ | $2.97\pm0.03h$ | $6.11\pm0.72 efgh$ |
| HM20 | $0.81\pm0.01d$ | $4.34\pm0.02e$ | 13.71 ± 0.59 cd |
| HM21 | $1.71\pm0.01b$ | $6.09\pm0.04b$ | $24.4\pm2.22b$ |
| HN | $0.31\pm0.01g$ | $3.59\pm0.09f$ | $5.45\pm0.39 efgh$ |
| НО | $0.40\pm0.01 fg$ | $2.27\pm0.02i$ | $7.70 \pm 1.02 efg$ |
| HS | $0.67 \pm 0.01 de$ | $3.56\pm0.08f$ | $8.08 \pm 1.60 ef$ |
| JR | $0.04\pm0.01h$ | $1.85 \pm 0.02 \mathrm{j}$ | $2.48\pm0.38 gh$ |
| MM | $4.26 \pm 0.21a$ | $11.67 \pm 0.02a$ | $44.68 \pm 1.77a$ |
| 0128 | $0.28\pm0.01h$ | $2.36\pm0.01i$ | $3.41 \pm 1.58 fgh$ |
| PBP | $1.59\pm0.00b$ | $5.30\pm0.01c$ | $16.86 \pm 2.56c$ |
| PBR | $0.02\pm0.01h$ | $2.30\pm0.01i$ | $4.03\pm0.70 efgh$ |

Table 2.3. Quantification of anthocyanins, total phenols, and condensed tannins in whole kernels of colored corn varieties. Anthocyanin content: g cyanidin 3-glucoside equivalent/kg corn; Total polyphenols: g gallic acid equivalent/kg corn; and condensed tannins: g epicatechin equivalent/kg corn

Mean \pm SD from three replicates. Means followed by the same letter in a column are not different (p < 0.05)

Note: AP: Apache purple, AR: Apache red, BB: Bloody butcher, CR: Hopi/Cherry pericarp, HC: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Cordoba, HM20: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado 2020, HM21: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado 2021, HN: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz negro, HO: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Oaxaca 128, HS: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Sehsapsing, JR: Jimmy red, MM: Maiz morado, O128: Oaxaca 128, PBP: Purple butcher purple, PBR: Purple butcher red

2.3.4 Total monomeric anthocyanin contents of milling coproducts

One of the main advantages associated with the colored corn varieties is the fact that their

pericarp contains disproportionately higher concentration of bioactive compounds. Once the

pericarp is separated at the front end, it can be selectively processed to economically recover

value-added bioactive compounds with diverse agro-industrial applications. The corn

endosperm containing most of the starch and protein, remains unaffected and can be utilized

further.

Dry milling coproducts from all the corn varieties were evaluated for total monomeric anthocyanins (ACNs), and the results are summarized in Table 2.4. According to Moreno et al. (2005), total anthocyanin content can be predicted visually according to the color of corn kernels. It was observed that the darker the color of the corn kernels, the higher was the ANCs content. Purple-colored corn varieties had a higher ACNs whereas compared to redcolored ones. As expected, the ACNs content was generally observed to be highest in corn pericarp compared to other coproducts. Among the experimental varieties, the highest content was 23.81 g C3G/kg pericarp in HM21. In comparison, the lowest was 0.1 g C3G/kg pericarp in AR, the anthocyanin content of HM21 was similar to the control (24.14 g C3G/kg pericarp). For the variety O128, the pigments were located in the aleurone layer rather than in the pericarp (0.25 g C3G/kg pericarp). Besides these, the varieties PBP, HM20, and AP also had higher anthocyanin contents in their pericarp, the values being 23.16, 12.01 and 7.90 C3G/kg pericarp, respectively.

Among the rest of the coproducts, large grits were observed to be fraction with the highest ACNs for most varieties except AR, HN, JR, O128, and PBR. Large grits from MM had 3.24 g C3G/kg coproduct followed by HM21, which had 1.13 g C3G/kg ACNs in large grits. The ACN content of medium grits of all the varieties did not exceed 1 g/kg except that of the control variety MM (1.4 g C3G/kg). The remaining coproducts had a relatively lower ACNs content.

| Coproducts | | | | | | | |
|------------|---------------------|-----------------------|----------------------------|-------------------|-----------------------|------------------------|--|
| Variety | Pericarp | Germ | Large grits | Medium grits | Small grits | Fines | |
| AP | $7.90\pm0.03d$ | $0.52\pm0.02e$ | $0.82\pm0.01\text{d}$ | $0.77\pm0.00b$ | $0.68 \pm 0.00 d$ | $0.81\pm0.01a$ | |
| AR | $0.10\pm0.00h$ | $0.01 \pm 0.00 h$ | $0.00 \pm 0.00 \mathrm{j}$ | $0.01\pm0.00g$ | $0.02\pm0.00i$ | $0.07\pm0.01i$ | |
| BB | $0.24\pm0.01h$ | $0.05\pm0.00h$ | $0.10\pm0.01i$ | $0.11 \pm 0.00 f$ | $0.13 \pm 0.00 h$ | $0.17\pm0.02h$ | |
| CR | $4.72\pm0.02e$ | $0.77\pm0.02c$ | $0.58 \pm 0.00 f$ | $0.44 \pm 0.00c$ | $0.65\pm0.01d$ | $0.42\pm0.01\text{de}$ | |
| HC | $5.11\pm0.01e$ | $0.29\pm0.01g$ | $0.49\pm0.01g$ | $0.30\pm0.01e$ | $0.37\pm0.01\text{g}$ | $0.32\pm0.01g$ | |
| HM20 | $12.01\pm0.02c$ | $0.52\pm0.01e$ | $0.70\pm0.01\text{e}$ | $0.34\pm0.00d$ | $0.53\pm0.03e$ | $0.29\pm0.01g$ | |
| HM21 | $23.81 \pm 0.19 ab$ | $0.62\pm0.01\text{d}$ | $1.13\pm0.02b$ | $0.38 \pm 0.00 d$ | $1.08\pm0.01b$ | $0.64\pm0.01c$ | |
| HN | $2.36\pm0.03g$ | $0.27\pm0.02g$ | $0.33 \pm 0.02 h$ | $0.28\pm0.02e$ | $0.35\pm0.01g$ | $0.38 \pm 0.02 ef$ | |
| HO128 | $3.63\pm0.04f$ | $0.37\pm0.01f$ | $0.58\pm0.01f$ | $0.35\pm0.01d$ | $0.37\pm0.02g$ | $0.29\pm0.01g$ | |
| HS | $5.54\pm0.78e$ | $0.54\pm0.01e$ | $0.80\pm0.01\text{d}$ | $0.77\pm0.02b$ | $0.49\pm0.01f$ | $0.44\pm0.01d$ | |
| JR | $0.14\pm0.01h$ | $0.05\pm0.01h$ | 0.06 ± 0.00 ij | $0.09\pm0.00f$ | $0.13 \pm 0.00 h$ | $0.17\pm0.01h$ | |
| MM | $24.14\pm0.48a$ | $1.32\pm0.01a$ | $3.24\pm0.07a$ | $1.40\pm0.03a$ | $1.48\pm0.00a$ | $0.76\pm0.02b$ | |
| 0128 | $0.25\pm0.00h$ | $0.28\pm0.01g$ | $0.25\pm0.01h$ | $0.29\pm0.00e$ | $0.38\pm0.01g$ | $0.37\pm0.00f$ | |
| PBP | $23.16\pm0.13b$ | $1.11 \pm 0.02b$ | $0.91\pm0.01c$ | $0.47\pm0.01c$ | $0.92\pm0.00c$ | $0.68\pm0.01c$ | |
| PBR | $0.14\pm0.01h$ | $0.04 \pm 0.00 h$ | $0.04 \pm 0.00 ij$ | $0.04\pm0.01g$ | $0.05\pm0.01i$ | $0.07\pm0.00i$ | |

Table 2.4. Quantification of anthocyanins in dry milling coproducts from different colored corn varieties (g cyanidin 3-glucoside equivalent/kg coproduct)

Mean \pm SD from three replicates. Means followed by the same letter in a column are not different (p < 0.05) Note: AP: Apache purple, AR: Apache red, BB: Bloody butcher, CR: Hopi/Cherry pericarp, HC: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Cordoba, HM20: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado 2020, HM21: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado 2021, HN: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz negro, HO: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Oaxaca 128, HS: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Sehsapsing, JR: Jimmy red, MM: Maiz morado, O128: Oaxaca 128, PBP: Purple butcher purple, PBR: Purple butcher red

2.3.5 Total phenolic content (TPC) of milling coproducts

Phenolics help in protecting plants from biotic and abiotic stresses, regulate hormones and numerous other biochemical reactions, and are crucial for cell division (Tayal et al., 2020). Free, esterified, and insoluble-bound phenolic compounds are found in corn (Méndez-Lagunas et al., 2020). TPC was assessed in milling coproducts of colored corns varieties (Table 2.5), and the pericarp from control variety MM was found to contain the highest amount of TPC (62.52 ± 0.15 g GAE/kg pericarp). These results agreed with Trehan et al. (2018), wherein high TPC were reported in colored corn. The pericarp from variety PBP, HM21, and HM20 also contained high amounts of TPC, the values being 53.40 ± 0.25, 41.75 ± 0.01 and 18.76 ± 0.09 g GAE/kg pericarp, respectively. The control variety MM was observed to contain higher TPC in large, medium, and small grits with 9.48 ± 0.05, 4.78 ± 0.07, and 5.13 ± 0.02 g GAE/kg coproduct, respectively. These amounts were found to be higher compared to an earlier study with purple corn (Li et al., 2017). Overall, the pericarp fraction of colored corn varieties contained the highest amounts of TPC.

| Coproducts | | | | | | |
|------------|--------------------------|------------------------|------------------------|--------------------|------------------------|---------------------|
| Variety | Pericarp | Germ | Large grits | Medium grits | Small grits | Fines |
| AP | $12.76\pm0.15g$ | $6.86\pm0.02a$ | $5.29\pm0.04b$ | $4.54\pm0.02a$ | $4.41\pm0.01b$ | $4.98\pm0.04a$ |
| AR | $13.34\pm0.03f$ | $5.05\pm0.02cd$ | $3.44\pm0.02d$ | $2.47\pm0.04cd$ | $3.22\pm0.03\text{de}$ | $3.74 \pm 0.04 bc$ |
| BB | $10.1\pm0.02i$ | $3.81\pm0.03f$ | $2.11 \pm 0.08 ij$ | $1.93\pm0.01f$ | $2.58 \pm 0.08 i$ | $3.16\pm0.03 cde$ |
| CR | $10.5\pm0.06i$ | $4.77\pm0.01 de$ | $2.74\pm0.03f$ | $2.86\pm0.05c$ | $3.11\pm0.04ef$ | $2.84 \pm 0.04 efg$ |
| HC | $10.19\pm0.09i$ | $3.86\pm0.01f$ | $2.51\pm0.02 fg$ | $2.58\pm0.01cd$ | $2.70\pm0.01\text{hi}$ | $2.42\pm0.02 fg$ |
| HM20 | $18.76\pm0.09d$ | $4.45\pm0.05e$ | $3.33\pm0.05\text{de}$ | $2.46\pm0.03 de$ | $3.37\pm0.03d$ | $3.15\pm0.02cde$ |
| HM21 | $41.75\pm0.01c$ | $4.46\pm0.05e$ | $4.28\pm0.04c$ | $2.64 \pm 0.01 cd$ | $4.12\pm0.01c$ | $3.18\pm0.02 cde$ |
| HN | $6.76\pm0.20l$ | $4.96 \pm 0.33 cd$ | $2.40\pm0.24 gh$ | $2.51\pm0.36cd$ | $2.78 \pm 0.23 ghi$ | $3.66 \pm 0.68 bcd$ |
| НО | $8.72\pm0.04k$ | $3.77\pm0.01f$ | $3.52\pm0.03d$ | $2.52\pm0.02cd$ | $3.21\pm0.00\text{de}$ | $2.33\pm0.02g$ |
| HS | $12.03\pm0.01h$ | $4.73\pm0.25\text{de}$ | $3.13\pm0.04e$ | $3.45\pm0.03b$ | $2.96\pm0.02 fg$ | $3.02\pm0.03def$ |
| JR | $9.39 \pm 0.06 \text{j}$ | $3.04\pm0.03g$ | $1.74 \pm 0.02 k$ | $1.87\pm0.17f$ | $2.27\pm0.02j$ | $2.33\pm0.01g$ |
| MM | $62.52\pm0.15a$ | $5.34\pm0.01c$ | $9.48\pm0.05a$ | $4.78\pm0.07a$ | $5.13\pm0.02a$ | $3.08\pm0.02def$ |
| O128 | $3.06\pm0.10m$ | $3.91\pm0.07f$ | $1.88 \pm 0.02 jk$ | $2.07\pm0.02ef$ | $2.88\pm0.03 fgh$ | $2.81\pm0.03 efg$ |
| PBP | $53.40\pm0.25b$ | $5.84\pm0.02b$ | $4.22\pm0.03c$ | $2.65\pm0.01cd$ | $4.24\pm0.02bc$ | $3.86\pm0.02b$ |
| PBR | $15.09\pm0.07e$ | $4.48\pm0.04e$ | $2.18 \pm 0.00 hi$ | $1.84\pm0.01f$ | $2.62\pm0.01i$ | $2.85 \pm 0.01 efg$ |

Table 2.5. Quantification of total polyphenols in dry milling coproducts from different colored corn varieties (g gallic acid equivalent/kg coproduct)

Mean \pm SD from three replicates. Means followed by the same letter in a column are not different (p < 0.05) Note: AP: Apache purple, AR: Apache red, BB: Bloody butcher, CR: Hopi/Cherry pericarp, HC: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Cordoba, HM20: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado 2020, HM21: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado 2021, HN: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz negro, HO: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Oaxaca 128, HS: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Sehsapsing, JR: Jimmy red, MM: Maiz morado, O128: Oaxaca 128, PBP: Purple butcher purple, PBR: Purple butcher red

2.3.6 Condensed tannins (CT) content of milling coproducts

CT were the most prevalent phytochemicals detected in colored corn varieties, far exceeding the amounts of anthocyanins and total phenols (Table 2.6). The highest concentration of CT was identified in the pericarp of HM21 (253.12 \pm 3.37 g epicatechin/kg pericarp), followed by the varieties MM, PBP, HM20, and HS. These results agreed with several other studies wherein CT were reported to be the most dominant phytochemicals quantified in colored corn varieties such as 1381 \pm 69.8 µg catechin/g dry matter in purple corn (Suriano et al., 2021), and 310.6 \pm 28.7 mg catechin/g pericarp in red corn (Chen et al., 2017). Medium grits from HM21 also had a higher CT concentration (17.94 \pm 5.03 g epicatechin/kg coproduct). Overall, the control variety MM was identified to contain the highest CT with significant amounts identified in germ, large grits, and small grits, the values being 18.42 \pm 0.54 g, 39.73 \pm 0.5 g, and 12.95 \pm 1.4 g epicatechin/kg coproduct, respectively. The varieties JR, AR, and BB contained the least amount of CT and also had the lowest anthocyanin concentrations.

| Coproducts | | | | | | |
|-------------|----------------------------|---------------------------|---------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|------------------------|
| Varieties | Pericarp | Germ | Large grits | Medium grits | Small grits | Fines |
| AP | $37.85\pm0.79g$ | $4.14 \pm 0.48 efg$ | $6.71 \pm 0.34 bc$ | $5.05 \pm 0.46 bcd$ | $2.62\pm0.58cd$ | 4.02 ± 0.26 bcde |
| AR | $4.94 \pm 1.54 i$ | $0.25 \pm 1.17 \text{hi}$ | $0.00\pm0.00c$ | $1.37 \pm 0.66 cd$ | $0.42\pm0.21\text{d}$ | $2.75 \pm 1.83 cde$ |
| BB | $2.81\pm0.14i$ | $0.57 \pm 0.60 \text{hi}$ | $1.3 \pm 0.18c$ | $1.85 \pm 0.11 cd$ | $1.14\pm0.53d$ | $0.45\pm0.70e$ |
| CR | $51.53\pm3.93f$ | $7.61 \pm 0.37 cd$ | $7.37 \pm 1.76 bc$ | $6.37 \pm 0.41 bcd$ | $6.44\pm0.24b$ | $3.58 \pm 0.26 bcde$ |
| HC | $57.76\pm2.81f$ | $4.15\pm0.49 efg$ | $7.75\pm0.14bc$ | $5.17 \pm 2.29 bcd$ | $7.54 \pm 0.21 b$ | 6.11 ± 1.61 abcd |
| HM20 | $125.98\pm2.91d$ | $9.57 \pm 0.59 bc$ | 6.50 ± 1.21 bc | $6.10 \pm 0.69 bcd$ | $7.11\pm0.70b$ | $1.09 \pm 1.07 de$ |
| HM21 | $253.12\pm3.37a$ | $9.41 \pm 1.24 bc$ | $6.33 \pm 2.39 bc$ | $17.94 \pm 5.03a$ | $5.53 \pm 2.00 bc$ | $8.88 \pm 3.79 ab$ |
| HN | $20.27\pm2.26h$ | $3.36\pm0.52 fgh$ | $5.81 \pm 1.26 bc$ | $6.95 \pm 3.30 bcd$ | $7.18 \pm 0.85 b$ | $2.56 \pm 0.54 cde$ |
| НО | $38.90\pm0.76g$ | $6.94 \pm 2.10 cde$ | $10.14\ 1\pm 5.66b$ | $8.88 \pm 1.49 b$ | $6.17\pm0.88b$ | $4.49 \pm 2.56 abcde$ |
| HS | $74.35\pm4.47e$ | $2.08 \pm 0.65 ghi$ | $10.56 \pm 1.57 b$ | $7.75 \pm 1.36 bc$ | $6.48\pm0.81b$ | $8.09 \pm 0.40 abc$ |
| JR | $0.24 \pm 1.00 i$ | $0.00\pm0.00i$ | $0.35\pm0.64c$ | $0.55 \pm 1.14 d$ | $0.00\pm0.00d$ | $1.87\pm0.27\text{de}$ |
| MM | $193.37\pm6.34b$ | $18.42\pm0.54a$ | $39.73\pm0.50a$ | $10.75\pm0.73b$ | $12.95\pm1.40a$ | $9.69 \pm 2.12a$ |
| O128 | $4.56 \pm 1.09i$ | $5.70 \pm 0.33 def$ | $10.50 \pm 1.35 b$ | $5.02 \pm 0.69 bcd$ | $7.87 \pm 0.15 b$ | $8.61 \pm 0.39 ab$ |
| PBP | $163.27\pm1.26c$ | $11.36\pm0.67b$ | $9.49\pm2.40b$ | $6.78 \pm 1.03 bcd$ | $4.95 \pm 0.30 bc$ | $9.67\pm0.87a$ |
| PBR | $8.21 \pm 0.96 \mathrm{i}$ | $2.77\pm0.99 fghi$ | $7.29 \pm 3.49 bc$ | $0.27\pm0.35\text{d}$ | $1.92\pm0.78d$ | $3.78 \pm 0.22 bcde$ |

Table 2.6. Quantification of condensed tannins in dry milling coproducts from different colored corn varieties (g epicatechin equivalent/kg coproduct)

Mean \pm SD from three replicates. Means followed by the same letter in a column are not different (p < 0.05) Note: AP: Apache purple, AR: Apache red, BB: Bloody butcher, CR: Hopi/Cherry pericarp, HC: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Cordoba, HM20: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado 2020, HM21: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado 2021, HN: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz negro, HO: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Oaxaca 128, HS: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Sehsapsing, JR: Jimmy red, MM: Maiz morado, O128: Oaxaca 128, PBP: Purple butcher purple, PBR: Purple butcher red

2.3.7 HPLC analysis

2.3.7.1 Anthocyanins evaluation using HPLC analysis

Standards of six different anthocyanins were used and only three of those, namely, cyanidin 3-glucoside, cyanidin chloride, and delphinidin were identified in evaluated corn varieties (Fig. 2.6). Cyanidin 3-glucoside and cyanidin chloride were observed to be the most abundant forms followed by delphinidin. The control variety MM had the highest total anthocyanin content (5.28 g anthocyanins/kg corn) followed by HM21, PBP, and HM20 (3.92, 3.03 and 2.39 kg anthocyanins/kg corn, respectively). The varieties HM20 and HM21 had a relatively higher delphinidin content. No anthocyanins were detected in the varieties AR, BB, JR, and PBR varieties. These results were consistent with other studies where cyanidin and their derivatives were reported to be the significant anthocyanins in colored corn (Chatham et al., 2018; Lao and Giusti, 2016; Li et al., 2017; Peniche-Pavía and Tiessen, 2020).



Fig. 2.6. Identification and quantification of different anthocyanins present in colored corn varieties using HPLC

Note: AP: Apache purple, AR: Apache red, BB: Bloody butcher, CR: Hopi/Cherry pericarp, HC: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Cordoba, HM20: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado 2020, HM21: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado 2021, HN: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz negro, HO: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Oaxaca 128, HS: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Sehsapsing, JR: Jimmy red, MM: Maiz morado, O128: Oaxaca 128, PBP: Purple butcher purple, PBR: Purple butcher red

2.3.7.2 Phenolics evaluation using HPLC analysis

The phenolic acid profile of colored corn varieties has been assessed in earlier studies wherein ferulic acid was observed to be the most abundant phenol, and observations from the current study summarized in Fig. 2.7 are consistent with those findings (Cuevas Montilla et al., 2011; Ranilla et al., 2017). In addition to ferulic acid, hesperidin, and caffeic acid were the other identified phenols at 38.4, 41.4, and 29.1 min retention times, respectively. Other researchers have reported the presence of *p*-coumaric acid, chlorogenic acid, and vanillic acid along with their derivatives in colored corns but they were not identified in our analyses

(Cristianini and Guillén Sánchez, 2020; Lao et al., 2017; Ranilla et al., 2021). The control variety (MM) had the highest concentration of caffeic acid (6.32 ± 0.19 g/kg corn) followed by HM21 and PBP (2.30 ± 0.04 and 1.35 ± 0.02 g/kg corn, respectively). Ferulic acid was present in all the evaluated varieties ranging from a high of 3.96 ± 0.01 g/kg corn in HS to a low of 0.75 ± 0.03 g/kg corn in PBR. Hesperidin concentration was highest in AR (10.40 ± 0.35 g/kg corn). It has been reported that only a small portion of total phenolic acids can be extracted without hydrolysis treatment of plant matter, as most of them exist in bound forms (Lao et al., 2017). Overall, the variety AR had the highest total phenolics content, followed by the control variety (12.58 ± 0.35 and 9.37 ± 0.46 g/kg corn, respectively).





Note: AP: Apache purple, AR: Apache red, BB: Bloody butcher, CR: Hopi/Cherry pericarp, HC: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Cordoba, HM20: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado 2020, HM21: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado 2021, HN: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz negro, HO: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Oaxaca 128, HS: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Sehsapsing, JR: Jimmy red, MM: Maiz morado, O128: Oaxaca 128, PBP: Purple butcher purple, PBR: Purple butcher red

2.3.7.3 Flavonoids evaluation using HPLC analysis

Organic solvents are highly efficient and preferred for the extraction of flavonoids from plant matrices (Lao et al., 2017). The standards of epicatechin, morin, quercetin, naringenin, and kaempferol were run and eluted at retention times of 3.64, 39.02, 43.73, 46.9 and 48.09 min, respectively. As summarized in Fig. 2.8, epicatechin was the most abundant flavonoid identified in all the evaluated varieties followed by quercetin. On the other hand, naringenin and kaempferol were present in relatively lower quantities. These results were in accordance with other studies on purple corn varieties wherein the authors reported 17.62 ± 0.92 mg catechin/g of purple corn (Trehan et al., 2020), and 0.23 ± 0.01 g of catechin equivalent/g of purple corn, respectively (Ramos-Escudero et al., 2012).



Fig. 2.8. Identification and quantification of different flavonoids present in colored corn varieties using HPLC

Note: AP: Apache purple, AR: Apache red, BB: Bloody butcher, CR: Hopi/Cherry pericarp, HC: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Cordoba, HM20: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado 2020, HM21: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado 2021, HN: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz negro, HO: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Oaxaca 128, HS: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Sehsapsing, JR: Jimmy red, MM: Maiz morado, O128: Oaxaca 128, PBP: Purple butcher purple, PBR: Purple butcher red

These differences can be attributed to variations in cultivars and underlying agronomic conditions. It has been reported that catechin or epicatechin is a significant nutritional component of total flavonoids (Birt and Jeffery, 2013). The control variety (MM) had the highest amount of total flavonoids followed by HM21, AP, and PBP with 38.57 ± 0.30 , 29.38 ± 0.30 , 21.21 ± 0.09 , and 18.77 ± 0.08 g/kg corn, respectively. Although epicatechin was most the prominent flavonoid present in most of the corn varieties evaluated, the varieties PBR, BB, AR and AP had higher concentrations of quercetin. Kaempferol was present in minute amounts in all the varieties except O128 and PBR. Similarly, naringenin was not identified in O128, JR, and PBR and present in small amounts in others. Overall, the colored corn varieties were identified to be rich sources of flavonoids. Fig. 2.9 contains the chromatographs with standard peaks and the peaks of the individual anthocyanins, flavonoids, and phenolics identified in the control variety MM.



Fig. 2.9. Chromatographs with standard peaks and individual anthocyanins, flavonoids, and phenolics detected in Maiz morado (MM)

Note: In anthocyanins profile, the peaks correspond to: (1) cyanidin-3-glucoside, (2) delphinidin, (3) cyanidin chloride, (4) peonidin, (5) malvidin, and (6) pelargonidin chloride In flavonoids profile, the peaks correspond to: (1) epicatechin, (2) morin, (3) naringin, (4) quercetin, and (5) kaempferol

In phenolics profile, the peaks correspond to: (1) gallic acid, (2) chlorogenic acid, (3) caffeic acid, (4) ferulic acid, and (5) hesperidin

2.3.8 Antioxidant properties

Various researchers have reported a positive correlation between antioxidant-rich diets and

better health outcomes in humans. An important mechanism by which antioxidants present in

plants confer health benefits is by neutralizing free radicals, which promote oxidative

processes harmful to biological cells. The methods utilized for quantifying antioxidant

activities can be distinctly classified into spectrometric, electrochemical, and chromatographic assays. Among the vast array of assays available, each one has associated advantages and disadvantages. For example, ABTS and CUPRAC assays can quantify both hydrophilic and lipophilic antioxidants, whereas the DPPH assay can only quantify hydrophobic compounds (Munteanu and Apetrei, 2021). Keeping these underlying differences in mind, four distinct antioxidant assays were used in this study to evaluate five corn varieties. The selected assays were as follows: i) 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) assay, ii) 2-2's-Azino-bis(3-ethylbenzthiazoline-6-sulfonic acid) (ABTS+) radical inhibition antioxidant capacity assay, iii) Cupric ion reducing antioxidant capacity (CUPRAC) assay, and iv) Reducing power assay (RP) (Añibarro-Ortega et al., 2020; Boateng et al., 2021). The corn varieties selected for antioxidant assays were HM21, HM20, PBP, AP, and control MM, and this selection was based on relatively higher concentrations of polyphenols in them. The total phenolic content of a biological material correlates with its antioxidant activity. Among the evaluated varieties, HM20 was found to be having the highest antioxidant capacity in two of the assays (DPPH, ABTS) and second highest activities behind MM for the other two protocols (CUPRAC, and RP), the values being 69.32 ± 0.04 , 29.87 ± 0.07 , 515.1 ± 10.74 , and $693.24 \pm 2.43 \mu mol TE/g$ of pericarp, respectively (Table 2.7.). The antioxidant activities in the DPPH assay varied between a high of 69.32 ± 0.04 for HM20 and a low of $63.58 \pm$ 0.11 µmol TE/g of pericarp, respectively for the variety HM21. Corresponding antioxidant activities for blueberry, blackberry, and raspberry have been reported to be 14.56 ± 2.57 , 22.10 ± 9.7 , and $21.50 \pm 8.0 \mu$ mol TE/g fresh fruits, respectively (Ruiz-Torralba et al., 2018).

Similar trends were observed in the ABTS assay where the antioxidant activities ranged between a high (PBP) and low (AP) of 30 ± 0.06 and 28.54 ± 0.37 µmol TE/g of pericarp,

respectively. In a similar assay conducted on 12 Peruvian corn accessions by Ranilla et al. (2019), the DPPH scavenging activity ranged between 67.63 to 18.79 umol TE/g dry weight, respectively. In another study by Hosu et al., (2016), the antioxidant activity of cornelian cherries was reported to be $36.13 \pm 1.18 \mu mol TE/g$ of fresh weight. However, greater variability was observed in the OH radical production capability of pericarp extracts from the evaluated varieties while performing the CUPRAC and reducing power assays. In the CUPRAC assay, the variety HM20 demonstrated almost twice the antioxidant activity compared to PBP, the values being 515.11 ± 21.49 and 201.62 ± 17.57 µmol TE/g of pericarp, respectively. The control variety MM was identified to contain twice as much antioxidant activity as present in AP (938.15 \pm 30.21 and 403.93 \pm 55.68 µmol TE/g of pericarp, respectively). These antioxidant activities were found to be higher compared to other polyphenol-rich fruits and vegetables such as blueberry (56.80-172.40 µmol TE/g dry weight), blackberry (157.90-257.50 µmol TE/g dry weight), cherry (65.20-135.80 µmol TE/g dry weight), whereas the antioxidant activity of MM were observed to be comparable to green tea extracts (772.20-1326.00 µmol TE/g dry weight) as reported by George et al. (2022).

The ferric-reducing power assay measures the capacity of electron donation by evaluating the effective reduction of ferric ion to their ferrous form. The variety MM had the highest antioxidant activity whereas the variety AP had the lowest, the values being 796.09 \pm 16.08 and 272.34 \pm 2.72 µmol TE/g of pericarp, respectively. The varieties PBP (623.67 \pm 11.07 µmol TE/g of pericarp) and HM21 (486.06 \pm 5.78 µmol TE/g of pericarp) also demonstrated higher antioxidant activities. In a study by Karaaslan et al. (2018), the antioxidant properties of strawberry fruit extracts using five different solvents were evaluated using the RP assay.

The antioxidant activities reportedly ranged from 545.20 ± 12.50 to 286.50 ± 19.30 mg TE/100 g strawberry extract, respectively. Overall, the colored corn pericarp extracts demonstrated significant antioxidant activities compared to other polyphenol-rich fruits and vegetables for all the four assays. However, the observed trends were inconsistent as the total polyphenolic content of varieties did not directly correlate with the observed antioxidant activities. However, this anomaly could be attributed to the fact that spectrophotometric protocols provide an approximation of phytochemical contents as well as corresponding antioxidant activities. Therefore, it can be inferred that colored corn varieties can be valorized to recover value-added bioactive compounds with significant antioxidant activities.

| e 2.1. Annoxidant activities of pericarp extract i | Tom selected com varieties |
|--|----------------------------|
| | |

| | DPPH (µmol TE/g | ABTS (µmol TE/g of | CUPRAC (µmol TE/g of | Reducing power (µmol TE/g of |
|-----------|--------------------|-----------------------|-------------------------|---------------------------------|
| Varieties | pericarp) | pericarp) | pericarp) | pericarp) |
| HM21 | $63.58\pm0.11d$ | $29.34 \pm 0.07 bc$ | $276.78\pm7.45d$ | $486.06\pm5.78d$ |
| AP | $67.14\pm0.10b$ | $28.54\pm0.37d$ | $403.93\pm55.68c$ | $272.34 \pm 2.72e$ |
| PBP | $66.77\pm0.35b$ | $30.00\pm0.06a$ | $201.62 \pm 17.57d$ | $623.67 \pm 11.07c$ |
| MM | $64.81 \pm 0.54c$ | $29.08 \pm 0.06 cd$ | $938.15 \pm 30.21a$ | $796.09 \pm 16.08a$ |
| HM20 | $69.32\pm0.04a$ | $29.87\pm0.07ab$ | $515.11 \pm 10.74 b$ | $693.24\pm2.43b$ |

Mean \pm SD from three replicates. Means followed by the same letter in a column are not different (p < 0.05)

Note: AP: Apache purple, HM20: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado 2020, HM21: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado 2021, MM: Maiz morado, PBP: Purple butcher purple

2.3.9 Histological analysis

The commercial purple corn variety MM had the thickest pericarp (213.3 µm, averaged

across the S1 and S2 sides of the kernels), followed by HM21 (176.8 µm), PBP (157.4 µm),

HM20 (125.1 μ m), and AP (117.3 μ m) (Fig. 2.10A). The variety MM contained the highest

amount of kernel anthocyanins, total phenols and condensed tannins, the values being 4.26 \pm

0.21 C3G, 11.67 \pm 0.02 GAE and 44.68 \pm 1.77 EE/kg kernels, respectively (Table 2.3). It

was observed that in all the polyphenol-rich corn varieties, anthocyanin pigments were mainly concentrated in pericarp. Furthermore, the pericarp thickness was greatest for the variety MM which also contained the highest polyphenolic compounds, an important observation which could help in further breeding efforts (Fig 2.10 and 2.11). The mean dry milling yield of corn pericarp was highest for the variety MM at 6.51%, db (Table 2.2), which could be explained based on histological observations. The pericarp of variety O128 did not contain any pigments, but they were identified in aleurone layer just beneath the pericarp (Fig. 2.10); this is consistent with previous reports of clear pericarp/pigmented aleurone varieties such as O128 (Li et al., 2017).



Fig. 2.10. Comparisons of pericarp (A) and aleurone (B) thicknesses at four select locations S1 (side 1), S2 (side 2), B1 (back) and E (embryo) of kernels from six colored corn varieties. Presented are the mean values from five replicates Note: AP: Apache purple, PBP: Purple butcher purple, MM: Maiz morado, HM20: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado 2020, HM21: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado 2021, 0128: Oaxaca 128



Fig. 2.11. Comparison of pericarp thickness in the five varieties with the highest pericarp anthocyanin concentration and a clear pericarp control (O128). Aleurone layer can be observed underneath the pigmented pericarp layer. The variety O128 had a clear pericarp and most of the pigments were identified in aleurone layer. All figures are the same scale; bar = $20 \mu m$

Note: MM: Maiz morado, HM20: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado 2020, HM21: Hopi/Cherry pericarp x Maiz morado 2021, PBP: Purple butcher purple, AP: Apache purple, 0128: Oaxaca 128

2.4 Conclusions

The evaluated colored corn varieties had a lower mean starch content (65.28%, db) than conventional yellow dent corn (75.19%, db). However, the mean protein content was $\sim 1.70\%$ (db) higher. Since the conventional corn processing industry is mainly interested in starch, yellow dent varieties have been selected based on their starch contents. In this study, most of the processed colored varieties had a dominant softer endosperm composition with mean large grits yield of 22.98% (db), which was lower compared to the mean yields from hard endosperm varieties (>40.00%, db). Corn varieties with a relatively harder endosperm composition are preferred in the corn dry milling industry as they yield a greater fraction of large grits used in making breakfast cereals. However, softer endosperm varieties are preferred in corn wet milling and corn dry grind industry as it is relatively earlier to free starch molecules from the surrounding protein matrix. Therefore, the evaluated colored corn varieties were found to be suitable for corn wet milling and dry grind industries, accounting for most of the US corn utilization. Although, the control variety MM contained the highest amounts of anthocyanins, total phenols, and condensed tannins (4.26 g C3G, 11.67 g GAE, and 44.68 g epicatechin equivalents/kg corn, respectively), four of the experimental varieties, namely, HM20, HM21, PBP, and AP were identified to be rich sources of polyphenolic compounds. In all the varieties, the greatest concentrations of polyphenolic compounds were identified in corn pericarp, a low-value cellulosic coproduct of the corn processing industry. HPLC analyses were performed on five select varieties for identifying and quantifying the individual anthocyanins, phenols, and flavonoids. Cyanidin-3-glucoside and cyanidin chloride were the most prevalent anthocyanins whereas ferulic and caffeic acids were the predominant phenols. Epicatechin was the most abundant flavonoid, while quercetin,

naringenin and kaempferol were also detected. Significant antioxidant activities were observed in pericarp extracts of five selected varieties in four different antioxidant assays. Histological analysis confirmed the concentration of pigments in corn pericarp and the variety with the highest polyphenolic content was observed to have the thickest pericarp. Conventionally adapted and midwestern-grown colored corn varieties with higher amounts of value-added bioactive compounds in pericarp can be potentially valorized for diverse agroindustrial applications and can supplement the lower economic value of yellow dent corn.

References:

American Association of Cereal Chemists International, (2010). *Approved Methods of Analysis*, eleventh ed. AACC International, St. Paul, MN.

Andriambeloson, E., line Magnier, C., Haan-Archipoff, G., Lobstein, A., Anton, R., Beretz, A., Claude Stoclet, J., Andriantsitohaina, R., (1998). Biochemical and Molecular Roles of Nutrients Natural Dietary Polyphenolic Compounds Cause Endothelium-Dependent Vasorelaxation in Rat Thoracic Aorta, *The Journal of Nutrition*, 128, 2324-2333. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/128.12.2324

Añibarro-Ortega, M., Pinela, J., Ćirić, A., Martins, V., Rocha, F., Soković, M. D., Barata, A. M., Carvalho, A. M., Barros, L., Ferreira, I. C. F. R., (2020). Valorisation of table tomato crop by-products: Phenolic profiles and in vitro antioxidant and antimicrobial activities. *Food and Bioproducts Processing*, 124, 307–319. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FBP.2020.09.006 Association of Official Analytical Chemists, (2005). *Official Methods of Analysis*, eighteenth ed. AOAC, Gaithersburg, MD.

Birt, D. F., Jeffery, E., (2013). Flavonoids. *Advances in Nutrition*, 4, 576–577. https://doi.org/10.3945/an.113.004465

BloombergNEF 2022. EVO Report (2022) | *Bloomberg Finance LP*, URL https://about.bnef.com/electric-vehicle-outlook

Boateng, I. D., Yang, X. M., (2021). Do non-thermal pretreatments followed by intermediate-wave infrared drying affect toxicity, allergenicity, bioactives, functional groups, and flavor components of Ginkgo biloba seed? A case study. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 165, 113421. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2021.113421</u>

Boateng, I. D., Yang, X. M., Tahany, A. A. A., Li, Y. Y., Yolandani, (2021). Drying methods affect organoleptic and physicochemical properties of rehydrated ginkgo seed slices. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 160, 113166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2020.113166 Chatham, L. A., West, L., Berhow, M. A., Vermillion, K. E., Juvik, J. A., (2018). Unique Flavanol-Anthocyanin Condensed Forms in Apache Red Purple Corn. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 66, 10844–10854.

https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.JAFC.8B04723

Chen, C., Somavat, P., Singh, V., de Mejia, E. G., (2017). Chemical characterization of proanthocyanidins in purple, blue, and red maize coproducts from different milling processes and their anti-inflammatory properties. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 109, 464-475. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2017.08.046

Correa, C. E. S., Shaver, R. D., Pereira, M. N., Lauer, J. G., Kohn, K., (2002). Relationship between corn vitreousness and ruminal in situ starch degradability. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 85, 3008–3012. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(02)74386-5

Cristianini, M., Guillén Sánchez, J. S., (2020). Extraction of bioactive compounds from purple corn using emerging technologies: A review. *Journal of Food Science*, 85, 862–869. https://doi.org/10.1111/1750-3841.15074

Cuevas Montilla, E., Hillebrand, S., Antezana, A., Winterhalter, P., (2011). Soluble and bound phenolic compounds in different Bolivian purple corn (*Zea mays* L.) cultivars. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 59, 7068–7074. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/JF201061X</u> Das, A. K., Singh, V., (2016). Antioxidative free and bound phenolic constituents in botanical fractions of Indian specialty maize (*Zea mays* L.) genotypes. *Food Chemistry*, 201, 298–306. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2016.01.099</u>
Eckert, C. T., Frigo, E. P., Albrecht, L. P., Albrecht, A. J. P., Christ, D., Santos, W. G., Berkembrock, E., Egewarth, V. A., (2018). Maize ethanol production in Brazil: Characteristics and perspectives. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 82, 3907-3912. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2017.10.082

Farm Bureau, (2020). Corn Acres Should Be Reconsidered in 2020. *Farm Bureau*, https://www.fb.org/market-intel/corn-acres-should-be-reconsidered-in-2020.

Folts, J. D, (1998). Antithrombotic potential of grape juice and red wine for preventing heart attacks. *Pharmaceutical biology*, 36, 21-27.

George, J., Edwards, D., Pun, S., Williams, D., (2022). Evaluation of Antioxidant Capacity (ABTS and CUPRAC) and Total Phenolic Content (Folin-Ciocalteu) Assays of Selected Fruit, Vegetables, and Spices. *International Journal of Food Science*, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/2581470

González-Manzano, S., Pérez-Alonso, J. J., Salinas-Moreno, Y., Mateus, N., Silva, A. M. S., de Freitas, V., Santos-Buelga, C., (2008). Flavanol–anthocyanin pigments in corn: NMR characterisation and presence in different purple corn varieties. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 21, 521–526. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JFCA.2008.05.009

Hill, J., (2022). The sobering truth about corn ethanol. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 119, e2200997119. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.2200997119

Hosu, A., Cimpoiu, C., David, L., Moldovan, B., (2016). Study of the Antioxidant Property Variation of Cornelian Cherry Fruits during Storage Using HPTLC and Spectrophotometric Assays. *Journal of Analytical Methods in Chemistry*, 2345375.

https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/2345375

Hou, D. X., (2003). Potential Mechanisms of Cancer Chemoprevention by Anthocyanins, *Current Molecular Medicine*, 2, 149-159. https://doi.org/10.2174/1566524033361555 Kah, (2018). Electric Vehicles and Their Impact on Oil Demand: Why Forecasts Differ. *Center on Global Energy Policy at Columbia University*,

https://www.energypolicy.columbia.edu/publications/electric-vehicles-and-their-impact-oil-demand-why-forecasts-differ.

Kandil, A., Li, J., Vasanthan, T., Bressler, D. C., (2012). Phenolic acids in some cereal grains and their inhibitory effect on starch liquefaction and saccharification. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 60, 8444–8449. https://doi.org/10.1021/JF3000482

Karaaslan, N. M., Karaaslan, M. G., Ates, B., (2018). Effects of Some Extraction Solvents on the Antioxidant Properties of Strawberry Fruit. *International Journal of Pure and Applied Sciences*, https://doi.org/10.29132/ijpas.354885

Lao, F., Giusti, M. M., (2016). Quantification of Purple Corn (Zea mays L.) Anthocyanins Using Spectrophotometric and HPLC Approaches: Method Comparison and Correlation. *Food Analytical Methods*, 9, 1367–1380. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12161-015-0318-0

Lao, F., Sigurdson, G. T., Giusti, M. M., (2017). Health Benefits of Purple Corn (Zea mays L.) Phenolic Compounds. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, 16(2), 234-246. https://doi.org/10.1111/1541-4337.12249

Lark, T. J., Hendricks, N. P., Smith, A., Pates, N., Spawn-Lee, S. A., Bougie, M., Booth, E. G., Kucharik, C. J., Gibbs, H. K., (2022). Environmental outcomes of the US Renewable Fuel Standard. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 119, e2101084119. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.2101084119

Lee, J., Durst, R. W., Wrolstad, R. E., (2005). Determination of total monomeric anthocyanin pigment content of fruit juices, beverages, natural colorants, and wines by the pH differential

method: Collaborative study. *Journal of AOAC international*, 88, 1269–1278. https://doi.org/10.1093/jaoac/88.5.1269

Li, Q., Singh, V., de Mejia, E. G., Somavat, P., (2019). Effect of sulfur dioxide and lactic acid in steeping water on the extraction of anthocyanins and bioactives from purple corn pericarp. *Cereal Chemistry*, 96, 575–589. https://doi.org/10.1002/cche.10157

Li, Q., Somavat, P., Singh, V., Chatham, L., de Mejia, E. G., (2017). A comparative study of anthocyanin distribution in purple and blue corn coproducts from three conventional fractionation processes. *Food Chemistry*, 231, 332–339.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2017.03.146

Liu, K., Barrows, F. T., (2013). Methods to recover value-added coproducts from dry grind processing of grains into fuel ethanol. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 61, 7325–7332. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/jf402226r</u>

Liu, R. H., (2004). Potential Synergy of Phytochemicals in Cancer Prevention: Mechanism of Action. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 134, 3479S-3485S. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/134.12.3479s Meiers, S., Kemény, M., Weyand, U., Gastpar, R., Von Angerer, E., Marko, D., (2001). The anthocyanidins cyanidin and delphinidin are potent inhibitors of the epidermal growth-factor receptor. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 49, 958–962. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf0009100

Méndez-Lagunas, L. L., Cruz-Gracida, M., Barriada-Bernal, L. G., Rodríguez-Méndez, L. I., (2020). Profile of phenolic acids, antioxidant activity and total phenolic compounds during blue corn tortilla processing and its bioaccessibility. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 57, 4688–4696. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13197-020-04505-3

Moreau, R. A., Powell, M. J., Hicks, K. B., (1996). Extraction and Quantitative Analysis of Oil from Commercial Corn Fiber. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 44, 2149–2154. https://doi.org/10.1021/JF950743H

Moreno, Y. S., Sánchez, G. S., Hernández, D. R., Lobato, N. R., (2005). Characterization of Anthocyanin Extracts from Maize Kernels. *Journal of Chromatographic Science*, 43, 483–487. https://doi.org/10.1093/CHROMSCI/43.9.483

Munteanu, I. G., Apetrei, C., (2021). Analytical Methods Used in Determining Antioxidant Activity: A Review. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 22, 3380. https://doi.org/10.3390/IJMS22073380

Oh, Y. S., Lee, J. H., Yoon, S. H., Oh, C. H., Choi, D. S., Choe, E., Jung, M. Y., (2008). Characterization and Quantification of Anthocyanins in Grape Juices Obtained from the Grapes Cultivated in Korea by HPLC/DAD, HPLC/MS, and HPLC/MS/MS. *Journal of Food Science*, 73, C378–C389. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1750-3841.2008.00756.X

Pedreschi, R., Cisneros-Zevallos, L., (2007). Phenolic profiles of Andean purple corn (Zea mays L.). *Food Chemistry*, 100, 956–963.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2005.11.004

Peniche-Pavía, H. A., Tiessen, A., (2020). Anthocyanin Profiling of Maize Grains Using DIESI-MSQD Reveals That Cyanidin-Based Derivatives Predominate in Purple Corn, whereas Pelargonidin-Based Molecules Occur in Red-Pink Varieties from Mexico. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 68, 5980–5994.

https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.JAFC.9B06336

Ramos-Escudero, F., Muñoz, A. M., Alvarado-Ortíz, C., Alvarado, Á., Yáñez, J. A., (2012). Purple Corn (Zea mays L.) Phenolic Compounds Profile and Its Assessment as an Agent Against Oxidative Stress in Isolated Mouse Organs. *Journal of Medicinal Food*, 15, 206–215. https://doi.org/10.1089/JMF.2010.0342

Ranilla, G. L., Christopher, A., Sarkar, D., Shetty, K., Chirinos, R., Campos, D., (2017). Phenolic Composition and Evaluation of the Antimicrobial Activity of Free and Bound Phenolic Fractions from a Peruvian Purple Corn (*Zea mays* L.) Accession. *Journal of Food Science*, 82, 2968–2976. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1750-3841.13973</u>

Ranilla, L. G., Huamán-Alvino, C., Flores-Báez, O., Aquino-Méndez, E. M., Chirinos, R., Campos, D., Sevilla, R., Fuentealba, C., Pedreschi, R., Sarkar, D., Shetty, K., (2019). Evaluation of phenolic antioxidant-linked in vitro bioactivity of Peruvian corn (Zea mays L.) diversity targeting for potential management of hyperglycemia and obesity. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 56, 2909–2924. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13197-019-03748-z

Ranilla, L. G., Rios-Gonzales, B. A., Ramírez-Pinto, M. F., Fuentealba, C., Pedreschi, R., Shetty, K., (2021). Primary and phenolic metabolites analyses, in vitro health-relevant bioactivity and physical characteristics of purple corn (*Zea mays* L.) grown at two andean geographical locations. *Metabolites*, 11, 722. https://doi.org/10.3390/metabol11110722 Rausch, K. D., Pruiett, L. E., Wang, P., Xu, L., Belyea, R. L., Tumbleson, M. E., (2009). Laboratory measurement of yield and composition of dry-milled corn fractions using a shortened, single-stage tempering procedure. *Cereal Chemistry*, 86, 434–438. https://doi.org/10.1094/CCHEM-86-4-0434

Renewable Fuels Association, (2022). 2022 Annual Industry Outlook. *Renewable Fuels Association*. https://ethanolrfa.org/resources/annual-industry-outlook

Rossi, A., Serraino, I., Dugo, P., Di Paola, R., Mondello, L., Genovese, T., Morabito, D., Dugo, G., Sautebin, L., Caputi, A. P., Cuzzocrea, S., (2003). Protective effects of anthocyanins from blackberry in a rat model of acute lung inflammation. *Free Radical Research*, 37, 891–900. https://doi.org/10.1080/1071576031000112690

Ruiz-Torralba, A., Guerra-Hernández, E. J., García-Villanova, B., (2018). Antioxidant capacity, polyphenol content and contribution to dietary intake of 52 fruits sold in spain. *CYTA – Journal of Food*, 16, 1131–1138. https://doi.org/10.1080/19476337.2018.1517828 Sharma, S., Pradhan, R., Manickavasagan, A., Thimmanagari, M., Dutta, A., (2021). Valorization and potential of condensed corn distillers solubles fractions from selective milling technology. *Biomass Conversion and Biorefinery*, 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1007/S13399-021-01614-7

Sharma, S., Pradhan, R., Manickavasagan, A., Thimmanagari, M., Dutta, A., (2020). Application of analytical pyrolysis to gain insights into proteins of condensed corn distillers solubles from selective milling technology. *Food and Bioproducts Processing*, 124, 354–368. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FBP.2020.09.011</u>

Shay, P. E., Trofymow, J. A., Constabel, C. P., (2017). An improved butanol-HCl assay for quantification of water-soluble, acetone: Methanol-soluble, and insoluble proanthocyanidins (condensed tannins). *Plant Methods*, 13, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13007-017-0213-3 Somavat, P., (2017). Evaluation and modification of processing techniques for recovery of anthocyanins from colored corn. [Doctoral thesis, *University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign*]

Somavat, P., Li, Q., de Mejia, E. G., Liu, W., Singh, V., (2016). Coproduct yield comparisons of purple, blue and yellow dent corn for various milling processes. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 87, 266–272. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2016.04.062

Somavat, P., Li, Q., Kumar, D., de Mejia, E. G., Liu, W., Rausch, K. D., Juvik, J. A., Tumbleson, M. E., Singh, V., (2017). A new lab scale corn dry milling protocol generating commercial sized flaking grits for quick estimation of coproduct yield and composition. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 109, 92–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2017.08.013 Sosulski, F., Krygier, K., Hogge, L., (1982). Composition of Phenolic Acids in Cereal and Potato Flours, *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 30(2), 337-340.

Suriano, S., Balconi, C., Valoti, P., Redaelli, R., (2021). Comparison of total polyphenols, profile anthocyanins, color analysis, carotenoids and tocols in pigmented maize. *Lwt*, 144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2021.111257

Tayal, M., Somavat, P., Rodriguez, I., Thomas, T., Christoffersen, B., Kariyat, R., (2020a). Polyphenol-rich purple corn pericarp extract adversely impacts herbivore growth and development. *Insects*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3390/insects11020098

Tayal, M., Somavat, P., Rodriguez, I., Martinez, L. & Kariyat, R., (2020b). Cascading effects of polyphenol-rich purple corn pericarp extract on pupal, adult, and offspring of tobacco hornworm (Manduca sexta L.). *Communicative & integrative biology*, 13, 43-53.

To, T. Q., Procter, K., Simmons, B. A., Subashchandrabose, S., Atkin, R., (2018). Low cost ionic liquid-water mixtures for effective extraction of carbohydrate and lipid from algae. *Faraday Discuss*, 206, 93–112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/c7fd00158d</u>

Trehan, S., Singh, N., Kaur, A., (2020). Diversity and relationship among grain, flour and starch characteristics of Indian Himalayan colored corn accessions. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 57, 3801–3813. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13197-020-04412-7

Trehan, S., Singh, N., Kaur, A., (2018). Characteristics of white, yellow, purple corn accessions: phenolic profile, textural, rheological properties and muffin making potential. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 55, 2334–2343. https://doi.org/10.1007/S13197-018-3171-5

Tsuda, T., Horio, F., Uchida, K., Aoki, H., Osawa, T., (2003). Nutrient-Gene Interactions Dietary Cyanidin 3-O-D-Glucoside-Rich Purple Corn Color Prevents Obesity and Ameliorates Hyperglycemia in Mice, *The Journal of Nutrition*, 133(7), 2125-2130. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/133.7.2125

USDA NASS, (2022). *National Agricultural Statistics Service* - Publications [WWW Document], URL https://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications.

Energy Information Administration, (2022). U.S. Field Production of Crude Oil (Thousand Barrels). *Energy Information Administration*.

https://www.eia.gov/dnav/pet/hist/LeafHandler.ashx?n=pet&s=mcrfpus1&f=a.

Vaughn, S. F., Berhow, M. A., Winkler-Moser, J. K., Lee, E., (2011). Formulation of a biodegradable, odor-reducing cat litter from solvent-extracted corn dried distillers grains. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 34, 999–1002.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.INDCROP.2011.03.005

Wardle, A. R., (2018). A Review of the Environmental Effects of the Renewable Fuel Standard's Corn Ethanol Mandate. *Center for Growth and Opportunity at Utah State University* 307175, https://doi.org/10.22004/ag.econ.307175

Xiang, Z., Runge, T., (2014). Co-production of feed and furfural from dried distillers' grains to improve corn ethanol profitability. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 55, 207–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.INDCROP.2014.02.025 Yang, Z., Chen, Z., Yuan, S., Zhai, W., Piao, X., Piao, X., (2009). Extraction and identification of anthocyanin from purple corn (*Zea mays* L.). *International Journal of Food Science & Technology*, 44, 2485–2492. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2621.2009.02045.x Yaqoob, S., Cai, D., Liu, M., Zheng, M., Zhao, C. B., Liu, J. S., (2019). Characterization of microstructure, physicochemical and functional properties of corn varieties using different analytical techniques. *International Journal of Food Properties*, 22(1), 572-582. https://doi.org/10.1080/10942912.2019.1596124 22, 572–582.

Chapter 3

Ultrasound-assisted extraction of polyphenols from purple corn pericarp in deep eutectic solvents

3.1 Introduction

Corn (*Zea mays* L.) domestication evidence dates to 2500 BCE. Initially domesticated in Southern Mexico, corn is now widely grown across the world (García-Lara & Serna-Saldivar, 2018). United States is the largest producer of corn followed by China and Brazil (World Grain, 2023). In 2022, an estimated 89.5 million acres of farmland was planted with corn in the US resulting in an overall production of 13.7 billion bushels. Most of the acreage is under yellow dent corn, which has been traditionally utilized by the corn dry grind, wet milling, and dry milling industries to produce fuel ethanol, animal feed, grits and flour, and hundreds of other industrially important products. However, 35-40% of the annual harvest is converted to ethanol, mainly using the corn dry grind process. Other than ethanol, most of processing byproducts such as distillers dried grains with solubles (DDGS), corn germ oil, and carbon dioxide have relatively lower economic values. Therefore, there have been a longstanding quest for value-addition in the industry. Despite considerable investment and research efforts by the scientific community, there have been few economic breakthroughs.

With the focus of the US corn breeders, growers, and processors directed towards higher yielding and higher starch containing yellow dent corn varieties, the economic potential of polyphenol-rich colored corn cultivars such as purple and blue corn has been largely overlooked. Despite having 8.6 to 6.7% less starch than the standard yellow dent corn (Somavat et al., 2016), colored corns have relatively higher quantities of phytoconstituents and can be economically exploited for their efficient recovery. In addition, due to the well-

documented health benefits associated with anthocyanins and polyphenolic compounds, colored corn cultivars have attracted the interest of scientists in recent years (Lao and Giusti, 2016). For above reasons, breeding practices have been suggested to boost the polyphenolic contents of corn cultivars using different methods, primarily starting with those traditionally grown in South and Central America (Colombo et al., 2021). Purple corn, also known as maiz morado, is a highly pigmented corn mutation grown in lower valleys of Ecuador, Peru, Argentina, and Bolivia (Lao et al., 2017; Lao & Giusti, 2016). Researchers have quantified significant amounts of phytochemicals such as anthocyanins, flavanol-anthocyanins, phenolic acids, and flavanols in colored corn cultivars and their polyphenolic extracts have demonstrated significant biological activities as antioxidant, anti-obesity, anti-cancer, and anti-inflammatory compounds *in-vitro* (Lao and Giusti, 2018; Ramos-Escudero et al., 2012; Somavat et al., 2018).

During the processing of corn kernel, numerous prime and byproducts are produced (Tayal et al., 2020). Pericarp is the outermost coat of the corn kernel and mainly consists of cellulose and hemicellulose. Humans cannot digest pericarp and it is considered a low-value byproduct of the processing industry, often utilized as a ruminant food. However, in case of colored corn varieties, most of the polyphenolic compounds have been identified to be concentrated in corn pericarp (Li et al., 2017; Somavat, 2017). Researchers proposed a novel method involving separation of polyphenol-rich colored corn pericarp at the front end of the process and selective extraction of separated pericarp for the economic recovery of natural red food dye and other value-added phytochemicals. These extracts could then be used as nutraceuticals or starting materials for synthesizing natural food colorants and biologically active food additives (Chen et al., 2017; Li et al., 2017; Li et al., 2019; Somavat, 2017).

Since the starch and protein containing corn endosperm fraction remains unaffected, it can be utilized by the conventional processing industry yielding significant process economic advantages.

Organic solvents are extensively used in industry for the extraction of polyphenolic compounds from various plant matrices due their higher effectiveness. However, the use of potentially harmful organic solvents and huge amounts of water consumed in these extractions is a cause of concern. As a result, there is an increased demand for the identification of environmentally friendly solvents (Slusarczyk et al., 2023). The most important factor necessitating the development of greener extraction techniques is the fact that the concerned consumers want finished products that have none or minimal potentially hazardous components in them. One approach for increasing the extraction efficiency of polyphenolic compounds such as anthocyanins, tannins, and phenols involves using organic solvents in conjunction with various assisted techniques such as microwave and ultrasound (Mir-Cerdà et al., 2023). The most used extraction solvents are ethanol, methanol, acetone, and hexane. The Code of Federal Regulations (CFR), Title 21 specifies the types of solvents that can used in food and drugs, the amount of maximum solvent residues the finished products can have and assigns the enforcement duties to the Food and Drug Administration (FDA). Included in the list are 1,3-butylene glycol, ethyl acetate, ethylene dichloride, isopropyl alcohol, methyl alcohol, methylene chloride and others. It is very difficult to extract diverse phytochemicals from highly complex plant matrices without using solvents since they accelerate the diffusion rate, help with bond breakage, and have higher specificity for targeted compounds. However, due to their potentially harmful effects on environment and human health, there is an increasing demand of novel, green solvents that are renewable,

have very little or no toxicity, biodegradable, recyclable, possess increased dissolving capacity, have desired specificity, and are economical to use. The quest for ideal solvents that meet all the above criteria is still ongoing.

Water is a green solvent used for extraction, but it is challenging to recycle after use, and pollution of water bodies after discharge is a significant hindrance. Also, some methods using water for extraction require special conditions such as subcritical water extraction requires higher temperature and pressure conditions, increasing the operational costs. Among different green solvents currently researched are ionic liquids and deep eutectic solvents (DES) (Chemat et al., 2019). Ionic liquids are formed when anions or cations are mixed, and they stay in a liquid form at room temperature (Choi & Verpoorte, 2019). These are considered desirable green solvents because of their non-volatile nature, low vapor pressure, lubricating and better hydraulic properties, low viscosity, extended range of solubility, and due to the relative ease of adjusting their acidity levels (Singh & Savoy, 2020). Another important class of solvents gaining popularity are DES. First discovered by Abbott et al., (2001), during their research on finding the reasons behind some salts existing in a liquid state at room temperatures and in their quest for modify the properties of new moisturestable, Lewis-acidic ionic liquids formed using various metal ions. They discovered that choline chloride (ChCl), when mixed in a set molar ratio with different compounds turned into liquids and the liquid mix had a lower freezing point than the individual freezing points of the constituents. This kickstarted increased research interest in DES. These solvents are defined as binary, ternary, and quaternary salts that form a molten mix at temperatures below their individual melting points when mixed at set molar ratios. The underlying phenomenon involves change in charge by hydrogen bonding between a hydrogen-donating atom and a

hydrogen-accepting atom (Abbott et al., 2004). Most DESs are constituted from nontoxic, biodegradable compounds; thus, they make up excellent green solvents that can be used for research and industry (Choi & Verpoorte, 2019).

Various researchers have reported using DESs for efficiently extracting polyphenolic compounds. For example, 42.4 mg of cyanidin-3,5-diglucoside equivalents/g of grape skin, 149.5 mg, 5.9 mg, and 17.8 mg of quercetin, kaempferol and isorhamnetin equivalent/g of Flos sophorae, and 37.0 mg of gallic acid equivalent/g of purple corn cob, respectively, were extracted using DES (Barba et al., 2022; Jeong et al., 2015; Nam et al., 2015). In addition to environmentally friendly solvents, there is an increased scientific interest in novel extraction techniques, that may reduce the amount of solvents used as well as lower the extraction times. To this effect, ultrasound or microwave-based extraction methods are extensively researched as they vastly increase the solvent penetration rate in complex plant matrices. The high-frequency vibrations or cavitations formed by ultrasound causes one or a mix of effects including fragmentation, increased absorption, increased shear force, localized erosion, and increased swelling index, which are responsible for increased extraction of bioactive compounds (Kumar et al., 2021). The ultrasound effect can be variably applied using multiple factors such as wave frequency, ultrasound power, time, temperature, and the ratio of solute to solvent (Dzah et al., 2020).

There is a rich abundance of anthocyanins and other polyphenolic compounds in purple corn. Most of these phytochemicals have been identified in corn pericarp, which can be selectively processed for their economical extraction. To the best of our knowledge, none of the researchers have investigated the use of DESs for extracting purple corn pericarp phenolics.

Furthermore, there is no reported study on the synergistic effects of DESs and ultrasoundassisted extraction for recovering phenolics (anthocyanins, flavonoids, and condensed tannins) from purple corn pericarp. Therefore, the aim of this research was to formulate, and characterize various DES combinations and to evaluate them in conjunction with ultrasoundassisted extraction technique for their potential to extract bioactive compounds from purple corn pericarp.

3.2 Materials and methods

3.2.1 Materials

Purple corn was procured from Woodland Foods (Waukegan, IL). Corn was stored in a freezer at -4 °C and pericarp was separated from the kernels using a lab scale dry milling protocol proposed by Rausch et al., (2009). Separated pericarp was powdered using a Hamilton Beach coffee grinder, sieved through a 500 µm pore size mesh for homogeneity, packed in low density polythene bags and stored in a freezer at -4 °C until analyzed. Choline chloride >98%, 1,4-butanediol 99%, 1,3-butanediol 99%, lactic acid 90%, DL-malic acid, glycerol 99+%, sodium acetate, ethylene glycol 99+%, citric acid 99%, levulinic acid 98%, and glucose 99.5+% were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). All the standards for anthocyanins (cyanidin-3-glucoside, cyanidin chloride, delphinidin, malvidin and peonidin), flavonoids (epicatechin, kaempferol, morin, naringin and quercetin), phenolic acids (caffeic acid, chlorogenic acid, ferulic acid, gallic acid, and hesperidin) and other chemicals used for HPLC, spectrophotometric, and antioxidant analysis were bought from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). The deionized water used for all other experiments was sourced from Milli-Q H2O purification system (Millipore®, MA, USA). Other reagents and

solvents used in the experiments were of analytical grades and did not undergo any purification prior to usage.

3.2.2 Preparation of DES

A total of 19 different DES combinations were prepared by using a modified heating and stirring method described by Fu et al., (2021). Different constituents of DES combinations and the ratios of individual components is depicted in Table 3.1. Constituents combined at specific ratios were put in a sealed glass tube with a stir bar and placed in a heated oil bath set at 80 °C and the mix was stirred continuously. The time taken by various DES mixtures to convert to a transparent liquid state varied from 30 minutes to an hour. Upon attaining a transparent liquid state, the DES solvents were considered to be formulated and stored at 4 °C until further use. The first three solvent combinations containing 1,3-butanediol and 1,4butanediol were found to be unstable. Although they attained a clear liquid state after heating, however with time, the constituents precipitated and thus those combinations were excluded from the later study. Choline chloride has a quaternary structure and is considered safe due to its presence in plants and animals, was the most prevalent constituent of prepared DES combinations. It can accept two hydrogen atoms and acts as a hydrogen bond acceptor (HBA) in DES. The heating and stirring method was found to be well suited to the constituents in this study as they were in a liquid state (lactic acid, glycerol, ethylene glycol, 1,3-butanediol), and a temperature of 80 °C was chosen to melt the constituents as described by Ali et al., (2019). Various research groups have reported using similar combinations for the extraction of anthocyanins and polyphenols from different plants and plant parts (Alam et al., 2021; Bajkacz & Adamek, 2018; Hammond et al., 2017; Pal & Jadeja, 2020; Wang et al., 2019; L. H. Xu et al., 2021; Zannou et al., 2020).

| Solvent | HBD | HBA | Component | Ratio | References |
|---------------|-----------------|----------------|-------------|-------|--------------------------|
| DES 1 | 1,3-Butanediol | ChCl | | 2:1 | (Wang et al., 2019) |
| DES 2 | 1,3-Butanediol | ChCl | | 3:1 | - |
| DES 3 | 1,4-Butanediol | ChCl | | 2:1 | - |
| DES 4 | 1,4-Butanediol | ChCl | | 3:1 | - |
| DES 5 | Lactic acid | Glucose | Water | 5:1:3 | (Xu et al., 2021) |
| DES 6 | Lactic acid | ChCl | | 1:1 | (Bajkacz & Adamek, 2018) |
| DES 7 | Lactic acid | Sodium acetate | Water | 3:1:4 | (Pal & Jadeja, 2020) |
| DES 8 | Malic acid | ChCl | Water | 1:1:2 | (Hammond et al., 2017) |
| DES 9 | Glycerol | ChCl | | 2:1 | (Silva et al., 2020) |
| DES 10 | Glycerol | ChCl | | 3:1 | - |
| DES 11 | Ethylene glycol | ChCl | | 2:1 | (Zannou & Koca, 2022) |
| DES 12 | Glycerol | ChCl | | 3:2 | (Silva et al., 2020) |
| DES 13 | Glycerol | Lactic acid | | 2:1 | (Velásquez et al., 2021) |
| DES 14 | Glycerol | Citric acid | | 4:1 | (Silva et al., 2020) |
| DES 15 | Levulinic acid | ChCl | | 2:1 | (Xu et al., 2019) |
| DES 16 | Levulinic acid | ChCl | | 3:1 | - |
| DES 17 | ChCl | Glycerol | Citric acid | 1:4:1 | (Silva et al., 2020) |
| DES 18 | 1,3-Butanediol | ChCl | | 4:1 | (Alam et al., 2021) |
| DES 19 | 1,4-Butanediol | ChCl | | 4:1 | - |

Table 3.1. Chemical composition and molar ratios of different DES combinations evaluated in this study

3.2.3 Infrared spectrum measurement

Various DES combinations were analyzed using ATR-FTIR spectrometer (Nicolet 380, Thermo Scientific, USA) for confirming the formulation of desired chemical bonds. The solvents were tested at a spectral resolution of 4 cm⁻¹ between 4000 and 400 cm⁻¹ at a rate of 32 scans per minute. Following the collection of all the spectra, the data were evaluated utilizing Omnic software (OMNICTM Series, Thermo Scientific, USA).

3.2.4 Solvatochromic parameters measurement

The polarity of the different solvent mixtures was measured using Nile red (Jeong et al., 2017). Nile red was used as a solvatochromic probe, and a stock solution of 0.5 mg mL⁻¹ in methanol was prepared and stored at 4 °C. Later the stock solution was mixed with the DES in a ratio of 1:10,000, and the maximum wavelength was noted between a range of 400 to 800 nm using a microplate reading spectrophotometer (Multiskan Sky, Thermo Scientific, USA). The polarity was expressed as molar transition energy (E_T (NR)) according to Eq. (1)

$$E_T$$
 (NR) = h × c × v_{max} × N_A = $\frac{28591}{\lambda_{max}}$

Where h denotes the Planck constant, the velocity of light is denoted by c, v_{max} stands for the highest number of wave absorbance, N_A is the Avogadro constant, and λ_{max} is the absorption spectra of the dye.

3.2.5 Measurement of various physical properties

Viscosity was measured using a Rheometer (Kinexus Pro; NETZZSCH, Selb, Germany) fitted with plate geometry diameter of 20 mm (PU20 SR1740 SS). Each solvent was analyzed on a temperature ramp from 20 °C to 50 °C at a rate of 5 °C min⁻¹. Uniform gap of 1 mm was maintained and a constant shear rate of 10 s⁻¹ was used (Castro et al., 2018). The pH of DES was measured using a Thermo Scientific Orion Star A211 pH analyzer (Thermo Scientific, USA) which was calibrated using standard solutions of pH 4.01 and 7.00 (Alrugaibah et al., 2021).

3.2.6 Polyphenol extraction

Prepared DES solution was mixed with pericarp powder in a 50 mL centrifuge tube and placed in a circulating water bath set at 50 °C (Thermofisher scientific, USA). Ultrasonic probe (Sonic dismembrator, model FB505, Fisher scientific, USA) with a diameter of 9 mm was inserted in this centrifuge tube such that the tip of the probe was immersed in the liquid. Solid to solvent ratio of 1:50 was used and sonication was performed for 10 minutes with an amplitude of 30% and a pulse duration of 10 seconds on and 2 seconds off. After 10 min, 5

mL of water was added, and the extract was centrifuged at 4500 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C (Allegra X-15R, Beckman Coulter, Inc., USA). Later the extract was vacuum filtered using a Fisher brand grade P4 filter paper and the filtered extract was used for further analysis.

3.2.7 Total monomeric anthocyanin content

The total monomeric anthocyanin content of the extracts was measured using a pH differential method (Lee et al., 2005) Two pH buffers, pH 1.0 (0.25 M KCl) and pH 4.5 (0.40 M sodium acetate), were poured into separate centrifuge tubes to dilute the extract in a ratio of 1:20 and then vortexed. Afterwards, 200 µL sample was pipetted into a 96-well plate, and absorbance was read at 520 and 700 nm using a Multiskan SkyHigh Microplate Spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, USA). The results were calculated according to the following formula and presented as mg of cyanidin-3-glucoside equivalent per g of pericarp: Total monomeric anthocyanins (mg/g) = A * MW * D * 1000) / (E * PL * 0.45) here: A = (A520 – A700) at pH 1.0 – (A520 – A700) at pH 4.5; MW = 449.2 g/mol for C3G; D = dilution factor; PL = constant path length 1 cm; $\mathcal{E} = 26,900$ L/mol.cm which is the molar extinction coefficient for C3G, 1000 as a conversion factor from grams to milligrams, and 0.45 as the conversion factor from the established method to the plate reader method.

3.2.8 Total condensed tannins

Also known as proanthocyanidins, condensed tannins were calculated according to a previously described method (Boateng & Yang, 2021a) wherein vanillin was condensed onto a phloroglucinol nucleus which was catalyzed by H₂SO₄. Firstly, catechin or extract (200 μ L) was taken in a centrifuge tube followed by the addition of 1 mL of freshly prepared vanillin in methanol (3% w/v). Afterwards, 1 mL of H₂SO₄/methanol (30% v/v) was added, the mixture was vortexed and placed in a water bath for 20 min at 30 °C. After that absorbance

was read at 500 nm in a Multiskan SkyHigh Microplate Spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, USA) using 96-well plates. The standard curve was applied to determine the CT and reported as mg of epicatechin (EE) equivalent/g of pericarp.

3.2.9 Total flavonoids content

A modified method reported by Boateng et al., (2021) was used to measure total flavonoids content. Briefly, in a 500 μ L sample of extract or catechin standard in a centrifuge tube, 2 mL distilled water was added, which was followed by an addition of 150 μ L of NaNO₂ (5% w/v). After waiting for 6 min, 150 μ L of AlCl₃.6H₂O (10% w/v) was added and the mixture was kept for 6 min at room temperature. Later, 2 mL of NaOH (4% w/v) was added. The total volume was made 5 mL by adding distilled water, and after waiting for 15 min, the mixture was vortexed and 200 μ L sample was pipetted in 96-well plates, and absorbance was read at 510 nm using a Multiskan SkyHigh Microplate Spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, USA). Total flavonoid content was calculated using the absorbance at 510 nm and expressed as mg catechin (CE) equivalent/g of pericarp.

3.2.10 HPLC analysis for anthocyanins, phenolic acids, and flavonoid profile

The HPLC analysis for various polyphenols was performed using an Agilent 1200 series instrument coupled with DAD and a C18 column (5 μ m, 250 mm × 4.6 mm, Avantor®, USA). The vacuum-filtered original extract was diluted thrice and then filtered using a 0.22 μ m nylon syringe filter.

For anthocyanin quantification, a modified method described by Oh et al., (2008) was applied. Two mobile phases used were A (5% formic acid in water) and B (5% formic acid in acetonitrile), which were run through the stationary phase at a gradient of 5% B (5 min); 100% B (35 min); 100% B (40 min); 5% B (45 min) at an injection volume of 10 μL and a

flow rate of 1 mL/min at a column temperature of 35 $^{\circ}$ C. Anthocyanin standards of cyanidin-3-glucoside, delphinidin, cyanidin chloride, peonidin chloride, malvidin chloride, and pelargonidin chloride were used, and the peaks were measured at a wavelength of 520 nm. Phenolic acid profile was studied using mobile phase A (0.1% acetic acid in water) and mobile phase B (0.1% acetic acid in methanol), which were run at a variable gradient of 5% B (0 min); 20% B (15 min); 40% B (35 min); 65% B (42 min); 80% B (50 min); 5% B (52 min); and 5% B (60 min) at a constant flow rate of 1 mL/min, constant temperature of 25 $^{\circ}$ C and autosampler injection volume of 10 µL (Kandil et al., 2012). Extracts were compared against gallic acid, chlorogenic acid, caffeic acid, ferulic acid, and hesperidin standards using multiple wavelengths of 254, 280 and 360 nm.

For flavonoid characterization, epicatechin, morin, quercetin, naringin and kaempferol standards were baseline separated at wavelengths of 261, 280, 320 and 360 nm using mobile phases A (water at pH 2.8) and B (100% acetonitrile) with a gradient flow of mobile phase as 10% B (5 min); 23% B (31 min); and 35% B (43 min). Finally, the column was washed (100% B, 4 min) and equilibrated (100% A, 3 min). This was carried out at a constant flow rate of 1 mL/min, injection volume of 5 μ L, at a constant column temperature of 25 °C. All the values were calculated based on the standard curves and reported as mg/g equivalent of the respective compounds in purple corn pericarp.

3.2.11 Antioxidant activity measurement

3.2.11.1 DPPH scavenging capacity

DPPH (1,2-diphenylpicrylhydrazyl) working solution was prepared by mixing 5 mg of DPPH in 100 mL methanol. The mix was kept in dark for two hours, and the absorbance value was verified to be within a range of 0.702 to 0.715, as discussed by Boateng & Yang, (2021b).

Later, the extract or Trolox was mixed with DPPH in a ratio of 1:4 and incubated for 30 min in dark. Spectrophotometric evaluation was done at 520 nm. Results were expressed in terms of mg Trolox equivalent (TE)/g of pericarp.

3.2.11.2 ABTS scavenging capacity

A previously reported method was used for ABTS scavenging assay (Boateng and Yang, 2021). The stock solution for the assay was prepared by mixing ABTS or 2,2-azino-bis-(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid) (7 mM, 10 mL) and 166 μ L of 140 mmol K₂S₂O₈ and the solution was let to react overnight in dark. Following the method used by Boateng & Yang, (2021), a working solution was prepared by adding 1.2 mL of this mother solution in 60 mL of deionized water (DI) water and the pH was adjusted to 0.700 ± 0.004. Next, the extract or Trolox were mixed to this working solution in a ratio of 1:9 and the solution was let to react for 10 min in dark followed by absorbance measurements at 734 nm. The ABTS scavenging ability was expressed in terms of mg TE/g of pericarp.

3.2.11.3 Cupric ion-reducing antioxidant capacity (CUPRAC) assay

Following a previous described method, the working solution was prepared by mixing neocuproine (7.5 mM), H₂O, CuCl₂ (10 mM), and NH₄Ac (1 M) in equal proportions and kept at 25 °C for 60 min (Boateng & Yang, 2021). The working solution (800 μ L) was mixed with 20 μ L of extract or Trolox and incubated for 60 minutes at 25 °C followed by absorbance measurements at 450 nm. The results were expressed as mg TE/g of pericarp.

3.2.12 Statistical analysis

All the experiments were conducted in triplicates and results were presented as mean \pm standard deviation. The software used for statistical purposes was Minitab version 18 (Minitab Inc. State College, Pennsylvania, USA). Tukey's test was run to compare means at

p < 0.05. Diagrams were prepared using Origin Pro 9.1 software (Origin Lab Inc., Northampton, Massachusetts, USA).

3.3 Results and discussion

3.3.1 Characterization of DES

Prepared DESs were scanned using a FT-IR spectrometer, and the collected IR spectra were analyzed to check whether the O-H, C–O, C–C, and other bonds were formed in the solutions and whether there were some underlying differences in the formulations. In general, the spectra collected from most of the DES were similar with significant peaks occurring at 866. 952, 1040, 1120, 1160, 1240, 1370, 1450, 1710, 2870, 2950, and 3310 cm⁻¹, respectively (Fig. 3.1). Starting from the functional group region of the IR spectrum (>1500 cm⁻¹) in the wavenumber range of 3200–3550 cm⁻¹, the distinctively strong O-H stretching, and broad vibrations were observed in solvents which implied the presence of intermolecular O-H bonds, formed between ChCl and the hydrogen donor compounds, that might be an acid or an alcohol. All the solvents had these O-H stretching bonds present; however, some did not have very prominent intermolecular bonds and showed less transmittance. These were mainly the solvents prepared using levulinic acid as a hydrogen bond donor (HBD), which could be due to the protons of the hydroxyl group in ChCl interacted with the carbonyl group of levulinic acid, and the resulting bonds were shifted or were not that strong (Gajardo-Parra et al., 2019). An observation of C-H stretching medium vibrations suggest the presence of alkanes or C-C since these were present in the range of 2840–3000 cm⁻¹. Next was the intense peak at 1720 cm⁻¹, which corresponds to C=O stretching. These were absent in the DES solutions prepared using alcohols as HBDs and ChCl as HBA. These observations were in agreement with studies by Jurić et al., (2021) and Yue et al., (2022), and the observed IR

spectrums resembled the results reported in their studies. In fingerprint region (<1500 cm⁻¹), the spectrums represented C–H bending and O–H bending with small sharp bands followed by medium bands of O–H bending in the 1310–1390 cm⁻¹ range. Solvents prepared using lactic acid, citric acid, and levulinic acid, including DES 5, 6, 7, 13, 14, 15, 16, and 17, showed C–O stretching bands at wavenumbers from 1200–1275 cm⁻¹. Furthermore, a prominent CO–O–CO stretching band was present at 1040 cm⁻¹, and C=C bending absorption bands were also observed in the 790–995 cm⁻¹. Following these were alkyl halides with Br and Cl identified in range of 600–400 cm⁻¹ (AlOmar, 2016; Smith, 2018; Millipore sigma, 2023).



Fig. 3.1. Graph depicting transmittance in DES combinations during FTIR analysis

Note: Major bonds are highlighted in red boxes with the bonds identified on the top.

Various physicochemical characteristics of DES combinations are presented in Table 3.2. Firstly, the solvent viscosities were measured. According to Dai et al., (2016), viscosity plays an important part in an extraction procedure as the lower is the solvent viscosity, the higher is the mass transfer into the particle matrix, and more extraction is possible. According to Abbott, (2004) the correlation of viscosity with extraction process is based on the phenomenon that ions can transfer easily through the holes in the solvent at lower viscosity and vice versa, thus providing better conductivity. Another factor that plays a role is higher degree of hydrogen bonding which results in higher surface tension, making the DES interact strongly with the plant matrix immersed in it and boosting the solubilization of the plant parts, thus increasing the extraction (Huang et al., 2022). The initial viscosities of various DES at 20 °C ranged from 85 mPas to 16800 mPas and gradually decreased when the temperature was ramped to 50 $^{\circ}$ C at a linear rate (Fig. 3.2). The final viscosities of the solvents at 50 °C decreased experienced decreases ranging 3.5 times to 26 times, with the lowest and highest values being 7.58 mPa's (DES 11) and 746.20 mPa's (DES 14), respectively. Water could be added to lower the viscosities of DES combinations, but that could result in breakage of hydrogen bonds, thereby decreasing the extraction efficiency. Therefore, water was only added to the solvents after extraction so that filtering was easier, and the extracted polyphenols could dissolve properly. In this study, all the extractions were carried out at 50 °C, therefore the DES viscosities were lower than what it would be at room temperature.

Fig. 3.2. Graph for viscosities of different DES combinations with temperature ramp



| Solvent | Polarity (kcal/mol) | рН | Viscosity at 50 °C (Pa.s) |
|---------------|-----------------------|------------------------------|---------------------------|
| DES 4 | $50.63\pm0.08a$ | $4.84\pm0.09b$ | $0.0242\pm0.00hi$ |
| DES 5 | $46.80 \pm 1.55 f$ | $\textbf{-0.29} \pm 0.04 h$ | $0.1092 \pm 0.00 ef$ |
| DES 6 | $48.21 \pm 0.00 def$ | $1.03\pm0.03e$ | $0.0868\pm0.00fg$ |
| DES 7 | $49.64 \pm 0.00 abcd$ | $5.39\pm0.04a$ | $0.6246\pm0.02b$ |
| DES 8 | $47.86 \pm 0.04 ef$ | $\textbf{-0.11} \pm 0.01 gh$ | $0.1537 \pm 0.02e$ |
| DES 9 | $49.41 \pm 0.04 abcd$ | $4.32\pm0.04c$ | $0.0671 \pm 0.00 fghi$ |
| DES 10 | $49.64 \pm 0.00 abcd$ | $4.77\pm0.02b$ | $0.0627\pm0.01 fghi$ |
| DES 11 | $50.31\pm0.04ab$ | $5.33\pm0.07a$ | $0.0085 \pm 0.00i$ |
| DES 12 | $49.96 \pm 0.04 abc$ | $4.72\pm0.09b$ | $0.0674\pm0.01 fgh$ |
| DES 13 | $48.40\pm0.04de$ | $0.91 \pm 0.02 e$ | $0.0630\pm0.00 fghi$ |
| DES 14 | $47.78\pm0.04ef$ | $0.09\pm0.02g$ | $0.7463 \pm 0.04a$ |
| DES 15 | $48.87 \pm 0.00 bcde$ | $1.03 \pm 0.01e$ | $0.0465\pm0.00ghi$ |
| DES 16 | $48.54 \pm 0.00 cde$ | $0.56\pm0.03f$ | $0.0311 \pm 0.00 ghi$ |
| DES 17 | $47.70 \pm 0.08 ef$ | $0.10\pm0.03g$ | $0.4860 \pm 0.06c$ |
| DES 18 | $50.63\pm0.04a$ | $4.38\pm0.05c$ | $0.0209 \pm 0.00 hi$ |
| DES 19 | $50.37\pm0.04a$ | $3.73 \pm 0.22 d$ | $0.2352\pm0.01d$ |

 Table 3.2. Physicochemical properties of various DES combinations

Different lowercase letters in the same column indicate statistical differences (p < 0.05).

According to Craveiro et al., (2016), addition of water breaks the network of hydrogen bonds, causing the overall polarity of DES to decrease; hence the solvation capability of the solvent also decreases. However, Jeong et al., (2017) and Dai et al., (2016) reported that the polarity of the solvent did not have any effect on the extraction of compounds. In prepared DES samples, the Et (NR) values for polarity ranged from 50.63 ± 0.08 to 46.8 ± 1.55 kcal.mol⁻¹ with a difference of 3.83 kcal.mol⁻¹ (Table 3.2). Comparison of polarities of DES from other studies is difficult since the polarity scales are probe-dependent; thus, different solvatochromic probes may yield different polarity values (El Achkar et al., 2021). Most of the formulated DES combinations were observed to be acidic or highly acidic (Table 3.3). Their pH ranged from -0.11 \pm 0.01 (DES 8) at the higher end of the acidic scale to $5.39 \pm$ 0.04 (DES 7), a value closer to neutral. Overall, the pH values of prepared DES were in accordance with those reported by Alrugaibah et al., (2021). A lower pH value translates to an abundance of H⁺ ions present in the solvent. Since there was an abundance of flavylium cations in the extracts, anthocyanins and their derivatives were more stable at this lower pH (Deng et al., 2018).

3.3.2 Total monomeric anthocyanin content

Researchers have reported that most of the purple corn phenolics including anthocyanins, phenolic acids, flavonoids, and condensed tannins are concentrated in corn pericarp (Li et al., 2017; Somavat, 2017). Approximately 45.9% of the total anthocyanins contained in the whole purple corn kernel were quantified in pericarp fraction separated using lab scale corn dry milling. As far as separated pericarp fraction is concerned, a total anthocyanin content of 26.8 ± 0.06 g C3G equivalent per kg of purple corn pericarp was identified (Li et al., 2017). This amount was reported as a sum of three sequential extractions performed on ground pericarp sample. The first extraction cycle involved addition of 0.5 g pericarp in 20 mL of 2% aqueous formic acid and the supernatant was collected after continuous stirring at room temperature for 2 hr. Following supernatant recovery using a filter paper, the pericarp sample was again extracted in 2% aqueous formic acid for a further 2 hr with stirring. Following the second supernatant recovery, final extraction on pericarp sample was done in an aqueous ethanolic solution (20% v/v), acidified with 2% formic acid (Li et al., 2017). In this study, by using the combination of different DESs and 10 min ultrasound treatment, mean anthocyanin concentration of 22.12 g C3G equivalent per kg of pericarp was quantified. Various DES combinations could extract different amounts of anthocyanins ranging from 8.51 ± 0.88 g for DES 15 to 27.41 ± 0.74 g of C3G equivalent per kg of pericarp for DES 11, respectively, shown in Table 3.3. On the other hand, the combination of DI water and 10 min ultrasound treatment resulted in quantification of 22.79 ± 0.38 g C3G equivalent/kg of pericarp whereas

the combination of ethanol and water (50:50) followed by 10 min ultrasound treatment extracted 17.57 ± 0.89 g of C3G equivalent per kg of pericarp. In general, the solvents having alcohols as HBD were observed to be having higher extraction efficiencies compared to others with acids as HBD. The most efficient DES combinations for anthocyanin extraction contained glycerol, ethylene glycol, and 1,3 and 1,4-butanediol as HBD's. On similar lines, the aqueous ethanolic solvent combination also yielded higher amounts of anthocyanins. The differences were observed to be insignificant among alcohol-based DES combinations.

Table 3.3. Total anthocyanin content (TA), Total condensed tannins (CT), Total flavonoids content (TFC), and corresponding antioxidants activities (DPPH, ABTS, and CUPRAC assays) of purple corn pericarp extracts recovered using different DES

| Solvent | TA (mg C3G/g) | CT (mg EE/g) | TFC (mg CE/g) | DPPH (mg TE/g) | ABTS (mg TE/g) | CUPRAC (mg TE/g) |
|---------------|-----------------------|------------------------|---------------------------|-----------------------|----------------------------|-----------------------|
| DES 4 | $24.95 \pm 0.47 abc$ | $220.76\pm20.89ab$ | 32.27 ± 1.16b | $68.55\pm2.08h$ | $34.96\pm0.07a$ | $140.38\pm8.82 gh$ |
| DES 5 | $26.19 \pm 1.73 ab$ | $222.19\pm47.37ab$ | $26.95\pm4.22b$ | $66.55\pm0.41h$ | $30.62\pm0.06h$ | $146.86\pm12.86 fgh$ |
| DES 6 | $16.61 \pm 3.44 def$ | $200.94 \pm 23.80 abc$ | $27.13 \pm 4.18 \text{b}$ | $78.94 \pm 0.67 bcde$ | $32.32\pm0.17f$ | $197.26 \pm 5.89 cde$ |
| DES 7 | $23.23 \pm 3.58 abcd$ | $249.33 \pm 28.57a$ | $25.65 \pm 1.81 b$ | $80.45\pm0.46ab$ | $34.52\pm0.06c$ | $114.43\pm10.28h$ |
| DES 8 | $23.46 \pm 3.55 abcd$ | $226.88 \pm 4.12 ab$ | $34.55\pm2.11b$ | $79.44 \pm 0.39 bcd$ | $32.04\pm0.03 fg$ | $271.73\pm11.02b$ |
| DES 9 | $23.22\pm0.81 abcd$ | $222.22\pm17.28ab$ | $36.87\pm2.06b$ | $68.99\pm0.31h$ | $34.84 \pm 0.03 abc$ | $163.62\pm12.77 efg$ |
| DES 10 | $24.03 \pm 0.53 abcd$ | $212.51\pm17.01ab$ | $34.57\pm2.29b$ | $72.12\pm0.23g$ | $34.82\pm0.03abc$ | $150.91\pm6.99 fgh$ |
| DES 11 | $27.41\pm0.74a$ | $242.93\pm25.81a$ | $34.23\pm2.11b$ | $74.31\pm0.87 fg$ | $34.93 \pm 0.15 ab$ | $232.81 \pm 17.58 bc$ |
| DES 12 | $23.08 \pm 0.78 abcd$ | $204.30 \pm 18.07 abc$ | $35.00 \pm 4.24 b$ | $60.85\pm0.62i$ | $34.61 \pm 0.03 bc$ | $220.38 \pm 14.92 cd$ |
| DES 13 | $27.41 \pm 3.22a$ | $240.37\pm24.23a$ | $25.52\pm2.00b$ | $77.82 \pm 0.27 cde$ | $32.71\pm0.06e$ | $392.27\pm21.80a$ |
| DES 14 | $24.94 \pm 3.26 abc$ | $224.01\pm23.78ab$ | $24.81\pm2.17b$ | $76.38 \pm 0.32 ef$ | $31.97\pm0.13g$ | $140.38\pm4.26 gh$ |
| DES 15 | $8.51\pm0.88f$ | $146.13\pm7.57bc$ | $29.54 \pm 1.78 b$ | $77.38 \pm 0.09 de$ | $33.27\pm0.00d$ | $216.18\pm5.96cd$ |
| DES 16 | $10.91 \pm 1.63 ef$ | $162.94\pm17.71 abc$ | $27.54 \pm 7.91 b$ | $76.44 \pm 0.18 ef$ | $33.10\pm0.17d$ | $165.09 \pm 1.01 efg$ |
| DES 17 | $18.34 \pm 3.9 bcde$ | $230.49\pm35.52ab$ | $30.06\pm2.32b$ | $80.20 \pm 0.49 abc$ | $32.94 \pm 0.03 \text{de}$ | $181.46\pm3.50def$ |
| DES 18 | $25.77 \pm 1.71 abc$ | $209.09\pm34.14ab$ | $34.20\pm2.18b$ | $82.70\pm0.70a$ | $34.87 \pm 0.00 ab$ | $200.64 \pm 6.08 cde$ |
| DES 19 | $25.88 \pm 1.46 ab$ | $214.89 \pm 18.70 ab$ | $35.39\pm5.22b$ | $81.51\pm0.62ab$ | $34.70 \pm 0.03 abc$ | $168.34\pm6.01 efg$ |
| Water | $22.79 \pm 0.38 abcd$ | $197.84 \pm 2.61 abc$ | $54.97\pm0.32a$ | $74.56\pm0.72 fg$ | $34.75 \pm 0.12 abc$ | $169.57\pm12.01 efg$ |
| EtOH | $17.57 \pm 0.89 cde$ | $120.60 \pm 2.81c$ | $29.17 \pm 1.71b$ | $67.24\pm0.62h$ | 34.91 ± 0.14 ab | $63.61\pm2.07i$ |

Different lowercase letters in the same column indicate statistical differences (p < 0.05).

3.3.3 Total Condensed tannins content

Condensed tannins are classified as a distinct group within the broad category of polyphenols and demonstrate significant antimicrobial and antioxidant activities (Peng et al., 2018). Tannins also reportedly help in stabilizing colors by reacting with anthocyanins through copigmentation or condensation reactions (Li et al., 2017). Using the combination of DI water and ultrasound, 197.84 ± 2.61 g of epicatechin (EE) equivalent/kg of pericarp were quantified, whereas the ethanol and water blend (50:50) and ultrasound treatment resulted in a lower extraction, the value being 120.60 ± 2.81 g of EE/kg of pericarp (Table 3.3). Under similar extraction conditions, the DES combinations extracted a mean of 214.37 g of EE/kg of pericarp. For the evaluated DES combinations, quantified values of total condensed tannins ranged between 146.12 \pm 7.57 g (DES 15) to 249.33 \pm 28.57 g (DES 7) of EE/kg of pericarp, respectively. The DES formed using levulinic acid were observed to have extracted the lowest amounts, the values being 146.12 ± 7.57 g of EE/kg of pericarp (DES 15) and 162.94 ± 17.71 g of EE/kg of pericarp (DES 16), respectively. There have been no prior studies concerning the extraction of condensed tannins from colored corn varieties using DES. Boateng et al., (2023) reported an optimized microwave-assisted extraction experiment which yielded almost 279.48 g of EE/kg purple corn pericarp. In general, the purple corn pericarp has been reported to contain very high amounts of condensed tannins and similarly higher amounts of condensed tannins were quantified in current study with the most efficient DES combinations (Li et al., 2017; Li et al., 2019).

3.3.4 Total flavonoids content

The flavonoid family consists of a larger group of phenolics that also includes anthocyanins, however, they have been evaluated separately in purple corn varieties due to their relatively

higher anthocyanin concentrations (Lao et al., 2017). The highest extraction of flavonoids using DES was observed in DES 9, a formulation containing glycerol and ChCl, and the quantified amount being 36.87 ± 2.06 g catechin equivalent/kg of pericarp (Table 3.3), while the lowest concentration $(24.81 \pm 2.17 \text{ g CE/kg of pericarp})$ was quantified in DES 14, which contained glycerol and citric acid. The mean value of total flavonoids quantified in DES combinations was 30.89 g CE/kg of pericarp. No significant difference was observed among the DES combinations. However, the DES combinations were observed to be less efficient in flavonoid extraction compared to the combination of DI water and ultrasound treatment, wherein 54.97 ± 0.32 g CE/kg of pericarp were quantified. On the other hand, the flavonoid yield was similar to those extracted using a combination of ethanol and water under the same conditions (29.17 \pm 1.71 g CE/kg of pericarp). A plausible reason could be higher solubility of purple corn flavonoids in water-based solvents compared to other organic solvents or DES. According to Pérez-Gregorio et al., (2010), flavonoids are made up of glucosides and aglycones that are highly soluble in water and alcohol, respectively. In an earlier study by Li et al., (2019), double extraction of purple corn pericarp in 2% aqueous formic acid solution yielded a mean of 23.00 mg rutin equivalent of flavonoids/g pericarp. The DES solutions used in this study were found to have extracted great amounts of flavonoids in comparison.

3.3.5 Identification of anthocyanins, phenolics, and flavonoids

As illustrated in Table 3.4, four major anthocyanin compounds were eluted during HPLC analysis of DES extracts at 520 nm against 6 major anthocyanin compounds which were used as standards. The anthocyanin forms detected were cyanidin-3-glucoside (C3G), delphinidin chloride, cyanidin chloride, and peonidin, and these results agreed with an earlier work on purple corn conducted by Chatham & Juvik, (2021), Ferron et al., (2020) and Suriano et al.,

(2021) wherein C3G was reported to be the most dominant anthocyanin form present in the purple corn. Whereas C3G and cyanidin chloride were detected in all the DES combinations, delphinidin was absent in DES 8, 12, 14, and 17, the solvents consisting of malic acid, citric acid, glycerol and ChCl. Peonidin was only identified in DES 4, 10, 12, 17, and 18, most of which were alcohol-based solvents. The highest amount of C3G was present in DES 13 (20.56 ± 0.31 mg C3G equivalent/g of pericarp), whereas the DES 7 had the largest quantity of delphinidin (9.62 ± 0.31 mg/g of pericarp). However, the aqueous ethanolic solvent extracted the greatest amount of delphinidin, the value being 10.14 ± 0.24 mg/g of pericarp), which was different from other solvents, the values ranging between 2.73 ± 0.02 mg/g of pericarp), which was different from other solvents, the values ranging between 2.73 ± 0.02 mg/g of pericarp in DES 10 to 2.82 ± 0.01 mg/g of pericarp in DES 12. It was observed that the extent of recovery of individual anthocyanin forms in the extracts was dependent upon the composition of the solvents.

| | Anthocyanins (mg/g pericarp) | | | | |
|---------------|------------------------------|-------------------|------------------------|------------------|--|
| Solvent | C3G | Delphinidin | Cyanidin chloride | Peonidin | |
| DES 4 | 11.48 ± 1.51 ef | $4.98 \pm 0.19 d$ | $6.72\pm0.22f$ | $2.90\pm0.02a$ | |
| DES 5 | $18.42\pm0.15b$ | $7.37\pm0.22b$ | $3.85\pm0.00h$ | ND | |
| DES 6 | $6.24\pm0.17h$ | $4.83\pm0.02d$ | $3.02\pm0.02i$ | ND | |
| DES 7 | $14.27\pm0.06c$ | $9.62\pm0.31a$ | $9.00 \pm 0.11c$ | ND | |
| DES 8 | $10.21\pm0.34 fg$ | ND | $8.67 \pm 0.06 cd$ | ND | |
| DES 9 | $11.28\pm0.18ef$ | $4.87\pm0.08d$ | $11.91 \pm 0.34a$ | ND | |
| DES 10 | $12.48\pm0.17\text{de}$ | $4.55\pm0.08d$ | $5.45\pm0.09g$ | $2.73\pm0.02c$ | |
| DES 11 | $14.15\pm0.50c$ | $6.23\pm0.36c$ | $5.59\pm0.03g$ | ND | |
| DES 12 | $11.89 \pm 0.28 de$ | ND | $6.71\pm0.15f$ | $2.82\pm0.01b$ | |
| DES 13 | $20.56\pm0.31a$ | $6.77\pm0.19 bc$ | $3.90\pm0.08h$ | ND | |
| DES 14 | $13.50\pm0.28cd$ | ND | $8.76 \pm 0.07 cd$ | ND | |
| DES 15 | $2.84 \pm 0.10 \text{jk}$ | $3.03\pm0.10e$ | $7.89 \pm 0.08 e$ | ND | |
| DES 16 | $4.10\pm0.02ij$ | $3.30\pm0.01e$ | $7.97\pm0.07e$ | ND | |
| DES 17 | $5.21 \pm 0.03 \text{hi}$ | ND | $8.17\pm0.06\text{de}$ | $2.78\pm0.03 bc$ | |
| DES 18 | $5.31 \pm 0.06 hi$ | $4.58\pm0.12d$ | $10.41\pm0.14b$ | $2.73\pm0.04c$ | |
| DES 19 | $6.63 \pm 0.30 h$ | $4.40\pm0.15d$ | $10.9\pm0.16b$ | ND | |
| Water | $9.39\pm0.44g$ | ND | $8.96 \pm 0.30c$ | ND | |
| EtOH | $1.37\pm0.16k$ | $10.14\pm0.24a$ | $8.81\pm0.21c$ | ND | |

Table 3.4. Anthocyanins quantification of pericarp extracts from various DES through HPLC analysis

Different lowercase letters in the same column indicate statistical differences (p < 0.05).

The results from HPLC analysis for phenolics identification and quantification are presented in Table 3.5. Hesperidin and caffeic acid were the phenolic acids detected in most of the solvent combinations. The highest amount of hesperidin eluted was 15.18 ± 1.20 mg/g of pericarp in DES 17, and the greatest amount of caffeic acid was quantified in DES 8 (3.29 ± 0.34 mg/g of pericarp). Relatively smaller amounts of gallic and ferulic acid were observed in only a few DES combinations. Chlorogenic acid was detected only in DES 18, the quantified amount being 5.23 ± 0.10 mg chlorogenic acid/g of the pericarp. These results were in agreement with those reported for colored corn varieties by Harakotr et al., (2014), Hernández et al., (2018), and Zhang et al., (2019), wherein the caffeic and ferulic acids were reported to be the major phenolic compounds. Solvent composition dependent extraction

patterns for individual phenolics were observed.

Table 3.5. Phenolics quantification of pericarp extracts from various DES combinations through HPLC analysis

| | Phenolics (mg/g pericarp) | | | | |
|---------------|---------------------------|--------------------|-------------------|------------------------|----------------|
| | | | | | Chlorogenic |
| Solvent | Caffeic acid | Ferulic acid | Gallic acid | Hesperidin | acid |
| DES 4 | ND | $1.72\pm0.04a$ | ND | ND | ND |
| DES 5 | ND | $1.28\pm0.23b$ | $0.54 \pm 0.06 b$ | ND | ND |
| DES 6 | $1.39 \pm 0.07 cd$ | ND | ND | $3.46 \pm 0.51 cde$ | ND |
| DES 7 | ND | $1.43 \pm 0.21 ab$ | ND | ND | ND |
| DES 8 | $3.29\pm0.34a$ | ND | ND | $3.82\pm0.71 cde$ | ND |
| DES 9 | ND | ND | ND | 3.74 ± 1.63 cde | ND |
| DES 10 | $1.32\pm0.08cd$ | ND | ND | $6.42 \pm 0.1 bc$ | ND |
| DES 11 | ND | ND | ND | ND | ND |
| DES 12 | ND | ND | $0.63\pm0.04a$ | $2.25 \pm 1.97 de$ | ND |
| DES 13 | ND | ND | $0.61\pm0.02a$ | $2.42\pm0.38\text{de}$ | ND |
| DES 14 | ND | ND | ND | $4.45\pm0.69cd$ | ND |
| DES 15 | $1.11\pm0.10d$ | ND | ND | ND | ND |
| DES 16 | $1.21\pm0.07d$ | ND | ND | ND | ND |
| DES 17 | $1.47 \pm 0.46 cd$ | ND | ND | $15.18 \pm 1.20a$ | ND |
| DES 18 | $2.05\pm0.08 bc$ | ND | ND | $6.80 \pm 0.43 bc$ | $5.23\pm0.10a$ |
| DES 19 | $1.51 \pm 0.46 cd$ | ND | ND | $10.16 \pm 1.21 b$ | ND |
| Water | ND | ND | ND | ND | ND |
| EtOH | $2.61 \pm 0.02 ab$ | $0.59\pm0.43c$ | ND | $6.12 \pm 3.23 bcd$ | ND |

Different lowercase letters in the same column indicate statistical differences (p < 0.05).

The results from identification and quantification of flavonoids in various solvent combinations using HPLC are summarized in Table 3.6. From their research on colored corn cultivars, Chatham et al., (2018) and González-Manzano et al., (2008), reported catechin or epicatechin as the most dominant flavonoids present in the corn. In addition, naringin and kaempferol contents ranging from 19.93 ± 0.82 mg/g to 5.09 ± 0.09 mg/g of pericarp, and 1.55 ± 0.06 mg/g to 0.82 ± 0.06 mg/g of pericarp, respectively, were reported. In current study, epicatechin was found to be the most dominant and widely identified flavonoid in

| evaluated solvents. DES 8 (100.16 \pm 2.67 mg/g pericarp) contained the greatest amount of |
|---|
| epicatechin whereas the lowest identified amount ($23.05 \pm 0.92 \text{ mg/g}$ pericarp) was in DES |
| 12, while none were detected in DES 15, 16, and aqueous ethanolic solvents. Naringenin was |
| the second most abundant flavonoid identified, with the quantified values ranging between |
| 19.93 ± 0.82 mg/g (DES 5) to 5.09 ± 0.09 mg/g pericarp (EtOH), respectively. Relatively |
| smaller amounts of kaempferol were also identified, with DES 15 (1.55 ± 0.07 mg/g pericarp) |
| having the highest and DES 12 ($0.82 \pm 0.06 \text{ mg/g}$ pericarp) the lowest quantified values, |
| respectively. |

Table 3.6. Flavonoids quantification of pericarp extracts from various DES through HPLC analysis

| Elevensida (ma/a nericorn) | | | | |
|----------------------------|----------------------------|--------------------|---------------------|--|
| Solvent | Epicatechin | Naringin | Kaempferol | |
| DES 4 | $52.17 \pm 2.97c$ | 5.40 ± 0.20 cd | 1.32 ± 0.03 ab | |
| DES 5 | $65.13 \pm 3.96b$ | $19.93 \pm 0.82a$ | 1.12 ± 0.01 abc | |
| DES 6 | $102.73 \pm 1.66a$ | 5.67 ± 0.08 cd | 1.14 ± 0.02 abc | |
| DES 7 | 30.12 ± 2.74 fg | ND | $1.07 \pm 0.02 bc$ | |
| DES 8 | $100.16 \pm 2.67a$ | ND | $0.93 \pm 0.01 bc$ | |
| DES 9 | 25.54 ± 0.60 fg | ND | ND | |
| DES 10 | $29.30 \pm 2.27 \text{fg}$ | ND | $0.86 \pm 0.05 bc$ | |
| DES 11 | 33.76 ± 0.30 ef | ND | 1.21 ± 0.02 abc | |
| DES 12 | 23.05 ± 0.92 g | ND | $0.82 \pm 0.06c$ | |
| DES 13 | $32.35 \pm 0.65 \text{ef}$ | ND | 1.12 ± 0.08 abc | |
| DES 14 | 40.47 ± 2.90 de | ND | $1.05 \pm 0.07 bc$ | |
| DES 15 | ND | 6.08 ± 0.16 bc | $1.55 \pm 0.06a$ | |
| DES 16 | ND | $6.47\pm0.08b$ | 1.30 ± 0.51 ab | |
| DES 17 | $52.32 \pm 4.68c$ | 5.95 ± 0.01 bc | ND | |
| DES 18 | $43.32 \pm 1.27 d$ | 5.37 ± 0.03 cd | $0.93 \pm 0.02 bc$ | |
| DES 19 | 40.63 ± 0.95 de | 5.62 ± 0.09 cd | ND | |
| Water | $8.52\pm0.40h$ | ND | ND | |
| EtOH | ND | $5.09\pm0.09d$ | ND | |

Different lowercase letters in the same column indicate statistical differences (p < 0.05).

In general, solvent dependent extraction of individual anthocyanins, phenolics and flavonoids forms were observed, implying a possibility of utilizing specifically constituted solvent compositions if individual phytochemical recovery is desired. However, an in-depth enquiry into the underlying chemical interactions was beyond the scope of this work.

3.3.6 Antioxidant activity of extracts

Polyphenolic compounds possess significant antioxidant activities, and the presence of very high concentrations of these compounds in purple corn pericarp warranted the evaluation of antioxidant activities of extracts. Among various phytochemicals, anthocyanins have been identified to have significant antioxidant activities (Velásquez et al., 2021). Due to their inherent antioxidant activities, phytochemicals have been reported to positively contribute towards a food products' texture, flavor, and color during storage (Gulcin, 2020). In order to evaluate the antioxidant activities of the extracts, DPPH radical scavenging activity, ABTS scavenging activity, and CUPRAC assays were performed, and promising results were obtained, as presented in the Table 3.3. According to Gulcin, (2020), it is not reliable to conclude the antioxidant potential of a biological specimen based on only one test assay. Such assays are generally based either on hydrogen atom transfer (HAT) or single electron transfer (SET) method. The ABTS assay entails both these mechanisms, whereas DPPH and CUPRAC are based on the SET mechanism (Xiao et al., 2020).

The extract from DES 18 (82.7 \pm 0.7 mg TE/g of pericarp) demonstrated the highest antioxidant activity in scavenging DPPH free radicals, followed by DES 19, DES 7, and DES 17, the latter falling in the same statistical group with antioxidant activities of 81.51 \pm 0.62 mg TE/g, 80.45 \pm 0.46 mg TE/g, and 80.2 \pm 0.49 mg TE/g of pericarp, respectively (Table 3.3). The lowest DPPH scavenging activity was observed in DES 12 with a Trolox equivalent of 60.85 ± 0.62 mg/g of pericarp. The DPPH activity observed in water-based and ethanol/water-based solvents was lower compared to their DES counter parts. The overall DPPH radical scavenging ability of purple corn pericarp was found to be similar to those reported in studies on colored corn by Deng et al., (2015) and Polthum et al., (2014). In case of ABTS scavenging activity assay, DES 4 showed the highest antioxidant activity $(34.96 \pm$ 0.07 g TE/g pericarp), however, the activity of water and ethanol/water based solvents was similar, and so was the case for DES 9, 10, 11, 18, and 19. The range of antioxidant activity was not great among the solvent combinations; with the highest and lowest activities ranging between 34.96 mg/g and 30.62 mg TE/g of pericarp, respectively. The CUPRAC assay is applicable to both lipophilic and hydrophilic antioxidants, and there are no reactions involving simple sugars and citric acid constituents (Gulcin, 2020). The greatest antioxidant activity in the CUPRAC assay was observed in DES 13 ($392.27 \pm 21.8 \text{ mg TE/g of pericarp}$) followed by DES 8 (271.73 \pm 11.02 mg TE/g of pericarp) while the lowest activities were observed in DES 4 and DES 14 (140.38 \pm 8.82 and 140.38 \pm 4.26 mg TE/g pericarp, respectively). As was the case in DPPH assay, the water and aqueous ethanolic solvents demonstrated lower CUPRAC activities compared to the DES-based solvents. In general, the purple corn pericarp extracts recovered using DES combinations demonstrated significant antioxidant activities.

3.4 Conclusions

In this study, different DES combinations were prepared, characterized, and used in conjunction with ultrasound-assisted extraction technique for extracting polyphenolic compounds from purple corn pericarp. A DI water (100%) and an aqueous ethanolic (50:50) solvent combination was used for comparison purposes. Generally regarded as green

solvents, the DES combinations had relatively higher polarities and demonstrated variable pH, but they were observed to be in acidic ranges that are amenable for polyphenol extraction. At a temperature of 50 $^{\circ}$ C, they displayed lower viscosities, making them suitable for polyphenolic extractions. The hydrogen bond formation in DES combinations were confirmed using FT-IR analysis. The DES combinations, in conjunction with the ultrasoundassisted extraction technique, were able to extract significant amounts of polyphenolic compounds from purple corn pericarp in a relatively lower extraction time of 10 min. The highest amounts of total monomeric anthocyanins, condensed tannins and total flavonoids quantified were 27.41 mg C3G/g (DES 11), 249.33 mg EE/g (DES 7), and 35.39 mg CE/g pericarp (DI water), respectively. During HPLC quantification, various individual forms of anthocyanins, tannins, and flavonoids including C3G, cyanidin chloride, delphinidin, peonidin, caffeic acid, ferulic acid, gallic acid, hesperidin, chlorogenic acid, epicatechin, naringin, and kaempferol were detected. Overall, a solvent dependent extraction of individual anthocyanins, phenolics and flavonoids forms were observed. The polyphenolic extracts demonstrated significant antioxidant activities. In conclusion, DES combinations in conjunction with ultrasound-assisted technique can be used to efficiently extract polyphenols from purple corn pericarp. However, further efforts are required for extraction optimization, identification of methodologies for efficient separation of individual phytochemicals, and in exploring the reuse potential of DESs. Also warranted are extensive toxicological studies of these extracts before their utilization for food applications.
References:

Abbott, A. P. (2004). Application of Hole Theory to the Viscosity of Ionic and Molecular Liquids. *ChemPhysChem*, 5(8), 1242–1246. https://doi.org/10.1002/CPHC.200400190 Abbott, A. P., Boothby, D., Capper, G., Davies, D. L., & Rash d, R. K. (2004). Deep Eutectic Solvents formed between choline chloride and carboxylic acids: Versatile alternatives to ionic liquids. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, *126*(29), 9142–9147. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja048266j

Abbott, A. P., Capper, G., Davies, D. L., Munro, H. L., Rasheed, R. K., & Tambyrajah, V. (2001). Preparation of novel, moisture-stable, lewis-acidic ionic liquids containing quaternary ammonium salts with functional side chains. *Chemical Communications*, *1*(19), 2010–2011. https://doi.org/10.1039/b106357j

Alam, M. A., Muhammad, G., Khan, M. N., Mofijur, M., Lv, Y., Xiong, W., & Xu, J. (2021). Choline chloride-based deep eutectic solvents as green extractants for the isolation of phenolic compounds from biomass. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *309*, 127445. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2021.127445

Ali, M. C., Chen, J., Zhang, H., Li, Z., Zhao, L., & Qiu, H. (2019). Effective extraction of flavonoids from Lycium barbarum L. fruits by deep eutectic solvents-based ultrasound-assisted extraction. *Talanta*, 203, 16–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TALANTA.2019.05.012 AlOmar, M. K., Hayyan, M., Alsaadi, M. A., Akib, S., Hayyan, A., & Hashim, M. A. (2016). Glycerol-based deep eutectic solvents: Physical properties. *Journal of Molecular Liquids*, 215, 98-103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molliq.2015.11.032

Alrugaibah, M., Yagiz, Y., & Gu, L. (2021). Use natural deep eutectic solvents as efficient green reagents to extract procyanidins and anthocyanins from cranberry pomace and predictive modeling by RSM and artificial neural networking. *Separation and Purification Technology*, 255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seppur.2020.117720

Bajkacz, S., & Adamek, J. (2018). Development of a Method Based on Natural Deep Eutectic Solvents for Extraction of Flavonoids from Food Samples. *Food Analytical Methods*, *11*(5), 1330–1344. https://doi.org/10.1007/S12161-017-1118-5

Barba, F. J., Rajha, H. N., Debs, E., Abi-Khattar, A. M., Khabbaz, S., Dar, B. N., Simirgiotis, M. J., Castagnini, J. M., Maroun, R. G., & Louka, N. (2022). Optimization of Polyphenols' Recovery from Purple Corn Cobs Assisted by Infrared Technology and Use of Extracted Anthocyanins as a Natural Colorant in Pickled Turnip. *Molecules*, *27*(16). https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules27165222

Boateng, I. D., Mustapha, A., Daubert, C. R., Kuehnel, L., Kumar, R., Flint-Garcia, S., Agliata, J., Wan, C., & Somavat, P. (2023). Novel Two-pot Microwave Extraction of Purple Corn Pericarp's Phenolics and Evaluation of the Polyphenol-rich Extract's Product Quality, Bioactivities, and Structural Properties. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11947-023-03072-7

Boateng, I. D., & Yang, X. M. (2021a). Do non-thermal pretreatments followed by intermediate-wave infrared drying affect toxicity, allergenicity, bioactives, functional groups, and flavor components of Ginkgo biloba seed? A case study. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2021.113421

Boateng, I. D., Yang, X. M., Tahany, A. A. A., Li, Y. Y., & Yolandani. (2021). Drying methods affect organoleptic and physicochemical properties of rehydrated ginkgo seed slices. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 160. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2020.113166</u>

Castro, V. I., Mano, F., Reis, R. L., Paiva, A., & Duarte, A. R. C. (2018). Synthesis and physical and thermodynamic properties of lactic acid and malic acid-based natural deep eutectic solvents. *Journal of Chemical & Engineering Data*, 63(7), 2548-2556.

Polthum, P., & Ahromrit, A. (2014). GABA content and Antioxidant activity of Thai waxy corn seeds germinated by hypoxia method. *Songklanakarin Journal of Science & Technology*, *36*(3).

Chatham, L. A., & Juvik, J. A. (2021). Linking anthocyanin diversity, hue, and genetics in purple corn. *G3: Genes, Genomes, Genetics*, 11(2). https://doi.org/10.1093/g3journal/jkaa062 Chatham, L. A., West, L., Berhow, M. A., Vermillion, K. E., & Juvik, J. A. (2018). Unique Flavanol-Anthocyanin Condensed Forms in Apache Red Purple Corn. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 66(41), 10844–10854.

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.8b04723

Chemat, F., Abert Vian, M., Ravi, H. K., Khadhraoui, B., Hilali, S., Perino, S., & Fabiano Tixier, A. S. (2019). Review of alternative solvents for green extraction of food and natural products: Panorama, principles, applications and prospects. *Molecules*, 24(16), 3007. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules24163007

Chen, C., Somavat, P., Singh, V., & de Mejia, E. G. (2017). Chemical characterization of proanthocyanidins in purple, blue, and red maize coproducts from different milling processes and their anti-inflammatory properties, *Industrial Crops and Products* 109:464-475. Choi, Y. H., & Verpoorte, R. (2019). Green solvents for the extraction of bioactive compounds from natural products using ionic liquids and deep eutectic solvents. *Current Opinion in Food Science* 26, 87–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cofs.2019.04.003 Colombo, R., Ferron, L., & Papetti, A. (2021). Colored Corn: An Up-Date on Metabolites Extraction, Health Implication, and Potential Use. *Molecules* 26(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/MOLECULES26010199

Craveiro, R., Aroso, I., Flammia, V., Carvalho, T., Viciosa, M. T., Dionísio, M., Barreiros, S., Reis, R. L., Duarte, A. R. C., & Paiva, A. (2016). Properties and thermal behavior of natural deep eutectic solvents. *Journal of Molecular Liquids*, *215*, 534–540. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLLIQ.2016.01.038

Dai, Y., Rozema, E., Verpoorte, R., & Choi, Y. H. (2016). Application of natural deep eutectic solvents to the extraction of anthocyanins from Catharanthus roseus with high extractability and stability replacing conventional organic solvents. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 1434, 50–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CHROMA.2016.01.037

Deng, B., Yang, K., Zhang, Y., & Li, Z. (2015). The effects of temperature on the germination behavior of white, yellow, red and purple maize plant seeds. *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum*, 37(8), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11738-015-1937-1

Deng, J., Yang, H., Capanoglu, E., Cao, H., & Xiao, J. (2018). Technological aspects and stability of polyphenols. *Polyphenols: Properties, Recovery, and Applications*, 295–323. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-813572-3.00009-9

Dzah, C. S., Duan, Y., Zhang, H., Wen, C., Zhang, J., Chen, G., & Ma, H. (2020). The effects of ultrasound assisted extraction on yield, antioxidant, anticancer and antimicrobial activity of polyphenol extracts: A review. *Food Bioscience* 35. Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fbio.2020.100547

El Achkar, T., Greige-Gerges, H., & Fourmentin, S. (2021). Basics and properties of deep eutectic solvents: a review. In *Environmental Chemistry Letters* 19(4), 3397–3408. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10311-021-01225-8

Ferron, L., Colombo, R., Mannucci, B., & Papetti, A. (2020). A New Italian Purple Corn Variety (Moradyn) Byproduct Extract: Antiglycative and Hypoglycemic In Vitro Activities and Preliminary Bioaccessibility Studies. *Molecules*, 25(8), 1958. https://doi.org/10.3390/MOLECULES25081958

Fu, X., Wang, D., Belwal, T., Xie, J., Xu, Y., Li, L., Zou, L., Zhang, L., & Luo, Z. (2021). Natural deep eutectic solvent enhanced pulse-ultrasonication assisted extraction as a multistability protective and efficient green strategy to extract anthocyanin from blueberry pomace. *LWT*, 144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2021.111220

Gajardo-Parra, N. F., Lubben, M. J., Winnert, J. M., Leiva, Á., Brennecke, J. F., & Canales, R. I. (2019). Physicochemical properties of choline chloride-based deep eutectic solvents and excess properties of their pseudo-binary mixtures with 1-butanol. *The Journal of Chemical Thermodynamics*, *133*, 272–284. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCT.2019.02.010

García-Lara, S., & Serna-Saldivar, S. O. (2018). Corn History and Culture. In *Corn: Chemistry and Technology, Third Edition* (pp. 1–18). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-811971-6.00001-2

González-Manzano, S., Pérez-Alonso, J. J., Salinas-Moreno, Y., Mateus, N., Silva, A. M. S., de Freitas, V., & Santos-Buelga, C. (2008). Flavanol–anthocyanin pigments in corn: NMR characterisation and presence in different purple corn varieties. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, *21*(7), 521–526. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JFCA.2008.05.009

Greener extraction of anthocyanins and antioxidant activity from blackberry (Rubus spp) using natural deep eutectic solvents. (2022). *LWT*, *158*, 113184.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.LWT.2022.113184

Gulcin, İ. (2020). Antioxidants and antioxidant methods: an updated overview. *Archives of Toxicology 2020 94:3*, *94*(3), 651–715. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00204-020-02689-3 Hammond, O. S., Bowron, D. T., Jackson, A. J., Arnold, T., Sanchez-Fernandez, A., Tsapatsaris, N., Garcia Sakai, V., & Edler, K. J. (2017). Resilience of Malic Acid Natural Deep Eutectic Solvent Nanostructure to Solidification and Hydration. *Journal of Physical Chemistry B*, *121*(31), 7473–7483. https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.JPCB.7B05454 Harakotr, B., Suriharn, B., Tangwongchai, R., Scott, M. P., & Lertrat, K. (2014).

Anthocyanin, phenolics and antioxidant activity changes in purple waxy corn as affected by traditional cooking. *Food Chemistry*, *164*, 510–517.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2014.05.069

Hernández, M., Ventura, J., Castro, C., Boone, V., Rojas, R., Ascacio-Valdés, J., & Martínez-Ávila, G. (2018). UPLC-ESI-QTOF-MS2-Based Identification and Antioxidant Activity Assessment of Phenolic Compounds from Red Corn Cob (Zea mays L.). *Molecules*, 23(6), 1425. https://doi.org/10.3390/MOLECULES23061425

Huang, H., Zhu, Y., Fu, X., Zou, Y., Li, Q., & Luo, Z. (2022). Integrated natural deep eutectic solvent and pulse-ultrasonication for efficient extraction of crocins from gardenia fruits (Gardenia jasminoides Ellis) and its bioactivities. *Food Chemistry*, *380*, 132216. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2022.132216

Sigma Aldrich (2023) *IR Spectrum Table*. Retrieved May 19, 2023, from https://www.sigmaaldrich.com/US/en/technical-documents/technical-article/analytical-chemistry/photometry-and-reflectometry/ir-spectrum-table

Jeong, K. M., Ko, J., Zhao, J., Jin, Y., Yoo, D. E., Han, S. Y., & Lee, J. (2017). Multifunctioning deep eutectic solvents as extraction and storage media for bioactive natural products that are readily applicable to cosmetic products. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *151*, 87–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.03.038

Jeong, K. M., Zhao, J., Jin, Y., Heo, S. R., Han, S. Y., Yoo, D. E., & Lee, J. (2015). Highly efficient extraction of anthocyanins from grape skin using deep eutectic solvents as green and tunable media. *Archives of Pharmacal Research*, *38*(12), 2143–2152.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s12272-015-0678-4

Jurić, T., Uka, D., Holló, B. B., Jović, B., Kordić, B., & Popović, B. M. (2021). Comprehensive physicochemical evaluation of choline chloride-based natural deep eutectic solvents. *Journal of Molecular Liquids*, *343*, 116968.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLLIQ.2021.116968

Kandil, A., Li, J., Vasanthan, T., & Bressler, D. C. (2012). Phenolic acids in some cereal grains and their inhibitory effect on starch liquefaction and saccharification. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *60*(34), 8444–8449. https://doi.org/10.1021/JF3000482 Kumar, K., Srivastav, S., & Sharanagat, V. S. (2021). Ultrasound assisted extraction (UAE) of bioactive compounds from fruit and vegetable processing by-products: A review. *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, 70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ultsonch.2020.105325

Lao, F., & Giusti, M. M. (2016). Quantification of Purple Corn (Zea mays L.) Anthocyanins Using Spectrophotometric and HPLC Approaches: Method Comparison and Correlation. *Food Analytical Methods*, 9(5), 1367–1380. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12161-015-0318-0 Lao, F., Sigurdson, G. T., & Giusti, M. M. (2017). Health Benefits of Purple Corn (Zea mays L.) Phenolic Compounds. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, 16(2),

234–246. https://doi.org/10.1111/1541-4337.12249

Lee, J., Durst, R. W., Wrolstad, R. E., (2005). Determination of total monomeric anthocyanin pigment content of fruit juices, beverages, natural colorants, and wines by the pH differential method: Collaborative study. *Journal of AOAC international*, 88, 1269–1278. https://doi.org/10.1093/jaoac/88.5.1269

Li, Q., Singh, V., de Mejia, E. G., & Somavat, P. (2019). Effect of sulfur dioxide and lactic acid in steeping water on the extraction of anthocyanins and bioactives from purple corn pericarp. *Cereal Chemistry*, *96*(3), 575–589. https://doi.org/10.1002/CCHE.10157

Li, Q., Somavat, P., Singh, V., Chatham, L., & Gonzalez de Mejia, E. (2017). A comparative study of anthocyanin distribution in purple and blue corn coproducts from three conventional fractionation processes. *Food Chemistry*, 231, 332–339.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2017.03.146

Mir-Cerdà, A., Nuñez, O., Granados, M., Sentellas, S., & Saurina, J. (2023). An overview of the extraction and characterization of bioactive phenolic compounds from agri-food waste within the framework of circular bioeconomy. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, *161*, 116994. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TRAC.2023.116994

Nam, M. W., Zhao, J., Lee, M. S., Jeong, J. H., & Lee, J. (2015). Enhanced extraction of bioactive natural products using tailor-made deep eutectic solvents: Application to flavonoid extraction from Flos sophorae. *Green Chemistry*, *17*(3), 1718–1727. https://doi.org/10.1039/c4gc01556h

Oh, Y. S., Lee, J. H., Yoon, S. H., Oh, C. H., Choi, D. S., Choe, E., & Jung, M. Y. (2008). Characterization and Quantification of Anthocyanins in Grape Juices Obtained from the Grapes Cultivated in Korea by HPLC/DAD, HPLC/MS, and HPLC/MS/MS. *Journal of Food Science*, *73*(5), C378–C389. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1750-3841.2008.00756.X

Pal, C. B. T., & Jadeja, G. C. (2020). Microwave-assisted extraction for recovery of polyphenolic antioxidants from ripe mango (Mangifera indica L.) peel using lactic acid/sodium acetate deep eutectic mixtures. *Food Science and Technology International*, 26(1), 78–92. https://doi.org/10.1177/1082013219870010

Peng, K., Jin, L., Niu, Y. D., Huang, Q., McAllister, T. A., Yang, H. E., Denise, H., Xu, Z., Acharya, S., Wang, S., & Wang, Y. (2018). Condensed tannins affect bacterial and fungal microbiomes and mycotoxin production during ensiling and upon aerobic exposure. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 84(5), 2274–2291. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02274-17
Pérez-Gregorio, R. M., García-Falcón, M. S., Simal-Gándara, J., Rodrigues, A. S., & Almeida, D. P. F. (2010). Identification and quantification of flavonoids in traditional cultivars of red and white onions at harvest. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 23(6), 592–598. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JFCA.2009.08.013

Rausch, K. D., Pruiett, L. E., Wang, P., Xu, L., Belyea, R. L., & Tumbleson, M. E. (2009). Laboratory measurement of yield and composition of dry-milled corn fractions using a shortened, single-stage tempering procedure. *Cereal Chemistry*, *86*(4), 434–438. https://doi.org/10.1094/CCHEM-86-4-0434

Silva, D. T. da, Pauletto, R., Cavalheiro, S. da S., Bochi, V. C., Rodrigues, E., Weber, J.,
Silva, C. de B. da, Morisso, F. D. P., Barcia, M. T., & Emanuelli, T. (2020). Natural deep eutectic solvents as a biocompatible tool for the extraction of blueberry anthocyanins. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfca.2020.103470
Singh, S. K., & Savoy, A. W. (2020). Ionic liquids synthesis and applications: An overview. *Journal of Molecular Liquids*, 297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molliq.2019.112038
Ślusarczyk, K., Flejszar, M., & Chmielarz, P. (2023). From non-conventional ideas to multifunctional solvents inspired by green chemistry: fancy or sustainable macromolecular chemistry? *Green Chemistry*, 25(2), 522–542. https://doi.org/10.1039/D2GC03558H
Smith, B. C. (2018). *Infrared spectral interpretation: a systematic approach*. CRC press. Somavat, P. (2017). *Evaluation and modification of processing techniques for recovery of anthocyanins from colored corn*. Retrieved on June 30, 2023 from https://hdl.handle.net/2142/97334

Somavat, P., Li, Q., Kumar, D., de Mejia, E. G., Liu, W., Rausch, K. D., Juvik, J. A., Tumbleson, M. E., & Singh, V. (2017). A new lab scale corn dry milling protocol generating commercial sized flaking grits for quick estimation of coproduct yield and composition. *Industrial Crops and Products*, *109*, 92–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2017.08.013 Suriano, S., Balconi, C., Valoti, P., & Redaelli, R. (2021). Comparison of total polyphenols, profile anthocyanins, color analysis, carotenoids and tocols in pigmented maize. *LWT*, *144*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2021.111257

Tayal, M., Somavat, P., Rodriguez, I., Thomas, T., Christoffersen, B., & Kariyat, R. (2020). Polyphenol-Rich Purple Corn Pericarp Extract Adversely Impacts Herbivore Growth and Development. *Insects 2020*, *11*(2), 98. https://doi.org/10.3390/INSECTS11020098 Velásquez, P., Bustos, D., Montenegro, G., & Giordano, A. (2021). Ultrasound-assisted extraction of anthocyanins using natural deep eutectic solvents and their incorporation in edible films. *Molecules*, *26*(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules26040984

Wang, H., Liu, S., Zhao, Y., Wang, J., & Yu, Z. (2019). Insights into the Hydrogen Bond Interactions in Deep Eutectic Solvents Composed of Choline Chloride and Polyols. *ACS Sustainable Chemistry and Engineering*, 7(8), 7760–7767.

https://doi.org/10.1021/acssuschemeng.8b06676

Xiao, F., Xu, T., Lu, B., & Liu, R. (2020). Guidelines for antioxidant assays for food components. *Food Frontiers*, *1*(1), 60–69. https://doi.org/10.1002/FFT2.10 Xu, L. H., Wu, D., Zhong, M., Wang, G. B., Chen, X. Y., & Zhang, Z. J. (2021). The construction of a new deep eutectic solvents system based on choline chloride and butanediol: The influence of the hydroxyl position of butanediol on the structure of deep eutectic solvent and supercapacitor performance. *Journal of Power Sources*, 490. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2020.229365

Xu, M., Ran, L., Chen, N., Fan, X., Ren, D., & Yi, L. (2019). Polarity-dependent extraction of flavonoids from citrus peel waste using a tailor-made deep eutectic solvent. *Food Chemistry*, 297, 124970. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2019.124970

Yue, J., Zhu, Z., Yi, J., Li, H., Chen, B., & Rao, J. (2022). One-step extraction of oat protein by choline chloride-alcohol deep eutectic solvents: Role of chain length of dihydric alcohol. *Food Chemistry*, *376*, 131943. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2021.131943 Zannou, O., Koca, I., Aldawoud, T. M. S., & Galanakis, C. M. (2020). Recovery and stabilization of anthocyanins and phenolic antioxidants of roselle (Hibiscus sabdariffa L.) with Hydrophilic Deep Eutectic Solvents. *Molecules*, *25*(16).

https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25163715

Zhang, Q., Gonzalez de Mejia, E., Luna-Vital, D., Tao, T., Chandrasekaran, S., Chatham, L., Juvik, J., Singh, V., & Kumar, D. (2019). Relationship of phenolic composition of selected purple maize (Zea mays L.) genotypes with their anti-inflammatory, anti-adipogenic and anti-diabetic potential. *Food Chemistry*, 289, 739–750.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2019.03.116

Chapter 4

Conclusions and future recommendations

4.1 Conclusions

Corn processing industry in the United States, especially the corn dry grind industry, which processes ~35% of the harvested corn suffers from a lack of value-added processing byproducts. Reduced consumption of gasoline due to the adoption of electric vehicles will progressively decrease corn-ethanol demand for blending. Colored corn varieties contain significant amounts of value-added polyphenolic compounds and may supplement the lower economic value of yellow dent corn. This research work was focused on evaluating the valorization potential of conventionally bred and Missouri grown pigmented corn varieties. Fourteen experimental varieties were dry milled and polyphenolic contents of the kernels and dry milled coproducts were evaluated and compared against a commercially available purple corn variety. Overall aim was to identify polyphenol-rich experimental varieties with desired milling characteristics for subsequent breeding and adaptation cycles. Furthermore, we wanted to test whether environmentally friendly deep eutectic solvents (DES) in conjunction with ultrasound-assisted extraction technique could be used to efficiently extract phytochemicals from purple corn pericarp. The main conclusions of our research are as follows:

 The evaluated colored corn varieties had a lower average starch content compared to the conventional yellow dent corn, while their mean protein content was higher. Most of the colored varieties had a softer endosperm composition, resulting in lower yields of large grits. Among most of the varieties analyzed, the highest concentrations of polyphenols were identified in corn pericarp, a low-value cellulosic coproduct of the

102

processing industry. Different anthocyanin, phenol, and flavonoid forms were identified through HPLC analysis, and significant antioxidant activities of colored corn phytochemicals were observed. Midwestern grown and conventionally bred colored corn varieties have an excellent potential for the valorization of value-added phytochemicals with diverse agro-industrial applications.

2. Different deep eutectic solvent (DES) combinations were formulated, characterized, and used in conjunction with ultrasound-assisted extraction technique to extract polyphenolic compounds from purple corn pericarp. The DES combinations exhibited higher polarities and acidic pH ranges, implying their suitability for polyphenol extraction. These formulations displayed lower viscosities at 50 °C, a desirable characteristic for extraction processes. The DES combinations, along with ultrasound-assisted extraction, extracted significant amounts of polyphenolic compounds from purple corn pericarp within a short extraction time. The extracted compounds contained diverse forms of individual anthocyanins, tannins, and flavonoids, which were quantified during HPLC analysis. A solvent dependent extraction of various individual phytochemicals was observed. The recovered polyphenolic extracts demonstrated significant antioxidant activities in three assays.

4.2 Future recommendations

Based on our inferences, the following are some of the suggestions for future research in this area:

 The breeding and adaptation of polyphenol-rich colored corn varieties should be continued with an aim of developing higher yielding and polyphenol-rich colored corn varieties adapted to the midwestern climatic conditions.

- 2. Significant pigmentation was observed in cellulosic plant parts such as cobs and tassels, they must also be evaluated for their valorization potential.
- 3. Investigation of health promoting properties of colored corn phytochemicals *in-vitro* and *in-vivo* will help with their utilization as functional food ingredients.
- 4. Further optimization of solvent composition for the efficient extraction of individual phytochemical forms is required, and so is the exploration of DES reuse potential.
- 5. Lastly, extensive toxicological studies of DES-based polyphenolic extracts are warranted before their use for food applications.